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Part |

Iltem 1. Business

(a) General Development of Business
Overview

AngioDynamics, Inc. (together with its subsidiariésngioDynamics," the "Company," "we," "our" orst) designs, manufactures and sells
a wide range of medical, surgical and diagnostidads used by professional healthcare providersdscular access, for the treatment of
peripheral vascular disease and for use in oncaoglysurgical settings. Our devices are generaty in minimally invasive, image-guided
procedures.

Available Information

Our corporate headquarters is located at 14 Plaiza,atham, New York 12110. Our phone numbebiE3) 795-1400. Our website is
www.angiodynamics.com

We make available, free-of-charge through our websur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly respon Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filediorished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Secarifiechange Act of 1934, as amended, as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electribyiitle or furnish such materials to the Secustend Exchange Commission, or SEC. In
addition, our website includes, among other thichsyrters of the various committees of our BoarBioéctors and our code of business conduct
and ethics applicable to all employees, officeis dinectors. Copies of these documents may berwdree of charge from our website. Any
stockholder also may obtain copies of these doctsnéee of charge, by sending a request in writtngur investor relations firm: EVC Group,
60 East 42nd Street, Suite 936, New York, NY 10¥g&ntion: Doug Sherk. Information on our websiteconnected to our website is not
incorporated by reference into this annual reporEorm 10-K.

History

AngioDynamics was founded in 1988 and we completednitial public offering in 2004, raising netqureeds of approximately $21.7
million at an offering price of $11.00 per share2D06 we completed a follow-on offering, raisireg proceeds of approximately $61.9 million at
a public offering price of $24.07 per share.

(b) Narrative Description of Business

Products
Our product offerings fall within three product gpings: Peripheral Vascular, Vascular Access ancb@gy/Surgery.

Peripheral Vascular Products
Our Peripheral Vascular products include Fluid Mgmaent, Venous, Thrombus Management, Angiogragkigvell as other products.

Fluid Management Produc

Our Fluid Management product offering includesM#MIC ®Fluid Management portfolio. Since 1969, the NAMI@guct line has been
the leader in providing clinicians high quality pg@dable devices that help in the diagnosis ardintrent of cardiovascular and peripheral vasc
disease. The NAMIC product line includes an extemsiffering of manifolds, contrast management systeclosed fluid systems, guidewires,
disposable transducers and interventional accessdrhese devices are utilized together and allmicians to aspirate or inject contrast, saline,
remove waste and monitor invasive blood presshresigthout the procedure.

We manufacture "convenience kits" for customerdgchvincorporate the NAMIC devices they need foiirtieocedures.

» NAMIC Squeeze Contrast Control®— Designed to help labs minimize the amount of iemttwasted, the Squeeze Contrast
Controller contrast management system containotveeway check valves that prevent cross contarsimati the contrast source,
flexible chamber and unique green ball fluid lewglicator.

»  Perceptor® Manifold and Compensat8Manifold — Provides clinicians a manifold with an integralnisducer and allows for single
operator re-zeroing during the procedure, in teelstfield. The Perceptor Manifold must remairhaart level during pressure
readings, while the Compensator utilizes a compargshine, which allows the user to move the maldifduring pressure readings.
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»  Protection Statior® and Protection StatiofiPlus— Provides clinicians an OSHA-compliant closed eysthat helps minimize
exposure to blood borne pathogens and simplifiesgsand clean up during a procedure.

e Saver-7™ and Acceler-8™ Angiographic Control Syeslg NEW 7 mL and 8 mL Angiographic Control syringkattprovide
clinicians a small barrel designed to require fesse during injection of contrast through a 4Fheaer and to provide smoother
aspiration and injection.

Venous Products

Our venous products focus on the treatment of @ae€iweins and consist of our VenaCure EVlAser system and Sotrade€olAn
estimated one-half of all Americans older than a@auffer from varicose veins, making the marketfie treatment large and growing.

Our VenaCure EVLT laser system products are useddovascular laser procedures to treat superfier@us disease (varicose veins).
Superficial venous disease is a malfunction of anmore valves in the leg veins whereby blood reftior does not return to the heart. These
procedures are a less invasive alternative to steippping for the treatment of this condition. Veimipping is a lengthy, painful and traumatic
surgical procedure that involves significant pdtieeovery time. In contrast, venous laser treatrizean outpatient procedure that generally
allows the patient to quickly return to normal aittés with minimal post-operative pain.

With our VenaCure EVLT laser system, laser enesgysied to stop the reflux by ablating, or collagsind destroying, the affected vein.
The body subsequently re-routes the blood to dibalthy veins. Our products are sold as a systatrirtbludes diode laser hardware with our
family of disposable laser fiber components, tragrand marketing materials. The disposable compgsrieithe system include a laser fiber sy
featuring our NeverTouchgold-tip technology, an access sheath, access anmgseedles. The procedure kits come in a vanfegngths and
configurations to accommodate varied patient ane®n®ur VenaCure EVLT 1470 nanometer wavelengtérlallows customers to more
efficiently heat the vein wall using lower powettseys thereby reducing the risk of collateral dgma

Sotradecof (sodium tetradecyl sulfate injection) is an FDA aped sclerosing drug that we distribute througjiodal agreement with the
manufacturer. Sotradecbhas been shown to be an effective sangical treatment of small, uncomplicated varicesias of the lower extremiti
that show simple dilation with competent valves.

Thrombus Management

Our Thrombus Management product offerings inclugieAngioVac Venous Drainage Cannula and our thrdgtiooproducts.

AngioVac -n fiscal 2013, we released our AngioVac venougndige system which includes a Venous Drainage Garamd
Cardiopulmonary Bypass Circuit. The cannula isdatid for use as a venous drainage cannula amerfmval of fresh, soft thrombi or emboli
during extracorporeal bypass for up to six houte Fardiopulmonary bypass circuit is indicateduse in procedures requiring extracorporeal
circulatory support for periods of up to six hours.

The AngioVac devices are for use with other manufae’s off-the-shelf pump, filter, and reinfusioannula, to facilitate venous drainage
as part of a extracorporeal bypass procedure féo 8px hours.

The AngioVac venous drainage cannula is a 22Fregiforced cannula designed with a balloon actyarpgandable funnel shaped distal
tip. The proprietary funnel shaped tip enhancesusmrainage flow when the balloon is inflated vprés clogging of the cannula with commo
encountered undesirable intravascular material facititates en bloc removal of such extraneousenmalt

Thrombolytic Products

Thrombolytic catheters are used to deliver thromtimbhgents, which are drugs that dissolve bloatsah hemodialysis access grafts,
arteries, veins and surgical bypass grafts. Owntholytic catheters include:

« Pulse*Spray® Infusion Catheters and Uni*Fuse thrombolytic caémstOur Pulse*Spray and Uni*Fuse catheters improvedtiizery of
thrombolytic agents by providing a controlled, feftd and uniform dispersion. Patented slits onitifigsion catheter operate like tiny
valves for an even distribution of thrombolytic ate These slits reduce the amount of thromboggients required and the time
necessary for these procedures, resulting in ee#tgs and improved patient safety.




e SpeedLyset. Our SpeedLyser thrombolytic catheter is usecetiver thrombolytic agents into obstructed dialygiafts. This catheter
featuresPulse*Sprayslit technology that simplifies catheter insertaomd drug delivery.

Angiographic Products and Accessor

Angiographic products and accessories are usedgipdripheral vascular interventional proceduré®st products permit interventional
physicians to reach targeted locations within tagcular system to deliver contrast media for vigatibn purposes and therapeutic agents and
devices, such as percutaneous transluminal angtyleTA) balloons. Angiographic products consiatarily of angiographic catheters, but a
include entry needles and guidewires specificadlgighed for peripheral interventions and fluid ngarmaent products.

We manufacture angiographic catheters and guids\lie are available in more than 500 tip confijars and lengths.

«  Soft-VU®. Our proprietary Soft-Vu angiographic catheter tethgy incorporates a soft, atraumatic tip thatdsily visualized under
fluoroscopy.

* AngiOptic™ .The AngiOptic catheter line is distinguished frother catheters because the entire instrument Fyhigsible under
fluoroscopy.

« Accl-Vu®. The Accu-Vu angiographic catheter is a highly Misilaccurate sizing catheter used to determin&etiggh and diameter
of a vessel for endovascular procedures. Accu-\wviges a soft, highly radiopaque tip with a cha@latinum radiopaque marker
patterns along the shaft for enhanced visibilitg ancuracy.

« Mariner™ . The Mariner catheter is a hydrophilic-coated agraphic catheter. It uses our patented Soft-Vieatat technology to
deliver contrast media to anatomy that is difficalreach. The advanced hydrophilic coating teatmykignificantly reduces catheter
surface friction, providing smoother navigationaingh challenging vasculature with optimal handimgl control.

* AQUA Liner®. The AQUA Liner guidewire is a technologically adead guidewire. It is used to provide access taadiff-to-reach
locations in interventional procedures requiringghly lubricious wire. The AQUA Liner guidewiredorporates proprietary
advanced coating technology that allows frictiosleavigation.

Drainage Product:

Drainage products percutaneously drain abscessesther fluid pockets. An abscess is a tenderrnimdld mass that typically must be
drained by a physician.

Our line of drainage products, The Total Absces8iBamily of Drainage Catheters, consists of our TAtadcession General, Biliary, and
Nephrostomy drainage catheters. These productsréeatir proprietary soft shaft with Blue S™ finish for a more comfortable patient fit. The
kink-resistant shaft recovers rapidly, even if selyebent, knotted, or twisted. This is particwaseneficial when patients roll over and risk a
potential kinking of the catheter during sleep. Ttermal molded tip allows for less buckling andking upon insertion. Also important is that
shaft diameter equals the inner diameter of thieetat hub to maximize flow. Our Total Abscessioailage catheters feature a tamper-resistant
locking mechanism called the Vafilivhich securely fixes the pigtail and prevents tarmgeor accidental removal. This locking mechantssips
to prevent the drain from becoming unlocked durimgfine use, thus reducing a physician’s time lyiding a possible “redo” case, and
increasing patient satisfaction by not having fweed the procedure. The Total Abscession cathetenits aspiration in the locked or unlocked
position thus allowing more accurate placementgredter versatility for draining complex situations

Micro Access Kit:

Our Micro Access sets provide interventional phigsis a smaller introducer system for minimally-isive procedures. Our Micro Access
product line provides physicians with the meanisuitd a custom set from the wide selection of ogufations available, including four wires in
two different lengths, seven needle options angetisheath dilator options.

Vascular Access

Image-guided vascular access, or IGVA, involvesuse of advanced imaging equipment to guide theepl@nt of catheters that deliver
primarily short-term drug therapies, such as chéemaipeutic agents and antibiotics, into the cemnrabus system. Delivery to the circulatory
system allows drugs to mix with a large volume lobld as compared to intravenous drug delivery insuiperficial vessel. IGVA procedures
include the placement of PICC lines, implantablggpand central venous catheters, or CVCs.




BioFlo ®

Our BioFlo products incorporate Endexo Technolagy the manufacturing and design of our Vasculare&s products. Endexo is a
fluorine based additive that creates a non-elugiegmanent), non-heparin based catheter matedatighlesigned to reduce thrombus
accumulation and platelet adhesion to all surfacdise catheter. BioFlo’s long-term durability a@fficacy is intended to provide clinicians a high
degree of safety and confidence in providing betégient care and improved patient outcomes.

PICC Products

A peripherally inserted central catheter, or PI&G long thin catheter that is inserted into agbearal vein, typically in the upper arm, and
advanced until the catheter tip terminates in gdamein in the chest near the heart to obtainuetraus access. PICCs can typically be used for
prolonged periods of time and provide an altermativcentral venous catheters. Our PICC productsde:

BioFlo ® PICC: BioFlo is the only power injectable PICC avaikaltat incorporates Endexo Technology into the rfzanturing and
design of the catheter. Advanced features suchrgs lumen diameters allow the BioFIBICC to deliver the power injection flow
rates required for contrast-enhanced computed toapbg (CT) scans compatible with up to 325 psi Qj&dtions.

BioFlo ® PICC with PASV? Valve Technology The only power injectable PICC to combine End&gchnology with PAS\? Valve
Technology. The PASYValve Technology is designed to automatically aséskflow and reduce blood reflux that could léad
catheter-related complications.

BioFlo ® PICC Hybrid with PASV Valve Technolog¥he BioFlo® Hybrid PICC is the first and only triple lumen P1@@h two
valved lumens incorporating Endexo Technology amdpooprietary PASV Valve Technology with a dedethhonvalved lumen fc
precise central venous pressure (or CVP) monitoligh this innovative design, we now have a duahbn-eluting catheter that
reduces thrombus accumulation and provides thefitenétwo catheters in one.

Xcela PICC with PASV Valve Technolc The Xceld® PICC with PASV® Valve Technology is designed to provide a high degf
safety, ease and confidence in patient care. Addhfeatures such as large lumen diameters allowdb&® PICC with PASV®
Valve Technology to deliver the power injectionviloates required for contrast-enhanced CTs compatilth up to 325 psi CT
injections. The PASY Valve Technology design automatically resists blaekfreducing blood reflux that could lead to caéne
related complications.

Xcela Power Injectible PICCThe Xcela Power Injectable PICC, with fundament@l®requirements as its foundation, is also
designed to deliver flow rates required for sucitégontrast-enhanced CTs. Advanced features ssitdrge lumen diameters,
reverse tapered catheter body and radiopacityesigiked to augment catheter performance, from atpkcement to care and
maintenance.

Xcela PICC Hybrid with PASV Valve Technol: The Xcela Hybrid PICC has two valved lumens incoatiag our proprietary
PASV Valve Technology and a dedicated non-valveagl for precise CVP monitoring.

Morpheus® CT PICC and Morpheu3CT PICC Insertion KitOur insertion kit allows our Morpheus CT PICC toibgerted at a
patient’s bedside instead of in the hospital ramtjglsuite. The kit was specifically designed fdementional radiologists, nurse
practitioners, physician assistants and radioleghnicians who perform placement of PICC lines.seRICC lines provide short or
long-term peripheral access to the central vengstems for intravenous therapy and blood samplifiges€ products are intended for
use with CT injectors, allowing physicians to use éxisting PICC for both medications and CT imggthus avoiding the need for
an additional access site.

Morpheus® Smart PICC:The Morpheus Triple Lumen Smart PICC, the nextaimh of our Morpheus CT PICC line, gives
practitioners the increased flexibility to both adister medications and perform power injectionsaftrast media for CT imaging
using one PICC line. The Morpheus Smart PICC feat@mart Taper™ technology to improve blood flow eeduce the risk of
thrombosis while reducing leakage around the ifsesite.

Port Products

Ports are implantable devices utilized for the @mnenous administration of a variety of medi¢arapies and for blood sampling and
diagnostic purposes. Central venous access faeflisamore systemic delivery of treatment agerttieunitigating certain harsh side effects of
certain treatment protocols and eliminating thedrfee repeated access to peripheral veins. Depgngion needle gauge size and the port size, a
port can be utilized for up to approximately 2,@@@esses once implanted in the body. Our portssa@ primarily in systemic or regional short
and long-term cancer treatment protocols that reduéquent infusions of highly concentrated oli¢doredications (such as chemotherapy agents,
antibiotics or analgesics) and frequent blood sargp!




Our port products and accessories include:

Vortex®: Our Vortex port technology line of ports is a cklaw port technology that, we believe, revolutiped port design. With
its rounded chamber, the Vortex port is designdubtee no sludge-harboring corners or dead spabéspioduct line consists of the
following titanium, plastic and dual-lumen offerggithin its family of products: (i) Vortex VX; (iiVortex TR; (iii) Vortex LP; and
(iv) Vortex MP.

SmartPort®: The Smart Port power-injectable port with Vorteghnology offers the ability for a clinician tocass a vein for both
the delivery of medications or fluids and for adisiering power-injected contrast to perform a Cotaguromography (CT) scan.
The ability to access a port for power-injectedtcast studies eliminates the need for additionabieesticks in the patient’s arm and
wrist veins. Once implanted, repeated access tbltoeistream can be accomplished with greateraasddess discomfort. Our Sm
Port is now available in mini and low-profiles tccammodate more patient anatomies.

Vaxcel® Implantable PortsVaxcel®: Implantable Ports are available in a choice aof design: titanium or polysulfone port body
material; silicone or polyurethane thin wall caratonstruction. An option of Mini and StandardtRurdy designs provides the
flexibility to match size to varying clinical reqeiments.

Xcela® Power Injectible Ports. OuXcela®: Power Injectable Ports offer choices in port sigsign and material to best suit a wide
variety of patient needs.

¢ Plastic—tight weight for patient comfort and provides rddience for improved imagir

« Hybrid of Plastic and Titanium-©ombines the light weight and radiolucence of ptastth the durability of titaniun

« Standard Titanium-©ffers a small footprint without compromising saptsize for ease of acce

* Low Profile Titanium—Offers the smallest footprint, providing increagedient comfort and options for placem

¢ Dual Lumen Plastic-Besigned to deliver supportive therag

Vaxcel® Implantaable Ports with PAS¥Walve Technology: The VaxcélPort with PASV® Valve has shown demonstrated resul
clinical and economic outcomes. Ports with PASXalve Technology have shown significant reductionmadequate blood draws
and occlusion in clinical studies. The PASValve is a proximally located valve in the port pdesigned to automatically close
after infusion, disconnection or aspiration, anta@ closed during normal pressure. An advantageeoPASV® Valve Technology
is a proximally located, direction-specific valvet is designed to resist backflow and maintaiempat between uses.

LifeGuard®: The LifeGuard Safety Infusion Set and The LifeGudislon are used to infuse our ports and complernanport and
vascular access catheters. The needles’ low padiggn is intended to allow clinicians to easilgss the site.

Dialysis Products

We market a complete line of dialysis products firatide short and long-term vascular access faysiis patients. Dialysis, or cleaning of
the blood, is necessary in conditions such as aeut failure, chronic renal failure and end-stegyeal disease (ESRD).

We currently offer a wide variety of dialysis cats, including:

DuraMax®. The DuraMax catheter is a stepped-tip cathetgigded to improve ease of use, dialysis efficiesmegt overall patient
outcomes.

Schon™ . The Schon chronic dialysis catheter is desidodie self-retaining, deliver high flow rates gdvide patient comfort.
The Schon catheter is for long-term use.

Evenmore® .. The Evenmore chronic dialysis catheter is a lowfilgroend-hole catheter designed to provide vefigieht dialysis. It
was designed for long-term use with our propriefanyathané shaft, which offers high resistance to chemicatslus clean the
insertion site.

Vaxcel® Plus. The tapered Carbothafidaterial Catheter Extrusion of Vaxc®Plus Dialysis Catheter is an alcohiekistant materi
designed to provide biocompatibility, durabilitiexibility and ease of care. It is designed to lfeate placement, improve kink
resistance and reduce the need for catheter matigouand replacement.

Dura-Flow 2™ . The DuraFlow 2 chronic dialysis catheter is designed tabreable, maximize flow rates and provide for easée
and site maintenance. The Dura-Flow chronic dialgatheter is for long-term use.

SCHON XL®.. The SCHON XL acute dialysis catheter is designdokt&ink resistant, deliver high flow rates, offersatile
positioning and provide patient comfort. SCHON Lfor short-term use.




Oncology / Surgery Products

Our Oncology/Surgery product offerings include dicrowave Ablation products, our Radiofrequency &mn (RFA) and our NanoKnife
product lines.

Microwave Ablation Product

The Acculis Microwave Tissue Ablation (MTA) Systermmplements the full range of ablative technologiesoffer. When configured for
use with the Accu2i pMTA Applicators, it includdgetSulis VpMTA Generator, optional MTA Temperat@m@bes, Acculis Local Control Stati
(LCS) and Accu2i pMTA Applicators. Designed for gigians trained in image-guided ablation procedungsaoperative ultrasound and/or CT
guided needle placement, the system is used fondieoagulation of soft tissue. By utilizing 2.&hz of microwave energy, the Acculis MTA
System can complete ablations up to 5 cm in siutemwith a single applicator. Applicators are k&kde in 14 cm, 19 cm and 29 cm lengths,
offering flexibility in selecting the appropriaterigth for the procedure. Additionally, an antermaagmits energy directly to the targeted tissue,
eliminating the need for electrosurgical groundiragls, while the single, simple to place insertippliaator eliminates the need to deploy an a
array.

Radiofrequency Ablation Produc

Radiofrequency Ablation (RFA) products use radigfrency energy to provide a minimally invasive aptoto ablating solid cancerous or
benign tumors. Our system delivers radiofrequemeyr@y to raise the temperature of cells above £&56ausing cellular death.

The physician inserts the disposable needle eletevice into the targeted body tissue, typiaatiger ultrasound, computed tomography
or magnetic resonance imaging guidance. Once tiealis inserted, pushing on the handle of thea®euauses a group of curved wires to be
deployed from the tip of the electrode. When thegxois turned on, these wires deliver radiofreqyesteergy throughout the tumor. In addition,
temperature sensors on the tips of the wires medissue temperature throughout the procedure.

During the procedure, our system automatically stdjthe amount of energy delivered in order to taairthe temperature necessary to
ablate the targeted tissue. For a typical 5cm ialatsing our StarBurstXli- enhanced disposable device, the ablation prockss gpproximatel
ten minutes. When the ablation is complete, puliagk on the handle of the device causes the cuviredarray to be retracted into the device so
it can be removed from the body.

The RFA system consists of a radiofrequency geoeaatd a family of disposable devices. We also etaithe Habil$ 4X ®resection device
under a distribution agreement with EMcision Lirditén addition to the intra-operative (open suryelgvice Habib 4X, AngioDynamics markets
a minimally-invasive version of the Habib 4X devieeLaparoscopic 4X unit, which is used in minimpativasive laparoscopic surgery (MILS)
procedures in surgical specialties such as: Hep#itary, Gl, Surgical Oncology, Transplant Surgaryd Urology (Partial Nephrectomy
Resections). It is clinically indicated to assistbagulation of tissue during intraoperative aaghltoscopic procedures.




The following is a list of our RFA products:

Disposable Electrodes:

Resection Device:
Generators:

Product Name

Description

StarBurst®

StarBurst XL

StarBurst Semi-Flex
StarBurst SDE
StarBurst MRI
StarBurst Xli-enhanced

StarBurst Xli-enhanced Semi-Flex

StarBurst Talon: Straight

StarBurst Talon:
Semi-Flex

Habib® 4X
Model 1500X RF Generator

NanoKnife® Ablation System Products

The NanoKnife® Ablation System is for the surgical ablation oftg@dsue. The NanoKnife Ablation System utilizew lenergy direct
current electrical pulses to permanently open piorégrget cell membranes. These permanent ponearm-scale defects in the cell membranes
result in cell death. The treated tissue is themored by the body’s natural processes in a matteeeks, mimicking natural cell death. Unlike
other ablation technologies, NanoKnife Ablation i8ys does not achieve tissue ablation using theemexgy.

Creates a scalable 2-3cm ablation.

Creates a scalable 3-5cm ablation.

Creates a scalable 3-5cm ablation and has a paftedible shaft.
Creates a 2cm ablation, via a side-deployed array

Creates a 3-5 cm ablation and is compatible witH.MR

Creates a scalable 4-7cm ablation. Requires arssmgeinfusion pump
for irrigation of saline. Attached tubing standard.

Creates a scalable 4-7cm ablation. A portion ofstiedt is flexible and
can bend up to 90 degrees in all directions. Requan accessory
infusion pump for irrigation of saline. Attacheding standard.
Creates a scalable 1-4cm ablation. Requires arssmgeinfusion pump
for irrigation of saline.

Creates a scalable 1-4cm ablation. Requires assmgeinfusion pump
for irrigation of saline. A portion of the shaftflexible and can bend up
to 90 degrees in all directions.

Surgical resection device.

250 Watt Capable Generator with Field-Software @ggability.

The Nanoknife Ablation System consists of two mammponents: a Low Energy Direct Current, or LEDéh&rator and needle-like
electrode probes. Up to six (6) electrode probesheaplaced into or around the targeted soft tisSuee the probes are in place, the user enters
the appropriate parameters for voltage, numbeulsigs, interval between pulses, and the pulselengi the generator user interface. The
generator then delivers a series of short eleptrises between each electrode probe. The enenggigels hyperechoic and can be monitored

under real-time ultrasound.

All products discussed above have been clearesbferin the United States by the FDA.

Research & Development

Our growth depends in large part on the continueisduction of new and innovative products, togethith ongoing enhancements to our
existing products, through internal product deveiept, technology licensing and strategic allian@és.recognize the importance of, and intend
to continue to make investments in, research amdldement. For fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, ourare$eand development (“R&D”)
expenditures were $27.5 million , $26.3 million &#0.5 million , respectively, and constituted 7.8%7% and 9.2% , respectively, of net sales.

Our R&D development teams work closely with ouesdbrce to incorporate customer feedback intadewelopment and design process.
We believe that we have a reputation among intéimeal physicians as a strong partner for prodeeetbpment because of our tradition of close
physician collaboration, dedicated market focuspoasiveness and execution capabilities for prodeetlopment and commercialization.




Competition

We encounter significant competition across oudpot lines and in each market in which our prodactssold. These markets are
characterized by rapid change resulting from teldgical advances and scientific discoveries. We femmpetitors ranging from large
manufacturers with multiple business lines to smelhufacturers that offer a limited selection afdarcts.

In addition, we compete with providers of other imattherapies, such as pharmaceutical compatiasitay offer non-surgical therapies
for conditions that currently, or in the future, yra@e treated using our products. Our primary deg@®apetitors include: Boston Scientific
Corporation; Cook Medical; C.R. Bard; Medical Compuots, Inc., or Medcomp; Arrow International, asidiary of TeleFlex Medical; Smiths
Medical, a subsidiary of Smiths Group plc; Vasc@atutions; Covidien subsidiaries (Kendall, VNUY/3; Merit Medical; Terumo Medical
Corporation; Total Vein Systems and Biolitec.

Many of our competitors have substantially grefitemncial, technological, research and developnrewgylatory, marketing, sales and
personnel resources than we do. Competitors mayhalge greater experience in developing produbtsimng regulatory approvals, and
manufacturing and marketing such products. Additilgn competitors may obtain patent protectionegyuiatory approval or clearance, or achieve
product commercialization before us, any of whiohld materially adversely affect us.

We believe that our products compete primarilytenliasis of their quality, clinical outcomes, eafsese, reliability, physician familiarity
and costeffectiveness. In the current environment of madagee, which is characterized by economically watéd buyers, consolidation amc
health care providers, increased competition aitindieg reimbursement rates, we have been incrghsiequired to compete on the basis of
price. We believe that our continued competitivecess will depend upon our ability to develop ajuae scientifically advanced technology,
apply our technology cost-effectively across pradines and markets, develop or acquire proprigpaoglucts, attract and retain skilled
development personnel, obtain patent or other ptiotefor our products, obtain required regulatang reimbursement approvals, manufacture
and successfully market our products either diyemtithrough outside parties and maintain suffitiamentory to meet customer demand.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our broad line of quality devices in theitdd States through a direct sales force and iatemally through a combination of direct
sales and distributor relationships. We supportoomstomers and sales organization with a marketiaid that includes product managers,
customer service representatives and other magksgiecialists. Our dedicated sales force, growartfgio of products and acquisitions have
contributed to our strong sales growth.

We focus our sales and marketing efforts on inteieeal radiologists, interventional cardiologistascular surgeons, urologists and
interventional and surgical oncologists. Thereraoge than 5,000 interventional radiologists, 5,0@8rventional cardiologists, 2,000 vascular
surgeons, 9,000 urologists and 2,000 interventiandlsurgical oncologists in the United States.

Backlog
Historically, we ship the majority of products withd8 hours of receipt of the orders, and accofglingr backlog is not significant.

Manufacturing

We manufacture certain proprietary components aodyets and assemble, inspect, test and packadmistied products. By designing
and manufacturing many of our products from rawamals, and assembling and testing our subassesraniig products, we believe that we are
able to maintain better quality control, ensure ptiamce with applicable regulatory standards andimternal specifications, and limit outside
access to our proprietary technology. We have oustesigned proprietary manufacturing and processingpment and have developed
proprietary enhancements for existing productiochizery.

Raw materials and sub-assemblies used in the nanudzof our products are purchased from a largebau of suppliers in diverse
geographic locations. Changes in economic conditéord related risks in materials, particularly nse¢and plastic resins, can have a significant
impact on access, availability and total cost aidoicing certain products. We may experience flu@noa in our margins if these costs cannot be
effectively mitigated through or captured in theerof the products.




We own or lease four primary manufacturing prosrproviding capabilities which include manufaatgriservice, engineering and
research, distribution warehouses and offices. g Feaslities are registered with the FDA and hagerbcertified to ISO 13485 standards, as well
as the CMD/CAS Canadian Medical Device Regulatit®®. 13485 is a quality system standard that segi€furopean Union regulatory
requirements, thus allowing us to market and sellppoducts in European Union countries. If we werse this certification, we would no
longer be able to sell our products in these coemtmtil we made the necessary corrections t@parations or satisfactorily completed an
alternate European Union approval route that didelg on compliance with quality system standafdst manufacturing facilities are subject to
periodic inspections by regulatory authoritiestsw@e compliance with domestic and non-U.S. regofaequirements. See “Government
Regulation” section of this report for additionafarmation. We believe that the properties are taitied in good operating condition and are
suitable for their intended use. These sites afellasvs:

Manufacturing Approx. Property

Location Sq. Ft. Type

Glens Falls, NY 189,00 Owned
Queensbury, NY 129,00( Owned
Manchester, GA 60,00( Leasec
Denmead, U.K. 7,50( Leasec

Intellectual Property

Patents, trademarks and other proprietary riglgsary important to our business. We also rely upade secrets, manufacturing know-
how, technological innovations and licensing opgoities to maintain and improve our competitiveifios. We regularly monitor and review
third-party proprietary rights, including patentelgatent applications, as available, to aid indineelopment of our intellectual property strategy,
avoid infringement of third-party proprietary righand identify licensing opportunities.

Most of our products are sold under the AngioDyremiade name or trademark. Additionally, manyadse sold under product trademarks
and/or registered product trademarks owned by Abgiamics, Inc., or an affiliate or subsidiary. Sopmeducts contain trademarks of companies
other than AngioDynamics.

As of May 31, 2014, we owned or had exclusive lsmnto 231 U.S. utility patents, 123 pending Utiityuapplications, and 117 foreign
issued and pending utility patents. We also owlJ6F. registered trademarks and 49 common law tradesnWe currently have 119 registered
international trademarks and 15 pending internatitademarks.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, patent positionsnefdical device companies, including our compang uacertain and involve complex e
evolving legal and factual questions. The covesmght in a patent application can be denied mifsigntly reduced either before or after the
patent is issued. Consequently, there can be noaas® that any of our pending patent applicatiiigesult in an issued patent. There is also no
assurance that any existing or future patent wil/me significant protection or commercial adva@aor whether any existing or future patent
will be circumvented by a more basic patent, tleggiiring us to obtain a license to produce andtlelproduct. Generally, patent applications can
be maintained in secrecy for at least 18 monttes #fieir earliest priority date. In addition, pualiion of discoveries in the scientific or patent
literature often lags behind actual discoveriesréfore, we cannot be certain that we were thetérswvent the subject matter covered by each of
our pending U.S. patent applications or that weevtke first to file non-U.S. patent applications $ach subject matter.

If a third party files a patent application relgtito an invention claimed in our patent applicatie may be required to participate in an
interference proceeding declared by the U.S. ParehiTrademark Office to determine who owns themtaSuch proceeding could involve
substantial uncertainties and cost, even if thetexd outcome is favorable to us. There can bessarance that our patents, if issued, would be
upheld as valid in court.

Third parties may claim that our products infrirayetheir patents and other intellectual propeits. Some companies in the medical
device industry have used intellectual propertyimglement litigation to gain a competitive advartal a competitor were to challenge our
patents, licenses or other intellectual propediits, or assert that our products infringe its piade other intellectual property rights, we could
incur substantial litigation costs, be forced tdkmaxpensive changes to our product design, pajtiey or other fees to license rights in order to
continue manufacturing and selling our productgay substantial damages. Third-party infringenotaitns, regardless of their outcome, would
not only consume our financial resources but aigertlour managemerst'time and effort. Such claims could also causecagtomers or potenti
customers to defer or limit their purchase or Ush® affected products until resolution of theirtia
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See Part |. Item 3 of this report for additionaladls on litigation regarding proprietary technofog

We rely on trade secret protection for certain teyp@d aspects of our proprietary technology. Tharebe no assurance that others will not
independently develop or otherwise acquire suhisinequivalent proprietary information or techoésg, that others will not gain access to our
proprietary technology or disclose such technolagyhat we can meaningfully protect our trade ssciWe have a policy of requiring key
employees and consultants to execute confidegtadjiteements upon the commencement of an employsneonsulting relationship with us.

Our confidentiality agreements also require our legges to assign to us all rights to any inventimagle or conceived during their employment
with us. We also generally require our consultémisssign to us any inventions made during theseoaf their engagement by us. There can |
assurance, however, that these agreements willdgroveaningful protection or adequate remediesi$dn the event of unauthorized use, transfer
or disclosure of confidential information or invemts.

The laws of foreign countries generally do not ecbour proprietary rights to the same extent athddaws of the United States. In
addition, we may experience more difficulty enfagciour proprietary rights in certain foreign juiitsttbns.

Litigation

We operate in an industry characterized by extengatent litigation. Patent litigation can resulsignificant damage awards and
injunctions that could prevent the manufacture sadd of affected products or result in significenytalty payments in order to continue selling the
products. While it is not possible to predict theamme of patent litigation incidents to our bussiene believe the costs associated with this type
of litigation could have a material adverse impatbur consolidated results of operations, findrmiaition, or cash flows. The medical device
industry is also susceptible to significant prodiatiility claims. These claims may be brought bglividuals seeking relief on their own behalf or
purporting to represent a class. In addition, pobdiability claims may be asserted against udhiftiture based on events we are not aware of at
the present time. At any given time, we are invdlirea number of product liability actions. For dgtghal information, see both Part I. Item 3 of
this report and Note N to the consolidated finadrstiaements in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Government Regulation

The products we manufacture and market are sutneegulation by the FDA under the Federal FoodigDand Cosmetic Act, or FDCA,
and, in some instances, state authorities andgioigovernments.

United States FDA RegulatiorBefore a new medical device can be introducedtimanarket, a manufacturer generally must obtain
marketing clearance or approval from the FDA thioagher a 510(k) submission (a premarket notikiecgtor a premarket approval application,
or PMA.

The 510(k) procedure is available only in particdiacumstances. The 510(k) clearance proceduaeaable only if a manufacturer can
establish that its device is “substantially equawill in intended use and in safety and effectivertes “predicate device,” which is a legally
marketed device with 510(k) clearance in classll or grandfather status based upon commerci#dildigion on or before May 28, 1976. After a
device receives 510(k) clearance, any modificatiat could significantly affect its safety or effi@eness, or that would constitute a major change
in its intended use, requires a new 510(k) cleaamcould require a PMA approval. The 510(k) deae procedure generally takes from four to
12 months from the time of submission, but may takger. In some cases, supporting clinical datg bearequired. The FDA may determine t
a new or modified device is not substantially eglént to a predicate device or may require thaitisthdl information, including clinical data, be
submitted before a determination is made, eithevto€h could significantly delay the introductiohreew or modified device products. If a
product does not satisfy the criteria of substhetjaivalence, it is placed in class Il and prekeaapproval is required prior to the introductaft
that product into the market.

The PMA application procedure is more compreherntige the 510(k) procedure and typically takes isdwears to complete. The PMA
application must be supported by scientific evidepviding pre-clinical and clinical data relatitogthe safety and efficacy of the device and
must include other information about the device mdomponents, design, manufacturing and labelihg FDA will approve a PMA applicatic
only if a reasonable assurance that the devicafésand effective for its intended use can be piexti As part of the PMA application review, the
FDA will inspect the manufacturer’s facilities foompliance with its Quality System Regulation, @R As part of the PMA approval the FDA
may place restrictions on the device, such as reguadditional patient follow-up for an indefiniperiod of time. If the FDA'’s evaluation of the
PMA application or the manufacturing facility istrfavorable, the FDA may deny approval of the PMpplecation or issue a “not approvable”
letter. The FDA may also require additional clinittéals, which can delay the PMA approval prockgseveral years. After the PMA is approv
if significant changes are made to a device, itaufecturing or labeling, a PMA supplement contagréaalditional information must be filed for
prior FDA approval.
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Historically, our products have been introduced e market using the 510(k) procedure and we haver had to use the PMA procedi

The FDA clearance and approval processes for acaleditvice are expensive, uncertain and lengthgrd ban be no assurance that we will
be able to obtain necessary regulatory clearancagpmovals for any product on a timely basis allatDelays in receipt of or failure to receive
such clearances or approvals, the loss of previgeskived clearances or approvals, or the fatlum@mply with existing or future regulatory
requirements could have a material adverse effeduo business, financial condition and resultspdrations.

After a product is placed on the market, the prodnd its manufacturer are subject to pervasivecantinuing regulation by the FDA. The
FDA enforces these requirements by inspection agdken surveillance. Our suppliers also may be stiltgeFDA inspection. We must therefore
continue to spend time, money and effort to mamntampliance. Among other things, we must compighwhe Medical Device Reporting
regulation, which requires that manufacturers refmothe FDA if their device may have caused ortibated to a death or serious injury or
malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause ontribute to a death or serious injury if it weoerécur. We must also comply with the FDA’s
corrections and removal reporting regulation, whigtjuires that manufacturers report to the FDAlfmdrrections and product recalls or removals
if undertaken to reduce a risk to health posed tgwace or to remedy a violation of the FDCA thatynpresent a risk to health. The labeling and
promotion activities for devices are subject tauinly by the FDA and, in certain instances, byfederal Trade Commission. The FDA actively
enforces regulations prohibiting the marketing e¥ides for unapproved new uses.

The devices manufactured by us also are subjebet@QSR, which imposes elaborate testing, cordamiumentation and other quality
assurance procedures. Every phase of productidogding raw materials, components and subassembii@sufacturing, testing, quality control,
labeling, tracing of consignees after distributéond follow-up and reporting of complaint informatits governed by the FDA’'s QSR. Device
manufacturers are required to register their féediand list their products with the FDA and certate agencies. The FDA periodically inspects
manufacturing facilities and, if there are allegémations, the operator of a facility must corrémm or satisfactorily demonstrate the absence of
the violations or face regulatory action.

We are subject to inspection and marketing suavgi by the FDA to determine our compliance withesgjulatory requirements. Recently,
the FDA has placed an increased emphasis on enferteof the QSR and other postmarket regulatoryirements. Non-compliance with
applicable FDA requirements can result in, amomgothings, fines, injunctions, civil penaltiesca# or seizure of products, total or partial
suspension of production, failure of the FDA torgnaarketing approvals, withdrawal of marketing repyals, a recommendation by the FDA to
disallow us to enter into government contracts, @ivdinal prosecutions. The FDA also has the aiithé&w request repair, replacement or refund
of the cost of any device manufactured or disteduty us.

Other -We and our products are also subject to a variesyate and local laws in those jurisdictions whauie products are or will be
marketed, and federal, state and local laws rglatirmatters such as safe working conditions, natufing practices, environmental protection,
fire hazard control and disposal of hazardous ¢teng@lly hazardous substances. In addition, wesabgect to various federal and state laws
governing our relationships with the physicians atiters who purchase or make referrals for ouryetsd For instance, federal law prohibits
payments of any form that are intended to indufexral for any item payable under Medicare, Maiti@r any other federal healthcare progt
Many states have similar laws. There can be naasse that we will not be required to incur sigeafit costs to comply with such laws and
regulations now or in the future or that such lawsegulations will not have a material adversedaffipon our ability to do business.

International Regulation ternationally, all of our current products aresimered medical devices under applicable regylaggimes, an
we anticipate that this will be true for all of duture products. Sales of medical devices areestiltp regulatory requirements in many countries.
The regulatory review process may vary greatly faoantry to country. For example, the European bihias adopted numerous directives and
standards relating to medical devices regulatiegq tesign, manufacture, clinical trials, labelangd adverse event reporting. Devices that comply
with those requirements are entitled to bear a @onifé Européenne, or CE Mark, indicating thatdegice conforms to the essential
requirements of the applicable directives and aodmmercially distributed in countries that aremhers of the European Union.

In some cases, we rely on our international distdts to obtain regulatory approvals, complete pobdegistrations, comply with clinical
trial requirements and complete those steps tieat@tomarily taken in the applicable jurisdictions

International sales of medical devices manufacturede United States that are not approved oretehy the FDA for use in the United
States, or are banned or deviate from lawful peréorce standards, are subject to FDA export reqeinésn
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Before exporting such products to a foreign coyntry must first comply with the FDA’regulatory procedures for exporting unapprovedces.

The process of obtaining approval to distribute icedgroducts is costly and time-consuming in \aityi all of the major markets where we
sell medical devices. We cannot assure that anymedical devices we develop will be approved imreely or cost-effective manner or approved
at all. There can be no assurance that new lawegoitations regarding the release or sale of med@aces will not delay or prevent sale of our
current or future products.

Third-Party Reimbursement
United States ©ur products are used in medical procedures géynemlered by government or private health plans.

In general, a third-party payor only covers a maidicoduct or procedure when the plan administriatertisfied that the product or
procedure improves health outcomes, including guaefilife or functional ability, in a safe and ¢effective manner. Even if a device has
received clearance or approval for marketing byRD@, there is no assurance that third-party payoitscover the cost of the device and related
procedures.

In many instances, thirgarty payors use price schedules that do not wargflect the cost of the products and equipmeat uis performiny
those procedures. In other instances, paymenirobtgsement is separately available for the pradlant equipment used, in addition to payment
or reimbursement for the procedure itself. Everoiferage is available, third-party payors may plasgrictions on the circumstances where they
provide coverage or may offer reimbursement thabissufficient to cover the cost of our products.

Third-party payors who cover the cost of medicaldorcts or equipment, in addition to allowing a gaheharge for the procedure, often
maintain lists of exclusive suppliers or approvietslof products deemed to be cost-effective. Aiglation from those third-party payors is
required prior to using products that are not @séhlists as a condition of reimbursement. If godpcts are not on the approved lists, healthcare
providers must determine if the additional cost affdrt required in obtaining prior authorizatiand the uncertainty of actually obtaining
coverage, is justified by any perceived clinicahdiits from using our products.

Finally, the advent of contracted fixed rates pecpdure has made it difficult to receive reimbarsat for disposable products, even if the
use of these products improves clinical outcomesadidition, many third-party payors are moving @naged care systems in which providers
contract to provide comprehensive healthcare fotea cost per person. Managed care providers @tempt to control the cost of healthcare by
authorizing fewer elective surgical procedures. éfralirrent prospective payment systems, such atidgeosis related group system and the
hospital out-patient prospective payment systerth bbwhich are used by Medicare and in many mathagee systems used by private third-
party payors, the cost of our products will be mpowated into the overall cost of a procedure avtcoe separately reimbursed. As a result, we
cannot be certain that hospital administratorsgingicians will purchase our products, despitectimcal benefits and opportunity for cost
savings that we believe can be derived from thegx: If hospitals and physicians cannot obtain aategqeimbursement for our products or the
procedures in which they are used, our businesandial condition, results of operations, and dlsis could suffer a material adverse impact.

International -Our success in international markets will depengdly upon the availability of reimbursement frome third-party payors
through which healthcare providers are paid in¢hoarkets. Reimbursement and healthcare paymeaetsyvary significantly by country. The
main types of healthcare payment systems are gmerhsponsored healthcare and private insuranémbiResement approval must be obtained
individually in each country in which our produete marketed. Outside the United States, we gdyneesy on our distributors to obtain
reimbursement approval in the countries in whiaytwill sell our products. There can be no asswedhat reimbursement approvals will be
received.

Insurance

Our product liability insurance coverage is limiteda maximum of $10,000,000 per product liabititgim and an aggregate policy limit of
$10,000,000, subject to a self-insured retentio®a@0,000 per occurrence and $1,250,000 in thesggtg. The policy covers, subject to policy
conditions and exclusions, claims of bodily injayd property damage from any product sold or mawfed by us.

There is no assurance that this level of coversgeléquate. We may not be able to sustain or nraihia level of coverage and cannot
assure you that adequate insurance coverage wiihee to be available on commercially reasonadims, or at all. A successful product liability
claim or other claim with respect to uninsured nderinsured liabilities could have a material adeezffect on our business.
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Environmental

We are subject to federal, state and local lawssruegulations and policies governing the useegsion, manufacture, storage, air
emission, effluent discharge, handling and dispokekrtain hazardous and potentially hazardoustaunbes used in connection with our
operations. Although we believe that we have coedpliith these laws and regulations in all mategapects and, to date, have not been required
to take any action to correct any noncomplianaergltan be no assurance that we will not be redjtaréncur significant costs to comply with
environmental regulations in the future.

Employees

As of May 31, 2014, we had approximately 1,300 tinfle employees. None of our employees are reptedday a labor union and we have
never experienced a work stoppage.

Executive Officers of the Compar
The following table sets forth certain informatieith respect to our executive officers.

Name Age Position
Joseph M. DeVivo 47 President and Chiefddkige Officer
Mark T. Frost 51 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer
John Soto 50 Executive Vice President, Oh@mmercial Officer
Matthew Kapusta 42 Senior Vice PresidensiBess Development
Mark Stephens 46 Senior Vice President, ivibtration
Stephen A. Trowbridge 40 Senior Vice Prestdand General Counsel

Joseph M. DeVivbecame our President and Chief Executive Offic@aptember 2011. Prior to joining AngioDynamics, MeVivo
served as Global President of Smith & Nephew Ortldags. Previously, Mr. DeVivo was CEO and PresiddiRITA Medical Systems, serving
that capacity at the time AngioDynamics acquire@ARIPrior to RITA Medical Systems, Mr. DeVivo sedras President, Chief Operating Offi
and Director of Computer Motion Incorporation (CM¥Jr. DeVivo also previously served as Vice Prestdend General Manager of a $350
million division of TYCO International’s HealthcaBusiness, U.S. Surgical/Davis and Geck Suturesyavhe was responsible for sales,
marketing, research and development, and finanite wascular business. During his nine-year teatitd.S. Surgical, he held various
management positions related to sales and marké&tindeVivo earned his Bachelor of Science degne@usiness Administration from the E.
Clairborne Robins School of Business at the Unitserd Richmond.

Mark T. Frostbecame our Executive Vice President and Chief Eiad@fficer in November 2012. Prior to AngioDynaisj Mr. Frost most
recently served as Chief Financial Officer and 8eWice President of Administration of Albany Moldar Research Inc. (AMRI). He also served
five years as vice president of finance at SmitN&hew Endoscopy, a global medical device divisib8mith & Nephew, before joining AMRI.
Mr. Frost also spent 14 years with General Eleettiere he last served as Chief Financial Officeeafupe Sovac Auto Financial Services based
in Paris, France. He earned a Bachelor of Artaferhational Relations/Economics, graduating Cumndieawith Honors in Economics, from
Colgate University in Hamilton, N.Y.

John Sotqgoined AngioDynamics as Senior Vice President, @ldbanchise, Peripheral Vascular in September 20i2was appointed
Chief Commercial Officer in December 2013. Mostergity he was Senior Vice President of Smith & Nepbkeslobal Hip Franchise. Mr. Soto is
the former Senior Vice President of Global SalesAfiagioDynamics — a role that he took on after @@mpany’s acquisition of RITA Medical
Systems in 2007, where he had served as ExecutbeeRresident of Global Sales and Vice Presidefritefnational Operations. Prior to joining
RITA, he gained leadership experience at Compuigtidvi, Tyco Healthcare and U.S. Surgical. Mr. Sgtaduated from the British Royal Navy
with a degree in electronic engineering and hagplama in medical marketing from the University@dlifornia at Los Angeles, CA.

Matthew Kapustgoined AngioDynamics in November 2011 as Seniore\Reesident of Business Development. Most recelity Kapusta
served as Vice President of Strategic PlanningrFamancial Analysis for Smith & Nephew Orthopaedigk. Kapusta also spearheaded strategic
and financial planning for Smith & Nephew’s glolbips, Knees and Trauma franchises. Prior to Smitlefphew, Mr. Kapusta was a Managing
Director of Healthcare Investment Banking at Call8tewart in New York City. He also previously sshas Vice President of Healthcare
Mergers and Acquisitions at Wells Fargo
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Securities, and had similar roles at Robertsonti&tep and PaineWebber. Mr. Kapusta earned a BBAnamEe, Accounting, from the University
of Michigan and has an MBA in Finance, Business &gment, from New York University.

Mark Stephenpined AngioDynamics in January 2013 as Senior Hoesident, Administration. Prior to joining Angigamics,
Mr. Stephens most recently led the global humaowegs organization for Smith and Nephew Orthopmediefore joining Smith and Nephew,
Mr. Stephens held the position of Vice-Presidentmdn Resources, at Ingersoll Rand Corporation enetd as Director of talent management
with the Robert Bosch Corporation. He holds a MBAduman Resources from Murray State University a5, Business Administration with a
concentration in Economics and finance from theversity of Tennessee.

Stephen A. Trowbridgeined AngioDynamics as corporate counsel in JuW@82becoming our Vice President and General Cdimsene
2010 and Senior Vice President and General Coimgalgust 2013. Prior to joining AngioDynamics, Mirrowbridge was corporate counsel for
Philips Healthcare from November 2006 through R0@8, and corporate counsel for Intermagnetics aé&@orporation from April 2006 until
its acquisition by Philips Healthcare in Novemb@0@. Mr. Trowbridge began his career at CadwalatMickersham & Taft LLP in New York
City in September 2000. Mr. Trowbridge holds aiBScience and Technology Studies from Rensselalgteéehnic Institute, a Juris Doctor frc
the University of Pennsylvania Law School and an®ABym Duke University’s Fuqua School of Business.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information containedhistannual report on Form 10-K, the following rfsktors should be considered carefully in
evaluating the Company's business. Our financidlagerating results are subject to a number obfactmany of which are not within our cont
These factors include those set forth below. Osirtess, financial condition or results of operationuld be materially and adversely affected by
any of these risks. Additional risks not presektipwn to us or that we currently deem immateriay ralzo adversely affect our business, finar
condition or results of operations.

Although we expect that the acquisition of Navilyswill result in benefits to us, we may not realizé¢hose benefits because of integration
difficulties.

We completed the acquisition of Navilyst in May 2CGnd have been actively integrating the operatdmgavilyst since that time.
Completing this integration successfully or otheswviully realizing any of the anticipated benefitthe acquisition of Navilyst, including
anticipated cost savings and additional revenueuppities, involves a number of challenges. Failtar fully meet these integration challenges
could seriously harm our results of operations thedmarket price of our common stock may declina eesult.

Realizing the benefits of the acquisition will daden part on the integration of information teclogy, operations, personnel and sales
force. These integration activities are complex time - consuming and we may encounter unexpected diffesutir incur unexpected costs as we
complete the integration, including:

< our inability to achieve the cost savings and ojregesynergies anticipated in the acquisition, whiguld prevent us from achievi
the positive earnings gains expected as a restlieadcquisition;

« diversion of management attention from ongoingiess concerns to integration matt

« difficulties in consolidating and rationalizing orimation technology platforms and administrativieaistructures

« complexities associated with managing the coetbinusinesses and consolidating multiple physieztions where management
may determine consolidation is desirable;

« difficulties in integrating personnel from differtecorporate culture

« challenges in demonstrating to our customerstamadstomers of Navilyst that the acquisition widit result in adverse changes in
customer service standards or business focus; and

* possible cash flow interruption or loss of revense result of change of ownership transitionatens

We may not successfully complete the integratdefdperations of the businesses of Navilyst ima&ly manner, and we may not realize
anticipated net reductions in costs and expensistaer benefits and synergies of the acquisitioddavilyst to the extent, or in the timeframe,
anticipated. In addition to the integration riskscdssed above, our ability to realize these riigons in costs and expenses and other benefits
and synergies could be adversely impacted by pedair legal constraints on our ability to combaperations.

If we are unable to manage our growth profitably, air business, financial results and stock price codlsuffer.

Our future financial results will depend in partaur ability to profitably manage our growth. Maeagent will need to maintain existing
customers and attract new customers, recruitretad effectively manage employees, as well asrekpperations and integrate customer suy
and financial control systems. If integratiorelated expenses and capital expenditure requirsnaea greater than anticipated or if we are unable
to manage our growth profitably, our financial iesand the market price of our common stock maficke.

We have incurred significant indebtedness which impses operating and financial restrictions on us whh, together with our debt service
obligations, could significantly limit our ability to execute our business strategy and increase thisk of default under our debt obligations.

We borrowed an aggregate of approximately $150anilinot including up to $50 million that is avdila under our revolving credit
facility) in connection with the acquisition of Nisst. The terms of our credit facilities requirs to comply with certain financial maintenance
covenants. In addition, the terms of our new ineé@béss also include certain covenants restrictitignding our ability to take certain actions.

These covenants may adversely affect our abilifjinence future operations or limit our abilityparsue certain business opportunities or
take certain corporate actions. The covenants nsayrastrict our flexibility in planning for changién our business and the industry and make us
more vulnerable to economic downturns and advezseldpments.

Our ability to meet our cash requirements, inclgdiar debt service obligations, will be dependegrttruour operating performance, which
will be subject to general economic and competitiorditions and to financial, business and othetofa
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affecting our operations, many of which are or rhaybeyond our control. We cannot provide assurtdrateour business operations will generate
sufficient cash flows from operations to fund theash requirements and debt service obligatiormuribperating results, cash flow or capital
resources prove inadequate, we could face subatéqtiidity problems and might be required to dise of material assets or operations to meet
our debt and other obligations. If we are unablgsetiwice our debt, we could be forced to reduadetay planned expansions and capital
expenditures, sell assets, restructure or refinanceebt or seek additional equity capital, andwes be unable to take any of these actions on
satisfactory terms or in a timely manner. Further; of these actions may not be sufficient to alleao service our debt obligations or may have
an adverse impact on our business. Our debt agresiivait our ability to take certain of these aats. Our failure to generate sufficient operating
cash flow to pay our debts or to successfully utadterany of these actions could have a materiadradweffect on us.

In addition, the degree to which we are leveraged gesult of the indebtedness incurred in conmeetith the acquisition or otherwise
could materially and adversely affect our abiltyabtain additional financing for working capitegpital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service
requirements or other purposes, could make us monerable to general adverse economic, regulatodyindustry conditions, could limit our
flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changand opportunities in the markets in which we cet@pcould place us at a competitive
disadvantage compared to our competitors that lesgedebt or could require us to dedicate a sutistaortion of our cash flow to service our
debt.

Certain of the benefits we expect from the acquisin of Navilyst, including the anticipated accretim, net reductions in costs and expenses
and certain tax benefits, are based on projectiorsnd assumptions, which are uncertain and subject tohange.

Certain of the benefits we expect from the acqoisiof Navilyst, including accretion through fisgadar 2016, cost savings (net of identified
incremental costs and excluding transaction anocéaed ondime costs) of approximately $10 to $15 millionfiscal year 2015 and annual c:
tax savings of $11.5 million, or $0.32 per shaegheyear from fiscal year 2013 through 2023, asetl@n projections and assumptions that are
uncertain and subject to change. These projectindsaassumptions are based on preliminary informatitich may prove to be inaccurate. There
can be no assurance that we will realize the doereer diluted share, the net reductions in castsexpenses from the acquisition or the tax
benefits to the extent, or in the time frame, wecgrate. The market price of our common stock rdagline if the estimates are not realized or we
do not achieve the perceived benefits of the adtnsas rapidly or to the extent anticipated. B do not generate sufficient taxable income to
utilize the acquired net operating loss, or NOLryfarward before expiration, we will lose the b&hassociated with the NOL's acquired in the
Navilyst transaction as well as the substantialamsof NOL's we owned prior to the Navilyst acdios. There is the possibility that a futL
ownership change under Internal Revenue Code @) Section 382 could place a greater limitatiortt@use of the NOL, resulting in less NOL
carryforward available for use.

Subject to certain limitations, the holders of thestock issued in connection with the Navilyst acquition may sell our common stock, which
could cause our stock price to decline.

The shares of our common stock issued followingctirapletion of the acquisition of Navilyst weretially restricted, but the holders may
sell the shares of our common stock under cerfetnmstances. At the closing of the Navilyst acifais, we entered into a stockholders
agreement with certain of the Navilyst stockholdersich granted them certain registration rightthwespect to their shares of our common s
and imposed certain additional restrictions onrthbility to transfer their shares of our commarckt including, among other things, a
twelve month prohibition on the transfer of thersiseof our common stock issued in connection whithacquisition of Navilyst (other than
transfers to certain permitted transferees). Thevisvmonth prohibition on the transfer of theserab@xpired on May 22, 2013 and in August
2013 we filed a Form S-3 registration statemenh Wit SEC registering these shares for resalesdleeof a substantial number of our shares by
such parties or our other stockholders within atgheriod of time could cause our stock price tolide, make it more difficult for us to raise
funds through future offerings of our common stoclacquire other businesses using our common steclonsideration.

The presence of a significant stockholder may affethe ability of a third party to acquire control of us.

The former Navilyst stockholders, including investthfunds affiliated with Avista Capital Partndseneficially own approximately 27% of
our outstanding common stock. Certain of the foriavilyst stockholders entered into a stockhol@greement at the closing of the acquisition
that permits investment funds affiliated with AeésCapital Partners to appoint two directors toBaerd of Directors until such time as, with
respect to the first director, certain of the foriNavilyst stockholders’ beneficial ownership inhes been reduced below 20% of the then
outstanding voting shares and, with respect tsé&wend director, certain of the former Navilystc&twlders’ beneficial ownership in us has been
reduced below 10% of the then outstanding votiragesh Although these directors will not constitateajority of the Board of Directors, they
may
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exercise influence over the decisions of the bdaeid Burgstahler and Sriram Venkataraman wer@iapgd to our Board of Directors on
May 22, 2012.

Having certain of the former Navilyst stockholdassour significant stockholders of us may haveeffect of making it more difficult for a
third party to acquire, or of discouraging a thpatty from seeking to acquire, a majority of outstanding common stock or control of our Board
of Directors through a proxy solicitation. In thragard, these stockholders and their controlleiiaaéfs are obligated pursuant to the stockholders
agreement, in certain circumstances, not to tratiséér shares of our common stock, in whole goant, pursuant to any recapitalization,
reclassification, consolidation, merger, share arge or other business combination transactioniimgus or pursuant to any tender, exchange
or other similar offer for our common stock unldssgach case, the Board of Directors recommencls tsansaction or offer or fails to
recommend that our stockholders reject such traiosagor offer.

For the period from the date that is one year ftloendate of the stockholders agreement until tis¢ diate that certain of the former Navilyst
stockholders no longer beneficially own at leastfgercent (10%) of the voting securities outstagdinsuch time, the applicable former Navilyst
stockholders agree to vote all voting securitientbwned by them either, in the sole discretioeaufh stockholder, (1) in accordance with the
recommendation of our Board or (2) in proportiorihte votes cast with respect to the voting se@sitiot owned by the applicable former Nav
stockholders with respect to any business or paposwhich our stockholders are entitled to vitat any time following one (1) year from the
date of the stockholders agreement, certain ofdimeer Navilyst stockholders beneficially own l¢kan fifteen percent (15%) of the voting
securities then outstanding and there is no stddkhdesignee then serving on our Board pursuathietgtockholders agreement, the applicable
former Navilyst stockholders may vote all votingseties then owned by them in their own discretion

If we fail to develop or market new products and ehance existing products, we could lose market shate our competitors and our results
of operations could suffer.

The market for interventional devices is charazestiby rapid technological change, new producbéhictions, technological improvemel
changes in physician requirements and evolvingstrghistandards. To be successful, we must contmmdevelop and commercialize new
products and to enhance versions of our existingymsts. Our products are technologically complex r@guire significant research, planning,
design, development and testing before they mapdn&eted. This process generally takes at leagi 18 months from initial concept and may
take up to several years. In addition, productdifeles are relatively short because medical deviaeufacturers continually develop smaller,
more effective and less expensive versions of iegjstevices in response to physician demand.

Our success in developing and commercializing nesvemhanced versions of our products is affecteoupyability to:
e recruit engineer
« timely and accurately identify new market trel
e accurately assess customer ne
* minimize the time and costs required to obtain leguy clearance or approv
e adopt competitive pricin
« timely manufacture and deliver produ
e accurately predict and control costs associateld thi¢é development, manufacturing and support opooducts; an
« anticipate and compete effectively with our cetitprs’ efforts

Market acceptance of our products depends in paouo ability to demonstrate that our productscargt-effective and easier to use, as well
as offer technological advantages. Additionally,may experience design, manufacturing, marketingttoer difficulties that could delay or
prevent our development, introduction or marketihgew products or new versions of our existingdoieis. As a result of such difficulties and
delays, our development expenses may increaseagamdconsequence, our results of operations catflet.s

We face intense competition in the medical devicadustry. We may be unable to compete effectively i respect to technological
innovation and price which may have an adverse effé on our revenues, financial condition or result®f operations.

The markets for our products are highly competjtared we expect competition to continue to intgnde may not be able to compete
effectively, and we may lose market share to oanpetitors. Our primary device competitors incluBeston Scientific Corporation; Cook
Medical; C.R. Bard; Medical Components, Inc., orddemp; Arrow International, a subsidiary of TeleFMedical; Smiths Medical, a subsidiary
of Smiths Group plc; Vascular Solutions; Covidiemsidiaries (Kendall, VNUS, EV3); Merit Medical; ieno Medical Corporation; Total Vein
Systems and Biolitec. Many of our competitors hswestantially greater:
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« financial and other resources to devote to prodogtisitions, research and development, marketidgr@anufacturing
e variety of product:

e technical capabilitie

< history of developing and introducing new prodt

e patent portfolios that may present an obstacleitaonduct of busines

e name recognition; al

« distribution networks and iheuse sales forct

Our competitors may succeed in developing techiesognd products earlier, in obtaining patent mtida or regulatory clearance earlier,
or in commercializing new products or technologiese rapidly than us. Our competitors may also ligvproducts and technologies that are
superior to those we are developing or that otherwould render our products obsolete or noncotiyeetin addition, we may face competition
from providers of other medical therapies, suchtemaceutical companies, that may offer sargical therapies for conditions that are curge
or in the future, may be treated using our produ@ts products are generally sold at higher prihaa those of our competitors. However, in the
current environment of managed care, which is ctaraed by economically motivated buyers, consdi@h among healthcare providers,
increased competition and declining reimbursematetsy we are increasingly being required to competidie basis of price. If we are not able to
compete effectively, our market share and revemagsdecline.

Development and sales of our NanoKnife Ablation prducts are dependent on a number of factors beyondiocontrol, and our inability to
successfully complete our research and developmengsign and marketing strategy with respect to Narknife Ablation may adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resust of operations.

A significant aspect of our growth strategy is toatinued development of our NanoKnife Ablationguots. There can be no guarantee that
we will be able to develop and manufacture addéiavext generation or updated NanoKnife Ablatiooducts on commercially favorable terms,
or at all. NanoKnife Ablation is a developing teology and the inability of NanoKnife Ablation tolg@eve clinical acceptance could severely |
the sales of NanoKnife Ablation products.

We currently have FDA 510(k) clearance to market®¥nife Ablation products for soft tissue ablatitinwe are not able to secure FDA
approval to conduct investigational device exemmp(l®E) trials or marketing approval for additioral more specific indications, through 510(K)
clearance, pre-market approval or otherwise, ollityatb market our NanoKnife Ablation products Wile restricted which may have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.

We may be exposed to risks associated with acquisits, including integration risks and risks associed with methods of financing and the
impact of accounting treatment. Accordingly, compléd acquisitions may not enhance our financial poson or results of operations.

Part of our growth strategy is to acquire businessel technologies that are complementary to dimexe is no assurance that acquisition
opportunities will be available on acceptable teransat all, or that we will be able to obtain nexary financing or regulatory approvals. Any
acquisitions that we do undertake would be accomegdny the risks commonly encountered in acquis#joncluding the:

e potential disruption of our business while walete opportunities, complete acquisitions ancebbgvand implement new business
strategies to take advantage of these opportunities

< inability of our management to maximize our fiogl and strategic position by incorporating aguaed technology or business into
our existing offerings;

« difficulty of maintaining uniform standards, congpprocedures and polici

« difficulty of assimilating the operations and paersel of acquired business

* potential loss of key employees of acquired hesses, and the impairment of relationships withleyees and customers as a result
of changes in management; and

e uncertainty as to the lortgrm success of any acquisitions we may n

There is no assurance that any completed acquisitiibbe accretive to our margins or profits irethort term or in the long term. If we
proceed with one or more significant acquisitiamsvhich the consideration consists of cash, a ankiat portion of our available cash could be
used to consummate the acquisitions. If we consumprae or more acquisitions in which the considenatonsists of capital stock, our
stockholders could suffer significant dilution betr interest in us. In addition, we could incuragsume significant amounts of indebtedness in
connection with acquisitions. Further, acquisitionsild also result in significant goodwill and/anartization charges for acquired businesses or
technologies.
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We may not be successful in achieving expected opéng efficiencies and sustaining or improving opeating expense reductions, and me
experience business disruptions associated with tascturing, facility consolidations, realignment, and other cost reducing initiatives.

During the past year we have begun to implemenbparational excellence initiatives which includewamber of restructuring, realignm
and cost reduction initiatives. While we have madi some efficiencies from these actions, we mayeaadize the benefits of these initiatives tc
extent we anticipated. Further, such benefits nayehlized later than expected, and the ongoirfiguliies in implementing these measures
be greater than anticipated, which could cause uscur additional costs or result in businessutisons. In addition, if these measures are
successful or sustainable, we may undertake additi@alignment and cost reduction efforts, whiolild result in significant additional charc
Moreover, if our restructuring and realignment ef@rove ineffective, our ability to achieve odher strategic goals and business plans m.
adversely affected

Our strategic initiatives, including acquisitions,may not produce the intended growth in revenue andperating income.

Our strategies include making significant investtaga achieve revenue growth and margin improveragets. During our fiscal year
ended May 31, 2013, we completed the acquisitioviasfex Medical and certain assets of Microsulisdidal. If we do not achieve the expected
benefits from these investments or otherwise faéxecute on our strategic initiatives, we mayauttieve the growth improvement we are
targeting and our results of operations may be aéleaffected.

If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual poperty rights, we may not be able to generate reveies from new or existing products anc
our business may suffer.

Our success depends in part on obtaining, mainiiand enforcing our patents, trademarks and qttogrietary rights, and our ability to
avoid infringing the proprietary rights of otheW§e take precautionary steps to protect our teclyicdd advantages and intellectual property. We
rely upon patent, trade secret, copyright, know-laon trademark laws, as well as license agreenaadtsontractual provisions, to establish our
intellectual property rights and protect our pradulowever, no assurances can be made that adijngeor future patent applications will result
in the issuance of patents, that any current aréupatents issued to, or licensed by, us willbethallenged or circumvented by our competitors,
or that our patents will not be found invalid.

Additionally, we may not be able to effectively tgot our rights in unpatented technology, tradeete@nd confidential information.
Although we require our new employees, consultantscorporate partners to execute invention disotoand confidentiality agreements, these
agreements may not provide effective protectioawfinformation or, in the event of unauthorizeé os disclosure, may not provide adequate
remedies.

If we are not able to adequately protect our iat#lial property, our market share, financial caadiand results of operations may suffer.

If third parties claim that our products infringe t heir intellectual property rights, we may be forcedto expend significant financial
resources and management time defending against $uactions and our financial condition and our resuts of operations could suffer.

Third parties may claim that our products infrirtgeir patents and other intellectual property sgidentifying third-party patent rights can
be particularly difficult because, in general, pat@pplications can be maintained in secrecy féeagt 18 months after their earliest priority date
Some companies in the medical device industry biged intellectual property infringement litigatittngain a competitive advantage. If a
competitor were to challenge our patents, licensegher intellectual property rights, or asseat thur products infringe its patent or other
intellectual property rights, we could incur sulbsi@ litigation costs, be forced to make expensikianges to our product design, pay royalties or
other fees to license rights in order to continwnuaiacturing and selling our products, or pay suligl damages. Third-party infringement
claims, regardless of their outcome, would not adgsume our financial resources but also divertimanagement’s time and effort. Such claims
could also cause our customers or potential cus®togurchase competitors’ products or defermitliheir purchase or use of our affected
products until resolution of the claim.
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We are dependent on single and limited source supets which subjects our business and results of ogaions to risks of supplier business
interruptions.

We currently purchase significant amounts of seévera products and product components from singklamited source suppliers and
anticipate that we will do so for future producssveell. Any delays in delivery of or shortageshinge or other products and components could
interrupt and delay manufacturing of our producis gesult in the cancellation of orders for ourduats. Any or all of these suppliers could
discontinue the manufacture or supply of these ytsdand components at any time. Due to FDA anerdithsiness considerations, we may n
able to identify and integrate alternative souresupply in a timely fashion or at all. Any tratisn to alternate suppliers may result in produtctio
delays and increased costs and may limit our ghditeliver products to our customers. Furthermibnge are unable to identify alternative
sources of supply, we would have to modify our piad to use substitute components, which may odeisg's in shipments, increased design and
manufacturing costs and increased prices for cadtymts.

Cost-containment efforts of group purchasing orgargations could adversely affect our selling pricesinancial position and results of
operations.

Many of our existing and potential customers hageolme members of group purchasing organizationSP@s, and integrated delivery
network, or IDNs, in an effort to reduce costs. GR@d IDNs negotiate pricing arrangements withtheate product manufacturers and
distributors and offer the negotiated prices tdiaféd hospitals and other members. GPOs and §pisally award contracts on a category-by-
category basis through a competitive bidding precBg&ls are generally solicited from multiple maamtbirers with the intention of driving down
pricing. Due to the highly competitive nature of tBPO and IDN contracting processes, we may nableeto obtain market prices for our
products or obtain or maintain contract positionithwinajor GPOs and IDNs, which could adversely iotgaur profitability.

Economic instability could continue to adversely déct the Company.

In recent years financial markets and the economitte United States and internationally have kmegueriencing a period of upheaval
characterized by the bankruptcy, failure, collapseale of various financial institutions, severéiginished liquidity and credit availability,
declines in consumer confidence, declines in ecangnowth, increases in unemployment rates andnteiogy about economic stability. These
conditions may continue and could worsen. As altehie global economic environment may, among iothiegs, create downward pressure on
the pricing of our products, increase the saleteaytccertain products and slow the adoption of mesthnology, any of which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial posaiot results of operations.

Our industry is experiencing greater scrutiny and regulation by governmental authorities, which has k& to certain costs and business
distractions as we respond to inquiries and complwith new regulations, and may lead to greater govemental regulation in the future.

Our medical devices and our business activitiesalbgect to rigorous regulation by the FDA and ntous other federal, state and foreign
governmental authorities. These authorities and Ineesnof Congress have been increasing their sgratiour industry. In addition, certain stat
including Massachusetts, have recently passeceararsidering legislation restricting our interant with health care providers and requiring
disclosure of many payments to them. The federabigonent has recently introduced similar legiskatiwhich may or may not preempt state
laws. Recent Supreme Court case law has clarffigdthe FDA'’s authority over medical devices pretngpate tort laws, but legislation has been
introduced at the federal level to allow staterveation, which could lead to increased and incgiesit regulation at the state level. We anticipate
that the government will continue to scrutinize mdustry closely, and that additional regulatigngovernmental authorities may increase
compliance costs, exposure to litigation and o#fuerse effects to our operations.

Our international sales and operations are subjed risks and uncertainties that vary by country andwhich could have a material adverse
effect on our business and/or results of operations

Sales outside the United States accounted for appately 19% of our net sales during our fiscalryeaded May 31, 2014. We anticipate
that sales from international operations will con# to represent a significant portion of our tstles, and we intend to continue our expansion
into emerging and/or faster-growing markets outtiideUnited States. Our sales and profitabilityrfrour international operations are subject to
risks and uncertainties that can vary by countng, iaclude those related to political and econotoieditions, foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations, changes in tax laws, regulatory aichbursement programs and policies, and the pioteof intellectual property rights. These ri
and uncertainties could have a material adversetedin our business and/or results of operations.
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Consolidation in the healthcare industry could havean adverse effect on our revenues and results gi@rations.

Many healthcare industry companies, including meddievice companies, are consolidating to createammpanies with greater market
power. As the healthcare industry consolidates,patition to provide goods and services to indupasticipants will become more intense. These
industry participants may try to use their markatvpr to negotiate price concessions or reductionsiedical devices that incorporate
components produced by us. If we are forced toaedur prices because of consolidation in the heate industry, our revenues would decrease
and our consolidated earnings, financial condit@rgash flow would suffer.

Healthcare policy changes, including recent laws teeform the U.S. healthcare system, may have a mais adverse effect on our revenues
financial position and results of operations.

Healthcare costs have risen significantly overphst decade. There have been, and continue tadpmgals by legislators, regulators, and
third-party payors to keep these costs down. Gepriposals, if passed, would impose limitationghenprices we will be able to charge for our
products, or the amounts of reimbursement avaiffalleur products from governmental agencies adtparty payors. These limitations could
have a material adverse effect on our financiaitipmsand results of operations.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhare Act (the “PPACA”) was adopted and enacttmlaw. Effective January 1, 2014,
most of the core pieces of the PPACA went intoaff€Ehere are many programs and requirements fahathe details have not yet been fully
established or consequences not fully understaatijtas unclear what the full impact of the legtébn will be. The PPACA includes a provision
that imposes a 2.3% excise tax on the sale ofinartadical devices by a manufacturer, producemmoiter of such devices in the United States
starting after December 31, 2012. The PPACA aldaaes Medicare and Medicaid payments to hospitalschnical laboratories, which could
reduce medical procedure volumes and impact theddrfor our products or the prices at which we aatlproducts. While the PPACA is
intended to expand health insurance coverage tesured persons in the United States, other elenoétités legislation, the impact of any overall
increase in access to healthcare on sales of odupis remains uncertain. In addition, the costsoafpliance with the PPACA’s new reporting
and disclosure requirements with regard to paymentsher transfers of value made to healthcareigeos may have a material, negative impact
on our results of operations and our cash flowsiova healthcare reform proposals have also emexpte: state level. We cannot predict the
exact effect newly enacted laws or any future lagn or regulation will have on us. However, ttiplementation of the PPACA, and new
legislation and regulation may lower reimbursemémt®ur products, reduce medical procedure voluamesadversely affect our business,
possibly materially. In addition, the enacted exd¢ex may materially and adversely affect our ofiregeexpenses and results of operations.

If we do not maintain our reputation with interventional physicians, our growth will be limited and ou business could be harmed.

Physicians typically influence the medical deviceghasing decisions of the hospitals and othetthesale institutions in which they
practice. Consequently, our reputation with intati@al physicians is critical to our continued\gtb. We believe that we have built a positive
reputation based on the quality of our products piiysician-driven product development efforts, marketing and training efforts and our
presence at medical society meetings. Any actupémzeived diminution in the quality of our prodsjabr our failure or inability to maintain these
other efforts, could damage our reputation witkernentional physicians and cause our growth tarbigeld and our business to be harmed.

Our business could be harmed if we lose the servicef our key personnel.

Our business depends upon our ability to attragtratain highly qualified personnel, including mgesal, sales and technical personnel.
We compete for key personnel with other comparhiealthcare institutions, academic institutions,erament entities and other organizations.
do not have written employment agreements withexecutive officers, other than the CEO. Our abilitynaintain and expand our business may
be impaired if we are unable to retain our curkayt personnel or hire or retain other qualifiedspenel in the future.

Undetected defects may increase our costs and imp#ie market acceptance of our products.

Our products have occasionally contained, and malya future contain, undetected defects. Wheretpesblems occur, we must divert the
attention of our engineering personnel to addtesst There is no assurance that we will not incaranty or repair costs, be subject to liability
claims for damages related to product defectsxpemence manufacturing, shipping or other delayisterruptions as a result of these defects in
the future. Our insurance policies may not pro@dgicient
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protection should a claim be asserted. In addittemoccurrence of defects may result in significstomer relations problems and injury to our
reputation, and may impair market acceptance opoaniucts.

If a product liability claim is brought against us or our product liability insurance coverage is inagtquate, our business could be harmed.

The design, manufacture and marketing of the tgpesedical devices we sell entail an inherent aégroduct liability. Our products are
used by physicians to treat seriously ill patieki¥e. are periodically subject to product liabilitiiens, and patients or customers may in the future
bring claims against us in a number of circumstarag®l for a number of reasons, including if oudpids were misused, if a component of our
product fails, if their manufacture or design wiasved, if they produced unsatisfactory results ¢ie instructions for use and operating manuals
and disclosure of product related risks for ourdpiais were found to be inadequate. In additionyiddals or groups seeking to represent a class
may file suit against us. The outcome of litigatiparticularly class action lawsuits, is diffictdt assess or quantify. Plaintiffs in these types of
lawsuits often seek recovery of very large or ied@inate amounts, including not only actual damalesalso punitive damages. The magnitude
of the potential losses relating to these lawsugy remain unknown for substantial periods of time.

We carry a product liability policy with a limit 10,000,000 per product liability claim and anr@ggte policy limit of $10,000,000,
subject to a self-insured retention of of $500,p800ccurrence and $1,250,000 in the aggregatéalieve, based on claims made against us in
the past, our existing product liability insurarmoerage is reasonably adequate to protect usdrgntiabilities we might incur. However, there
no assurance that this coverage will be suffidiersatisfy any claim made against us. In additie&may not be able to continue to maintain
adequate coverage at a reasonable cost and omabésterms, if at all. Any product liability claibrought against us, with or without merit,
could increase our product liability insurance sate prevent us from securing any coverage inuhed. Additionally, if one or more product
liability claims is brought against us for uninstitebilities or is in excess of our insurance aage, our financial condition and results of
operations could be negatively impacted. Furthehslaims may require us to recall some of oudpets, which could result in significant costs
to us and could divert management’s attention fooimbusiness.

Changes in reimbursement levels by governmental ather third-party payors for procedures using our products may cause our revenues
to decline.

Our products are purchased principally by hospitalghysicians which typically bill various thirdagy payors, such as governmental
programs (e.g. Medicare, Medicaid and comparabikido programs), private insurance plans and mahege plans, for the healthcare services
provided to their patients. The ability of our arskrs to obtain appropriate reimbursement for petsdand services from third-party payors is
critical to the success of medical device compabé=zuse it affects which products customers psechad the prices they are willing to pay.
Reimbursement varies by country and can signifigamipact the acceptance of new technology. Impleiaieon of healthcare reforms in the
United States and in other countries may limituedor eliminate reimbursement for our productsaaheersely affect both our pricing flexibility
and the demand for our products. Even when we dpvepromising new product, we may find limited @eh for the product unless
reimbursement approval is obtained from private gmekrnmental third party payors.

Third-party payors have adopted, and are contintgraglopt, a number of healthcare policies intertdezirb rising healthcare costs. These
policies include:
e controls on governmefitnded reimbursement for healthcare services aied pontrols on medical products and services perg
« challenges to the pricing of medical procedunelimits or prohibitions on reimbursement for sifieadlevices and therapies through
other means; and
« the introduction of managed care systems in whialthcare providers contract to provide comprsive healthcare for a fixed cost
per person.

We are unable to predict whether federal, stateaal healthcare reform legislation or regulatidieeting our business may be proposed or
enacted in the future, or what effect any suchslagon or regulation would have on our busine$wmr@es in healthcare systems in the United
States or elsewhere in a manner that significaetlyces reimbursement for procedures using ouraakdévices or denies coverage for these
procedures, or adverse decisions relating to aaymts by administrators of these systems in cgeeoa reimbursement issues, would have an
adverse impact on the acceptance of our produdtshenprices which our customers are willing to fiythem.

If we cannot obtain and maintain marketing clearane or approval from governmental agencies, we willat be able to sell our products.

Our products are medical devices that are subjeettensive regulation in the United States arttiérforeign countries in which they are
sold. Unless an exemption applies, each medicateelat we wish to market in the United Statestmus
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receive either 510(k) clearance or premarket agdr@®MA) from the U.S. Food and Drug Administratiem the FDA, before the product can be
sold. Either process can be lengthy and expenshe FDA’s 510(k) clearance procedure, also knowtpemmarket notification,” is the process
we have used for our current products. This proassally takes from four to 12 months from the datgepremarket notification is submitted to
the FDA, but may take significantly longer. Althdugre have obtained 510(k) clearances for our cupeducts, our clearances may be revoked
by the FDA if safety or effectiveness problems depevith the devices. The PMA process is much noosly, lengthy and uncertain. It gener:
takes from one to three years from the date thécapipn is submitted to, and filed with, the FDand may take even longer. Regulatory regimes
in other countries similarly require approval cgarlance prior to our marketing or selling prodircthose countries. We rely on our distributor
obtain regulatory clearances or approvals of oadpcts outside of the United States. If we are lenbobtain additional clearances or approvals
needed to market existing or new products in thieeddrStates or elsewhere or obtain these clearanmagsprovals in a timely fashion or at all, or
if our existing clearances are revoked, our reveramal profitability may decline.

If we or some of our suppliers fail to comply withthe FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, and dier applicable postmarket
requirements, our manufacturing operations could bedisrupted, our product sales and profitability codd suffer, and we may be subject to
a wide variety of FDA enforcement actions.

After a device is placed on the market, numerogaletory requirements apply. We are subject toénpn and marketing surveillance by
the FDA to determine our compliance with all regoitg requirements. Our failure to comply with apphble regulatory requirements could result
in the FDA or a court instituting a wide varietyarfforcement actions against us, including a pulliarning Letter"; an order to shut down some
or all manufacturing operations; a recall of pradutines or civil penalties; seizure or detentidrour products; refusing our requests for 510(k)
clearance or a premarket approval, or PMA, of nemadified products; withdrawing 510(k) clearanecd”®1A approvals already granted to us;
and criminal prosecution.

Our manufacturing processes and those of somerafumpliers must comply with the FDA’s Quality Syrst Regulation, or QSR, which
governs the methods used in, and the facilitiescamtrols used for, the
design, testing, manufacture, control, quality emsce, installation, servicing, labeling, packagsigrage and shipping of medical devices. The
FDA enforces the QSR through unannounced inspextlbave, or one of our suppliers, fail a QSR ingjmn, or if a corrective action plan
adopted by us or one of our suppliers is not sieffic the FDA may bring an enforcement action, andoperations could be disrupted and our
manufacturing delayed. We are also subject to bw'§ general prohibition against promoting our puots for unapproved or “off-labelises, th
FDA'’s adverse event reporting requirements and-th&’s reporting requirements for field correctiongroduct removals. The FDA has recently
placed increased emphasis on its scrutiny of canpé with the QSR and these other postmarket egaints.

On May 27, 2011, we received a Warning Letter ftbsmFDA in connection with its inspection of our&gmsbury, NY manufacturing
facility. In the Warning Letter, the FDA cited degncies in the response letter we provided td-DA pertaining to the inspection that occurred
from January 4 to January 13, 2011. The deficien@ated to our internal procedures for medicaladereporting, corrections and removals and
complaint handling. We responded to the Warningdretnd completed corrective and preventive actiorzgldress the observations noted.

In December 2011, we initiated a comprehensive iquahll to Action Program to review and augment Quality Management Systems at
our Queensbury, NY facility. To accelerate impletagion of the program, we engaged a team of exteegalatory and quality experts and
reallocated a significant number of engineering ammdluct development resources to support thisorate initiative. From inception of the
Quality Call to Action Program through fiscal 203 incurred $3.2 million in direct costs assodatdth the program.

On February 10, 2012, we received from the FDA mr~83, List of Investigational Observations, imnection with its inspection of our
Queensbury, NY facility from November 14, 2011 &bFuary 10, 2012. The Form 483 contained 12 obsensrelated to, among other things,
our CAPA (Corrective and Preventive Action) systdR (Medical Device Reporting), complaint investign, corrections and removals,
acceptance criteria and training. Some of the elsiens contained in the Form 483 were repeat #htiens from the May 27, 2011 Warning
Letter described above.

On February 13, 2012, we received from the FDA mri~83 in connection with its inspection of our et facility from January 12, 20
to February 13, 2012. The Form 483 contained steplations related to, among other things, our CAlPgtem, design controls, risk
management and training. We provided responseB£ovthin 15 business days of our receipt of therfrd83.

On September 24, 2012, we received from FDA a F88in connection with its subsequent inspectioawfQueensbury, NY facility
from September 6 to September 14, and September3@ptember 24. This re-inspection followed
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our response to the original Form 483 issued by EDAebruary 13, 2012. The Form 483 containeddh&ervations related to 510(k) decisions,
complaint investigations, acceptance criteria, edive and preventive actions and training. All bogé of the observations in the Form 483 related
to events that occurred before the date that werttichted to FDA in our previous responses thatoourective and remediation activities related
to our Quality Call to Action would be completedeWWrovided responses to FDA within 15 business dagsir receipt of the Form 483.

On February 4, 2014, FDA completed a compreherisil@v-up inspection of our Queensbury facility. The ing began on January !
2014 and resulted in FDA issuing a Form 483 coirtginne observation. The observation related tartbensistency of certain complaint
investigation elements in certain devices that Hereware and disposable components. The Form d&83wation was annotated to reflect that
during the inspection we had corrected the issue tlais correction was verified by the inspectaraddition, we provided a response to FDA
within 15 business days of our receipt of the Fd88. We believe that the results of this inspectialidate that all of the Quality System and
current Good Manufacturing Practice issues raisele 483s described above have been fully addtesse

On March 31, 2014, FDA completed an inspectionuwf®lens Falls, NY facility. The inspection beganMarch 17, 2014 and resulted in
FDA issuing a form 483 containing 3 observatiortse ©bservations were related to 1) inconsisteneyrafinufacturing product test process used
among similar products, 2) a particular verificatiest of a product, and 3) non-conforming proaacttrol procedure. We responded to the FDA
within 15 business days of the receipt of the F48&.

During the fourth quarter of our fiscal year endiéaly 31, 2014, we received Certificate to Foreigrv€aments (CFGs) from the FDA
covering all Vascular Access and Peripheral Vasquiaducts manufactured in our Queensbury facility.

We will continue to work closely with FDA to resehany outstanding issues. Unless the items ramsteipreviously disclosed Warning
Letters and Form 483s are corrected to the FDAlsfaation or we come to some other arrangemett thié FDA finally resolving such matters,
we may be subject to additional regulatory or legdion, including the issuance of warning lettarginction, seizure or recall of products,
imposition of fines or penalties or operating riesitsns on our facilities. Such actions could sfigintly disrupt our ongoing business and
operations and have a material adverse impact pfirancial position and operating results.

If we, or one of our suppliers, violate the FDA&xuirements or fail to take adequate correctiveadh response to any significant
compliance issue raised by the FDA, the FDA car taltious enforcement actions which could causemduct sales and profitability to suffer.

In addition, most other countries require us andsoppliers to comply with manufacturing and gyadissurance standards for medical
devices that are similar to those in force in thetéd States before marketing and selling our petsdin those countries. If we, or our suppliers,
should fail to do so, we would lose our abilityn@rket and sell our products in those countries.

Even after receiving regulatory clearance or approal, our products may be subject to product recallsywhich may harm our reputation
and divert managerial and financial resources.

The FDA and similar governmental authorities inestbountries have the authority to order mandatecgll of our products or order their
removal from the market if there are material deficies or defects in design, manufacture, ingtafiaservicing or labeling of the device, or if
the governmental entity finds that our products M@ause serious adverse health consequences.efrgoent mandated voluntary recall or field
action by us could occur as a result of comporaihtres, manufacturing errors or design defectduiing labeling defects. Any recall of our
products may harm our reputation with customersdivert managerial and financial resources.

We may be subject to fines, penalties or injunctionif we are determined to be promoting the use ofuo products for unapproved or “off-
label” uses.

If we are incorrect in our belief that our promaoiid materials and training methods regarding pligssgcare conducted in compliance with
regulations of the FDA and other applicable regoiet, and the FDA determines that our promotionatiemals or training constitutes promotion
of an unapproved use, the FDA could request thahaaify our training or promotional materials obgct us to regulatory enforcement actions,
including the issuance of a warning letter, injumtt seizure, civil fine and criminal penalties.

On January 24, 2011, we received a Warning Letten the FDA in connection with our marketing of thanoKnife System. In the
Warning Letter, the FDA states that certain statémee made, including those on our company welsitenote the use of the NanoKnife
System beyond its currently cleared indications.rééponded to the FDA as necessary and intend o clasely with them to resolve any
outstanding issues. While we believe we have belgnresponsive to the
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matters raised by the FDA in the Warning Lettegréhcan be no assurance that the FDA will be gadisfith our response. Therefore, we may be
subject to additional regulatory action by the Fi#|uding the issuance of a warning letter, infimt, seizure or recall of products, impositior
fines or penalties and any such actions could Sogmitly disrupt our business and operations ang leamaterial adverse impact on our financial
position and results of operations. It is also flsghat other federal, state or foreign enforcenaeithorities might take action if they consider
promotional or training materials to constituterpagion of an unapproved use, which could resutigmificant fines or penalties under other
statutory authorities, such as laws prohibitingéatlaims for reimbursement.

Modifications to our current products may require new marketing clearances or approvals or require uto cease marketing or recall the
modified products until such clearances or approval are obtained.

Any modification to an FDA-cleared medical devibattcould significantly affect its safety or effeeness, or that would constitute a major
change or modification in its intended use, requaaew FDA 510(k) clearance or, possibly, a pr&atapproval. The FDA requires every
manufacturer to make its own determination as tettdr a modification requires a new 510(k) cleagaorcpremarket approval, but the FDA may
review and disagree with any decision reached byrtanufacturer. We have modified aspects of sonoeiroflevices since receiving regulatory
clearance. We believed that some of these modditadid not require new 510(k) clearance or préetaapproval and, therefore, we did not <
new 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals.drfuture, we may make additional modifications to products after they have received FDA
clearance or approval and, in appropriate circuntgts, determine that new clearance or approvairiseessary. Regulations in other countries in
which we market or sell, or propose to market dir ear products may also require that we make foegts about changes to our products and
whether or not those changes are such that regulapproval or clearance should be obtained. IrUihiéed States and elsewhere, regulatory
authorities may disagree with our past or futurgisiens not to seek new clearance or approval amdreguire us to obtain clearance or approval
for modifications to our products. If that weredwcur for a previously cleared or approved prodwetmay be required to cease marketing or
recall the modified device until we obtain the resaery clearance or approval. Under these circurmssamve may also be subject to significant
regulatory fines or other penalties. If any of theegoing were to occur, our financial conditiordarsults of operations could be negatively
impacted.

We are subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regutimns that could result in significant liability, require us to change our business
practices and restrict our operations in the future

We are subject to various federal, state and laged targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcahasiny, including anti-kickback and false
claims laws. Violations of these laws are punisddyl criminal or civil sanctions, including subgtahfines, imprisonment and exclusion from
participation in healthcare programs such as Mediaad Medicaid and health programs outside théedr8tates. These laws and regulations are
wide ranging and subject to changing interpretadiod application, which could restrict our salesnarketing practices. Furthermore, since many
of our customers rely on reimbursement from MedicMedicaid and other governmental programs torcawibstantial portion of their
expenditures, our exclusion from such programsrasut of a violation of these laws could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

If our employees or agents violate the U.S. ForeigBorrupt Practices Act or anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions, we may incur fines or
penalties, or experience other adverse consequences

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Prastfoet, or FCPA, and similar anti-bribery laws in@mational jurisdictions, including the
UK Anti-Bribery Act, which generally prohibit compis and their intermediaries from making impropgyments to non-U.S. officials for the
purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Becafiiee predominance of government-sponsored hesakhsystems around the world, many of
our customer relationships outside of the Uniteatetare with governmental entities and are thexefiobject to such anti-bribery laws. Our sales
to customers and distributors outside of the UnB&tes have been increasing and we expect theantmue to increase in the future. If our
employees or agents violate the provisions of BB A or other antbribery laws, we may incur fines or penalties, wayrbe unable to market ¢
products in other countries or we may experienbercdverse consequences which could have a ma@vierse effect on our operating result
financial condition.

Failure to attract additional capital which we mayrequire to expand our business could curtail our gowth.

We may require additional capital to expand ouiiness. If cash generated internally is insufficientund capital requirements, we will
require additional debt or equity financing. In #iga, we may require financing to fund any sigcéfint acquisitions we may seek to make. Ne
financing may not be available or, if available ynmat be available on terms satisfactory to usraag result in significant stockholder dilution.
Covenants in our existing financing agreements aisy restrict our ability to obtain additional déibencing. If we fail to obtain sufficient
additional capital in the future, we could be
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forced to curtail our growth strategy by reducimglelaying capital expenditures and acquisitioe8irg assets, restructuring our operations or
refinancing our indebtedness.

Any disaster at our manufacturing facilities coulddisrupt our ability to manufacture our products for a substantial amount of time, which
could cause our revenues to decrease.

We conduct our manufacturing and assembly at fexslin Queensbury, New York, Glens Falls, New Ydflanchester, Georgia, and
Denmead, England. It would be difficult, expensiwel time-consuming to transfer resources from enititf/ to the other, replace, or repair these
facilities and our manufacturing equipment if tivegre significantly affected by a disaster. Addittip, we might be forced to rely on third-party
manufacturers or to delay production of our progluctsurance for damage to our properties anditineption of our business from disasters may
not be sufficient to cover all of our potentialdes and may not continue to be available to usoeptable terms, or at all. In addition, if one of
our principal suppliers were to experience a sindlaaster, uninsured loss or under-insured lossnight not be able to obtain adequate
alternative sources of supplies or products oraéade significant delays and incur substantiakease in doing so. Any significant uninsured s
prolonged or repeated disruption, or inability feecate experienced by us or any of our principppBers could cause significant harm to our
business, financial condition and results of openat

Our future operating results are difficult to predict and may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, which may adversely affect the
price of our common stock.

The ongoing introduction of new products and sewithat affect our overall product mix make thedfmtgon of future operating results
difficult. You should not rely on our past revergrewth as any indication of future growth rate®perating results. The price of our common
stock will likely fall in the event that our opeirag results do not meet the expectations of arabystl investors. Comparisons of our quarterly
operating results are an unreliable indicationwffature performance because they are likely tg segnificantly based on many factors,
including:

« the level of sales of our products and servicesiinmarkets

* our ability to introduce new products or servicad anhancements in a timely man

« the demand for and acceptance of our productsemites

e the success of our competition and the introduaticalternative products or servic

e our ability to command favorable pricing for oupgducts and service

¢ the growth of the market for our devices and ses

« the expansion and rate of success of our déa@et force in the United States and internatigraaitl our independent distributors
internationally;

e actions relating to ongoing FDA compliar

« the effect of intellectual property disput

e the size and timing of orders from independentithstors or customer

« the attraction and retention of key personnattipularly in sales and marketing, regulatory, ofanturing and research and
development;

e unanticipated delays or an inability to controltsg

« general economic conditions as well as those dpeoibur customers and markets;

e seasonal fluctuations in revenue due to the electature of some procedul

Our stock price may be volatile, which may cause thvalue of our stock to decline or subject us tosecurities class action litigation.

The trading price of our common stock is likelyo® highly volatile and could be subject to widecfuations in price in response to various

factors, many of which are beyond our control, udahg:

e general economic, industry and market condit

e actions by institutional or other large stockhog;

¢ the depth and liquidity of the market for our commsbock

« volume and timing of orders for our produ

« developments generally affecting medical device games

« the announcement of new products or product enha@ees by us or our competitc

« changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossduyities analys

« investor perceptions of us and our business, imguchanges in market valuations of medical dev@mmpanies

e our results of operations and financial performe

In addition, the stock market in general, and tRSRAQ Stock Market and the market for medical desim particular, have experienced
substantial price and volume volatility that isesftseemingly unrelated to the operating performafhparticular companies. These broad market
fluctuations may cause the trading price of our emm stock to decline. In the past,
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securities class action litigation has often bemmupht against a company after a period of votgtiii the market price of its common stock. We
may become involved in this type of litigation hetfuture. Any securities litigation claims brougigiainst us could result in substantial expense
and the diversion of management’s attention frombmsiness.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational docunents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent@hange of control, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholderswhich could cause our stock price to decline angrevent attempts by our stockholders
to replace or remove our current management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaaind our amended and restated bylaws contairsprng that may enable our
management to resist a change in control. Thesésmwas may discourage, delay or prevent a chamgieei ownership of our company or a che
in our management. In addition, these provisionddcbimit the price that investors would be willing pay in the future for shares of our common
stock. Such provisions include:

e our board of directors is authorized, withoubpstockholder approval, to create and issue ‘lbleireck” preferred stock, with rights
senior to those of our common stock;

« our board of directors is classified so thatalbmembers of our board of directors are eleateshe time, which may make it more
difficult for a person who acquires control of ajardy of our outstanding voting stock to replaag directors;

e advance notice requirements for stockholdersotainate individuals to serve on our board of doecor for stockholders to submit
proposals that can be acted upon at stockholdetingeg

e stockholder action by written consent is prohibiteok

« stockholders are not permitted to accumulate thatis for the election of directc

We are also subject to the provisions of Sectidh @&the Delaware General Corporation Law, whicly mahibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock.

These and other provisions in our amended andieestartificate of incorporation, amended and tedthylaws and Delaware law could
make it more difficult for stockholders or potehtaquirers to obtain control of our board of dices or initiate actions that are opposed by our
then-current board of directors, including delayangmpeding a merger, tender offer or proxy cont@golving our company. Any delay or
prevention of a change of control transaction @ngjes in our board of directors could cause thé&eb@rice of our common stock to decline.

Our goodwill and intangible assets are subject togtential impairment.

A significant portion of our assets consists of dwil and intangible assets, the carrying valuevbfch may be reduced if we determine 1
those assets are impaired. At May 31, 2014, gobdwil intangible assets, net represented approaiyndb66 million, or approximately 71% of
our total assets.

Most of our intangible assets have determinabléulbees and are amortized over their useful lieeseither a straight-line basis or over the
expected period of benefit or as revenues are édrom the sales of the related products. The uyidgrassumptions regarding the estimated
useful lives of these intangible assets are revieavenually and more often if an event or circumstamccurs making it likely that the carrying
value of the assets may not be recoverable anadfmeted through accelerated amortization if neogss

We review our single reporting unit for potentialogiwill impairment in the third fiscal quarter ai@h year as part of our annual goodwill
impairment testing, and more often if an eventimuenstance occurs making it likely that impairmerists. We conduct impairment testing bz
on our current business strategy in light of pregedustry and economic conditions, as well asriiexpectations. The annual goodwill
impairment review performed in December 2013 inidano goodwill impairments.

If actual results differ from the assumptions astineates used in the goodwill and intangible asakulations, we could incur future
impairment or amortization charges, which couldategly impact our results of operations.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item 2. Properties

We own a manufacturing, administrative and warebdasility of approximately 189,000 square feeGiens Falls, New York acquired as
part of the Navilyst transaction. We own a manufeng, administrative, engineering and warehous#itigof approximately 129,000 square feet
situated on 18 acres in Queensbury, New York. yn 2009, we entered into an agreement to lease fen year period plus two fiwear renews
options, a 52,500 square foot office building irtHzan, New York to house our corporate headquaatedscertain business operations. The lease
commencement date was March 1, 2010. See Paetri, 7 of this annual report, “Management’s Disaussind Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital dteses,” for a discussion of this lease.

We lease an engineering facility of approximately0B0 square feet in Marlboro, Massachusetts aedj@is part of the Navilyst transaction.
We also lease additional properties including aufecturing facility of approximately 60,000 squéeet located in Manchester, Georgia which
also includes office space, 1,800 square feetfafeo$pace in Walnut Creek, California, 7,800 sguaet of sales and administrative offices in the
Netherlands, 7,500 square feet of office and manufeng in the United Kingdom and 1,600 square &dedales office space in Hambu
Germany. In addition, we have sales offices in HEpgg, China; Toronto, Canada; and Sydney, Australi

ltem 3. Legal Proceedings
AngioDynamics v. biolitet

On January 2, 2008, we commenced an action in tited)States District Court for the Northern Distiof New York entitled
AngioDynamics, Inc. v. biolitec, Inc. In this aaliowe are seeking judgment against biolitec foedsé and indemnification in two lawsuits which
we previously settled. Our claims arise out of @@y and Distribution Agreement (“SDA”) enteredanwith biolitec on April 1, 2002. On
September 27, 2011, the U.S. District Court forNogthern District of New York granted key portioofsour motion for summary judgment in «
legal case against biolitec. The Court’s order fitad under seal. The Court also dismissed bidkteounterclaims against us. The court denied
one portion of our summary judgment motion, whiohght to recover additional costs from biolite@vimg this for adjudication at trial. On
November 8, 2012, the Court granted partial judgrteens in the amount of $23.2 million. Biolitecpmaled this judgment. On August 23, 2C
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circushussed biolitec's appeal.

In October 2009, we commenced an action in theddrffitates District Court for the District of Madsasetts entitled AngioDynamics, Inc.
v. biolitec AG and Wolfgang Neuberger. The Compiairthis action was amended in March 2010. Thi®acseeks to recover against biolitec,
Inc.’s parent entities and CEO for tortiously iféeing with biolitec, Inc.’s contractual obligatida defend and indemnify us, and also seeks to
pierce the corporate veil of biolitec, Inc. andrtealidate certain alleged fraudulent transfersritier to hold biolitec, Inc.’s parent entities jiyn
and severally liable for the alleged breach ofSBA. This case is currently in the discovery ph&e September 13, 2012, the Massachusetts
Court granted our request for a preliminary injimreprohibiting the downstream merger of biolite@ Avith its Austrian subsidiary. On April 1,
2013, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Ciredfirmed the preliminary injunction. On March 18014, the District Court entered judgmer
our favor against Biolitec AG, Biomed Technologyléings, Ltd., and Wolfgang Neuberger, jointly amyarally, in the amount of $74.9 million.
The defendants have appealed this judgment, arapieal has not yet been briefed.

On August 29, 2013, we become mlaintiffs in an adversary proceeding in the Unisates Bankruptcy Court for the District of Newséy
entitled Cyganowski, Trustee, et al. v. BioliteSU.Inc., et al. In this action, we assert claifhsamversion, unjust enrichment, tortious
interference, and unfair competition against vagibiolitec entities for alleged violation of Bankitay Court settlement and sale orders under
which we acquired certain assets of Biolitec, [Bn.September 3, 2013, we, along with our co-plfjrtbtained a temporary restraining order
against the defendants in this action. The restrgiorder is still in place, and the Bankruptcy itds seriously considering our request for
permanent injunctive relief.

C.R. Bard, Inc. v. AngioDynamics, Inc.

On January 11, 2012, C.R. Bard, Inc. filed a suthe United States District Court of Utah claimgegtain of our implantable port products
infringe on patents held by them. Bard is seekingpecified damages and other relief. The CourtedkBard’s motion for pre-trial consolidation
with separate actions it filed on the same dayrejdledical Components, Inc. and Smiths Medical ABD., but has asked for supplemental
briefing on the issue of whether to conduct a comidarkman hearing. We filed petitions for reexantiorin the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office (PTO) which seek to invalidate all threequas asserted in the litigation. Our petitions hlaen granted and 40 of 41 patent claims have
been rejected. Bard has appealed all rejectiotiseett) SPTO Board of Appeals. The case has beendspeyaling final resolution of the PTO
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process. We believe these claims are without raadtintend to defend them vigorously. We have ectrded an expense related to the outcome
of this litigation because it is not yet possildedetermine if a potential loss is probable nosoeably estimable.

We are party to other legal actions that arisééndrdinary course of business. We believe thatiahility resulting from any currently
pending litigation will not, individually or in thaggregate, have a material adverse effect onuminéss, financial condition, results of operatj
or cash flows.
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Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
Part Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbwlder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Betes.
Our common stock is traded on The Global Selectkitaier of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (formerliig Nasdaq National Market),
under the symbol “ANGO.”

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quess indicated, the high and low sale prices farammmon stock as reported by The
NASDAQ Stock Market

Sale Price
High Low
Year ended May 31, 2014
Fourth Quarter $ 17.1C % 13.0¢
Third Quarter $ 19.0C $ 14.87
Second Quarter $ 16.2( $ 10.81
First Quarter $ 12.6: $ 10.5¢
Sale Price
High Low
Year ended May 31, 2013
Fourth Quarter $ 1262 $ 9.52
Third Quarter $ 12.5¢ % 10.27
Second Quarter $ 1291 % 10.0(
First Quarter $ 1258 $ 10.3¢

As of July 31, 2014, there were 273 record holdémur common stock.

Dividends

We did not declare any cash dividends on our comstoaeck during our last two fiscal years. We doaaticipate paying any cash dividends
on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

Share Repurchase Program

On October 5, 2011, our Board of Directors auttegtithe repurchase of up to $20 million of our comrstwck, prior to May 31, 2012. In
fiscal 2012, we purchased 142,305 shares at abtagproximately $2.1 million. This repurchase peog was no longer in effect during fiscal
2013 or 2014.

Performance Grapl

The graph below matches AngioDynamics, Inc.’s cuaativg 5-year total shareholder return on commoaokstath the cumulative total
returns of the NASDAQ Composite index, the RDG 3@&h Medical Devices index, and the NASDAQ Medigguipment index. The graph
tracks the performance of a $100 investment inconmmon stock and in each index (with the reinvestroéall dividends) from 5/31/2009 to
5/31/2014. The stock price performance includettig graph is not necessarily indicative of futareck price performance.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among AngioDynamics, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index, the NASDAQ Medical Equipment Index,
andthe RODG SmallCap Medical Devices Index
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* $100 invested on 5/31/09 in stock or index, ulthg reinvestment of dividends.

ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

You should read the following selected financiakda conjunction with our consolidated financittements and the related notes and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€@ahdition and Results of Operations” included elsesg in this annual report on Form KO-
The consolidated statements of operations datthéofiscal years ended May 31, 2014, May 31, 2ahd,May 31, 2012, and the consolidated
balance sheet data as of May 31, 2014 and May®1,Zre derived from the audited consolidatedfired statements that are included elsew
in this annual report on Form 10-K. The consolidattatements of operations data for the fiscalsyeaded May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, and
the consolidated balance sheet data as of May®@@P, May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, are derivehfour audited consolidated financial
statements not included in this annual report aomFt0-K. Historical results are not necessarilyicgatlve of the results of operations to be
expected for future periods. See Note A of “Note€bnsolidated Financial Statements” for a dedonpdf the method that we used to compute
our historical basic and diluted net income pereladtributable to common stockholders.
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Year ended

(Amounts in thousands, except per share informatign

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013 May 31, 2012 May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010
(b) (b) (d) (e (c)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Net sales $ 354,45! $ 342,02t $ 221,78 % 215,75( % 216,03t
Cost of sales 174,59: 173,03 95,82¢ 90,04" 89,06¢
Gross profit 179,86: 168,98! 125,95¢ 125,70: 126,96
Operating expenses
Research and development 27,51( 26,31¢ 20,51: 21,37: 19,27t
Sales and marketing 83,20( 76,12: 64,50: 58,12 60,92
General and administrative 26,03t 26,12° 18,33« 17,82¢ 16,43’
Amortization of intangibles 16,79° 16,34¢ 9,40¢ 9,23¢ 9,46:
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (1,71%) 1,58 — — —
Acquisition, restructuring and other items, net 10,76( 13,80( 16,16¢ 7,182 —
Medical device excise tax 3,82¢ 1,60( — — —
Total operating expenses 166,41: 161,89! 128,92( 113,74( 106,09¢
Operating income (loss) 13,44¢ 7,094 (2,967) 11,96: 20,87:
Other (expenses) income
Interest income — 10¢ 1,09( 737 71z
Interest expense (3,65¢) (5,277 (50¢) (499) (672)
Other (expenses) income (3,417) (2,569 (2,902 (1,509 (1,299
Total other (expenses) income, net (7,069 (7,737 (2,320 (1,26%) (1,2572)
Income (loss) before income tax provision 6,38( (6439) (5,287 10,69¢ 19,61¢
Income tax (benefit) provision 3,29: (32) (18¢) 2,581 7,301
Net income (loss) $ 3,08t % (612) $ (5,099 % 8,117 $ 12,31:
Earnings (loss) per share
Basic $ 0.0¢ $ (0.09) $ (0.200 $ 03 $ 0.5C
Diluted $ 0.0¢ $ (0.09) $ (0.200 $ 032 % 0.5C
Weighted average number of shares used in per share
calculation:
Basic 35,135,68 34,817,27 25,382,29 24,870,00 24,580,48
Diluted 35,439,85 34,817,27 25,382,29 25,132,76 24,786,84
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As of

May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securilies (a2 ~ $ 1791: $ 23,95 $ 40,07¢ $ 131,54: $ 100,07

Working capital 79,94: 78,07¢ 103,81t 168,79 145,33:
Total assets 800,15( 791,58: 721,76 437,42: 423,92
Long-term debt 137,66( 135,00( 142,50( 6,27¢ 6,55(
Retained earnings 32,65 29,56 30,17t 35,26¢ 27,15:
Total stockholders’ equity 537,89: 526,83l 523,52 405,63¢ 391,34¢

() Cash, cash equivalents and marketable semuiiitlude auction-rate investments of $1.8 milkoiMay 31, 2014, May 31, 2013, May 31,
2012, May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, and escroeivable of $2.5 million at May 31, 2012.

(b) The fiscal 2014 and 2013 results includedAicquisition, restructuring and other items, neék5.7 million and $7.6 million, respectively in
transaction and related costs of the Navilyst amdidsulis acquisitions, $0.5 million and $2.5 noill, respectively in costs associated \
the closure of the Cambridge, UK facility, $2.3 lfoih and $2 million, respectively in litigation dssand $1.6 million in impairment costs
associated with the discontinuance of a produerioff in 2013.

(c) The fiscal 2011 results included, in “Acquiisit, restructuring and other items, net”, $7.2 imillof impairment charges related to our
decision to not continue development of the Medrigihtport technology, the write down of Centrospai royalties (described in Note |
to the Consolidated Financial Statements) for &ftil information due to lower than anticipatedesadnd executive transition costs.

(d) The fiscal 2012 results included, in “Acquitsit, restructuring and other items, netL1® million in cost related to the Navilyst acqtiis,
$2.3 million in CEO and executive transition co$ts.8 million in costs associated with closing the facility, $604 thousand related to
the Microsulis strategic partnership, $465 thousarabsts related to patent litigation, partialffset by $201 thousand from the sale of the
Centros product line.

(e) In addition to the costs related to the Nastigcquisition defined in the preceding note (evabour balance sheet as of May 31, 2012 was
impacted by the acquisition which was financedtlgfothe issuance of approximately 9.5 million skareour common stock, $150
million in debt financing and $97 million in cashdditionally, at May 31, 2012, we had $2.5 millianescrow receivable and $2.4 million
in net deferred financing costs, recorded as a oot of other assets, on our balance sheet. SeeMNo the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional details of assets acduirel liabilities assumed at the date of acquisitio

ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@ditions and Results of Operations

The following information should be read togethéhwhe audited consolidated financial statementsthe notes thereto and other
information included elsewhere in this annual réporForm 10-K.

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 10-K, including the e entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analg$iginancial Condition and Results
of Operations”, contains forward-looking statemewithin the meaning of the Private Securities Latign Reform Act of 1995. All statements
regarding AngioDynamics’ expected future finangasition, results of operations, cash flows, bussrgrategy, budgets, projected costs, capital
expenditures, products, competitive positions, ghospportunities, acquisitions, plans and objestivEmanagement for future operations, as well
as statements that include the words such as “expéeaffirms,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “plan’;believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” or variations
of such words and similar expressions, are forvaolting statements. These forward looking statesarg not guarantees of future performance
and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Investe cautioned that actual events or resultsdifgr from our expectations. Factors that may
affect the actual results include, without limitettj our ability to develop our existing and newdarats, future actions by the FDA or other
regulatory agencies, results of pending or futlireéaal trials, the results of ongoing litigatiooyerall economic conditions, general market
conditions, market acceptance, foreign currenchamge rate fluctuations, the effects on pricingrfigroup purchasing organizations and
competition, the loss of any of our key customerseduction in the purchase of our products bywh £ustomers, and our ability to integrate
acquired businesses as well as the risk factdesllia Part |, Item 1A of this annual report onfRdt0-K.

”u "

Although we believe that the assumptions underlyfregforward-looking statements contained hereénraasonable, any of the assumptions
could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can tassrance that the forward-looking statementsid®d in this annual report on Form 10-K will
prove to be accurate. In light of the significantertainties inherent in the
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forward-looking statements included herein, thausion of such information should not be regarded aepresentation by us or any other person
that our objectives and plans will be achieved. forwardiooking statements are made pursuant to the Prieaterities Litigation Reform Act
1995 and, as such, speak only as of the date éeléisclaim any obligation to update the forwardkimg statements. Investors are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on these forward-lapkiatements which speak only as of the date statefino date is stated, as of the date of this
report.

Overview

The following table sets forth our aggregate nitsstrom the following product categories for castithree fiscal years ending May 31.:

2014 2013 2012
% of % of % of
Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales
Peripheral Vascular $ 192,65¢ 54% $ 179,68: 53% $ 95,20( 43%
Vascular Access 106,39« 30% 106,69 31% 63,857 2%%
Oncology/Surgery 49,36( 14% 47,15t 14% 62,73( 28%
Supply Agreement 6,04t 2% 8,49¢ 2% — —%
Total $ 354,45! 10% $ 342,02¢ 10(% $ 221,78 10(%

We sell our products in the United States througdirect sales force and outside the U.S. througbnabination of direct sales and
distributor relationships. For fiscal years 201412 and 2012, net sales outside the U.S. were P®,and 15% , respectively.

Our growth depends in large part on the continueusduction of new and innovative products, togethith ongoing enhancements to our
existing products, through internal product devedept, technology licensing and strategic allian@és.recognize the importance of, and intend
to continue to make investments in, research amdldement. For fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, ourare$eand development (“R&D”)
expenditures were $ 27.5 million , $ 26.3 milliamdeb 20.5 million , respectively, and constitute®8% , 7.7% and 9.2%respectively, of net salt
R&D expenses include costs to develop new prodeatsance existing products, validate new and emthpmducts, manage clinical, regulatory
and medical affairs and our intellectual propef8ee page 9, Part |, Item 1 for additional infolioratelated to R&D.)

We are also seeking to grow through selective adtpris of complementary businesses and technaotyieJanuary 2007, we completed
the acquisition of RITA Medical Systems, Inc., diTR. The acquisition created a diversified medigmhnology company with a broad line of
access, diagnostic and therapeutic products tletl@mterventional physicians and surgeons td tr@scular disease and cancerous tumors. In
addition, in May 2008, we acquired the Nanoknifeatibn system which is complementary to our diveering of local oncology therapies,
including market-leading RFA systems and Habib &ea@section devices. In June 2008, we completdd¢huisition of certain U.S. and U.K.
assets of Diomed, Inc. With this acquisition, wbstantially strengthened our position in the maf&ethe treatment of varicose veins. The
combination of endovenous laser products with aistieag venous product line provides us with a coshensive venous product offering. In M
2012, we completed the acquisition of Navilyst,yidog us with entry into the fluid management Imesis with a market leading product line and
significantly enhancing our presence in the vascataess market. In October 2012, we acquiredhalbutstanding capital stock of Vortex
Medical, Inc., a privately-held company focusediue development and commercialization of medicalads for venous drainage and the
removal of thrombus, or blood clots, from occluddabd vessels. In March 2012, we established tegfi@relationship with, and in February
2013, we completed the acquisition of certain assktMicrosulis Medical Ltd., a U.K. based compapgcializing in minimally-invasive
microwave ablation technology.

Recent Developments

Operational Excellence ProgranOn December 5, 2013, we announced a company-wiglatpnal excellence program designed to save
between $15 and $18 million during the course efrtbxt three years and expected to create grdfitéercies and drive business performance
improvements. (See Note P of Notes to Consolidabeancial Statements for more information relatethe restructuring.)

New Credit AgreementOn September 19, 2013, we entered into a Crediééxgent (the “Credit Agreementi)ith the lenders party there
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative adgark of America, N.A. and Keybank National
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Association as co-syndication agents, and J.P. Mo8gcurities LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, FenneSgnith Incorporated and Keybank National
Association as joint bookrunners and joint leacmagers.

The Credit Agreement provides for a $100 millionise secured term loan facility (“Term Facility”hd a $100 million senior secured
revolving credit facility, which includes up to 2@ million sublimit for letters of credit and a $3llion sublimit for swingline loans (the
“Revolving Facility”, and together with the Termdiity, the “Facilities”).

The proceeds of the Term Loan and a portion optbeeeds of the Revolving Facility were used t@yepur Credit Agreement (the “ Prior
Credit Agreement”) dated as of May 22, 2012, whth kenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, ldsfadministrative agent, Bank of
America, N.A. and Keybank National Association assgndication agents, and J.P. Morgan Securitigs, IMerrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated and Keybank National Associatierjoint bookrunners and joint lead arrangers.

The proceeds of the Revolving Facility may be usedeneral corporate purposes of AngioDynamicsitmsubsidiaries. The Facilities
have a five year maturity. The Term Loan has atgusirepayment schedule equal to 5%, 5%, 10%, &B8l665% of its principal amount in yei
one through five, respectively. Interest on bo#h Term Loan and Revolver will be based on a baseoraEurodollar rate plus an applicable
margin which increases as our total leverage mtieases, with the base rate and Eurodollar mateb ranges of 0.50% to 1.25% and 1.50% to
2.25% respectively. After default, the interesenattay be increased by 2.0%. The Revolver will alsoy a commitment fee of 0.20% to
0.35% per annum on the unused portion.

Our obligations under the Facilities are uncondiity guaranteed, jointly and severally, by ourenial direct and indirect domestic
subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”). All obligationsAxigioDynamics and the Guarantors under the Fesliire secured by first priority security
interests in substantially all of the assets of idABynamics and the Guarantors.

On September 19, 2013, we borrowed $100 millioreatide Term Facility and approximately $41.4 milliander the Revolving Facility to
repay the Prior Credit Agreement. As of May 31,£20891.3 million and $46.4 million were outstandimgder the Term Facility and Revolving
Facility, respectively. The Credit Agreement in@sdccustomary representations, warranties and cots&raand acceleration, indemnity and events
of default provisions, including, among other thintyvo financial covenants. The first financial enant requires us to maintain, as of the end of
each of our fiscal quarters, a ratio of (i) cordated EBITDA minus consolidated capital expendguce(ii) consolidated interest expense paid or
payable in cash plus scheduled principal paymentsspect of indebtedness under the Credit Agreeaferot less than 1.35 to 1.00. The second
financial covenant requires us to maintain, ahefdnd of each of our fiscal quarters, a ratioonisolidated total indebtedness to consolidated
EBITDA of not greater than 3.75 to 1.00. We wereampliance with both covenants as of May 31, 2014.

On September 19, 2013, we repaid all amounts owddruithe Prior Credit Agreement, and as a reqdtEixisting Credit Agreement was
terminated. Pursuant to the terms of the Prior iCAsgteement, we had the option to repay this fgcét any time prior to the maturity date
without penalty.

(See Note K of Notes to Consolidated Financialedtants for more information related to the Credjteement.)

Acquisition of Clinical Devices, B.YOn August 15, 2013 we acquired all the outstamdimares of capital stock of Clinical Devices, B.V.
our exclusive distributor of our fluid managemerdducts in the Netherlands. The acquisition inctuckertain in-process research and
development for a next-generation tip location texdbgy.

(See Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financialeéataints for more information related to acquisitipns

Acquisition of Microsulis Medical Ltd.On March 22, 2012, we established a strategicioalkstip with Microsulis Medical Ltd.
(“Microsulis”), a U.K.-based company specializimgrinimally-invasive, microwave ablation technoldgy the coagulation of soft tissue.

The relationship included an initial $5 million stment in Microsulis through the purchase of semieferred stock, representing a 14.3%
ownership position, exclusive distribution rightsnharket and sell their microwave ablation systenal markets outside the United States from
May 2012 through December 2013, and an exclusitierofo purchase at any time until September 22326ubstantially all of the global assets
of Microsulis Medical, Ltd.

On February 1, 2013, we completed the acquisitfazedain assets of Microsulis, which we have aoted for as a business combination,
for cash payments at closing totaling $10.0 millisubject to a working capital adjustment, a $5.0
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million payment due on December 31, 2013 and piatesdditional cash consideration payable uponguardnce over the next nine years. We
also assumed $1.6 million of liabilities.

The total estimated purchase consideration of $8@l&®n included the initial investment of $5.0 ltian, closing payments totaling $10.5
million, a $5.0 million payment due on December 3113 and the estimated fair value of contingensiteration (Earn out) of $13.2 million. T
estimated fair value of contingent consideratiobdased on projected net sales over the nine yemddgellowing the closing of the acquisition.
The amount of the Earn out consideration that cbelgaid on net sales is not limited. (See Notd Naies to Consolidated Financial Statements
for information related to the contingent earn l@altility.)

The estimated purchase consideration exceededitheafue of the acquired net assets by $19.3anillind was recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. Core taihgies are being amortized over their estimateduldives ranging from 10 to 15 years.
During the fiscal years ended May 31, 2014 and 2@&3incurred acquisition related costs of $0.3iamland $0.3 million, respectively, which
were expensed to “Acquisition, restructuring arttkoitems, net” in the consolidated statement efrafons.

Acquisition of Vortex Medical Inc.Gn October 15, 2012, we acquired all the outstandapital stock of Vortex Medical, Inc., a privatel
held company focused on the development and conmatization of medical devices for venous drainagd the removal of thrombus, or blood
clots, from occluded blood vessels. Vortex’'s priatiproduct is the AngioVaé system, which includes the AngioVac Cannula andu@ir The
AngioVac Cannula has a proprietary balloon-actuatggdandable, funnel-shaped distal tip that enlafioes, prevents clogging of the cannula
and facilitates en bloc, or whole removal of unddde intravascular material. Both the AngioVac @aa and Circuit are FDA-cleared for use
during extracorporeal bypass for up to six houts.Mark approval was received in December 2013.

The total estimated purchase consideration of $Tfll®n included an upfront payment of $15.1 nufliand the estimated fair value of
contingent (Earn out) consideration of $60.3 milli§40 million of which is guaranteed. The estirdd&r value of contingent consideration is
based on projected AngioVac net sales in the tan geriod following the closing. The amount of fern out consideration that could be paid on
AngioVac net sales is not limited. (See Note A ofé$ to Consolidated Financial Statements for médion related to the contingent earn out
liability.)

The estimated purchase consideration exceededitheafue of the acquired net assets by $29.5anillind was recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. Caetinologies are being amortized over their estichaseful lives of approximately 15 years as
revenues are earned from the sales of related pidDuring the fiscal year ended May 31, 2013jmwearred acquisition related costs of $0.6
million, which were expensed to “Acquisition, resgtturing and other items, net” in the consolidatdement of operations.

Acquisition of Navilyst ©On May, 22, 2012, we completed the acquisitionrofgtely-held Navilyst, a global medical device quany with
strengths in the vascular access, interventiontdbl@gy and interventional cardiology markets. Huoguisition and related transaction costs were
financed through the issuance of approximatelyn@ilion shares of our common stock, $150 milliordirawn acquisition debt financing and $97
million of cash. Based on the closing price of stack of $12.44 on the day prior to the transactibe purchase price was approximately $361
million.

The fiscal years ended May 31, 2013 and 2012, dreclub7.3 million and $11.2 million, respectively tiansaction and severance costs
related to the Navilyst acquisition. These costsiacluded in “Acquisition, restructuring and otlitems, net” in the consolidated statement of
operations. Investment funds affiliated with Avi§apital Partners, former owners of Navilyst, reediapproximately 9.5 million shares of our
common stock and, as of May 31, 2014, held apprateiy 27% of our outstanding shares. Investmerddffiliated with Avista Capital Partne
entered into a stockholders agreement with us dopthe transaction and also appointed two aoldii directors to our existing Board of
Directors.

Goodwill recorded as a result of the acquisitiors B244.7 million. Intangible assets acquired, othan goodwill, totaled approximately
$107.1 million, of which $49.4 million has beenmtifed as customer relationships (15-year weiglaeerage useful life), $32.5 million of
trademarks (of which $28.6 million has been deteadito have an indefinite useful life and the revimgj $3.9 million has a 7 year weighted
average useful life), $15.1 million of in-processearch and development (indefinite useful lifel @ompleted) and $10.1 million of technology
(6-year weighted average useful life).

The IPR&D assets, which were accounted for as inileflived assets at the time of acquisition, esgant the development of a biomedical
polymer additive for use in PICC and other vascataress product lines and a power injectable ploitiware valued at $12.1 million and $3.0
million, respectively. The biomedical polymer additproduct recently received regulatory approvel the product was released in the United
States in October 2012 and is being amortized a\dY year useful life. The power injectable poebipected to be released in the United States ir
fiscal 2014, subject to regulatory
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approvals. The fair value of these intangible asaeis determined based upon the present valugettd future cash flows adjusted for the
probability of technological and commercial riskiliming a risk-adjusted discount rate.

Discontinuance of Benephit Product OfferinQuring the third fiscal quarter of 2013, we made decision to discontinue our Benephit
product offering. Accordingly, we recorded $1.6loil of expenses during the year ended May 31, 20h8se costs are included iAcguisition,
restructuring and other items, net” in the consdbd statement of operations.

Closure of UK facility During the first fiscal quarter of 2012, we made tfecision to close our Cambridge, UK facility arahsfer the
production of lasers to our Queensbury, NY facilitye completed the transfer in January 2013. Ttad ¢ost of this project was approximately
$4.3 million. The consolidated statement of opersatifor the year ended May 31, 2013 included clsanfi&2.5 million for costs incurred
associated with this closure and included $1.8ionilfor fiscal 2012. The charge is included in “Agjtion, restructuring and other items, net” in
the consolidated statement of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are summariredote A to Notes to Consolidated Financial Stageta included elsewhere in this
annual report on Form 10-K. While all these sigmifit accounting policies affect the reporting of fimancial condition and results of operations,
we view certain of these policies as critical. Biels determined to be critical are those polidiet have the most significant impact on our
financial statements and require us to use a grdatgee of judgment and/or estimates. Actual tesndy differ from those estimates. The
accounting policies identified as critical are akofws:

Revenue Recognitic

We recognize revenue in accordance with generatigf@ed accounting principles as outlined in th€'SRuthoritative guidance on
revenue recognition which requires that four basieria be met before revenue can be recognizepefsuasive evidence that an arrangement
exists; (ii) the price is fixed or determinablei) (€ollectability is reasonably assured; and ¢wyduct delivery has occurred or services have been
rendered. Decisions relative to criterion (iii) aeding collectability are based upon our judgmesgsiiscussed under “Accounts Receivable”
below, and should conditions change in the futmie Gause us to determine this criterion is not imet;results of operations may be affected. We
recognize revenue, net of sales taxes assessety lgpaernmental authority, as products are shippased on F.O.B. shipping point terms when
title and risk of loss passes to customers. We tistgashipping and credit terms on a customer-tstaraer basis and products are shipped at an
agreed upon price. All product returns must begmeroved by us and customers may be subject t&@r@étocking charge. To be accepted, a
returned product must be unadulterated, undamaugtave at least 12 months remaining prior toxtsration date.

Accounts Receivab

Accounts receivable, principally trade, are gegidiie within 30 to 90 days and are stated at artsodue from customers, net of an
allowance for sales returns and doubtful accowts perform ongoing credit evaluations of our cusgtsrand adjust credit limits based upon
payment history and the customer’s current creditwoess, as determined by a review of their curcesdit information. We continuously
monitor aging reports, collections and paymentsfoustomers, and maintain a provision for estimatedit losses based upon our historical
experience and any specific customer collectiomeisghat we identify. While such credit losses Haistorically been within our expectations and
the provisions established, we cannot guarantégitbaame credit loss rates will be experiencdtarfuture. We write off accounts receivable
when they are determined to be uncollectible. smaf years 2014, 2013 and 2012, our write offaamfounts receivable have been insignificant.

Income Taxe

In preparing our financial statements, we calculateme tax expense for each jurisdiction in whighoperate. This involves estimating
actual current taxes due plus assessing tempoiféeyetices arising from differing treatment for taxd accounting purposes that are recorded as
deferred tax assets and liabilities. We periodycallaluate deferred tax assets, capital loss aamwyrds and tax credit carryforwards to determine
their recoverability based primarily on our abilitygenerate future taxable income and capitalsgdifhere their recovery is not likely, we
estimate a valuation allowance and record a cooretipg additional tax expense in our statemenpefations. If actual results differ from our
estimates due to changes in assumptions, the oV income taxes could be materially affectéd.of May 31, 2014, our valuation allowance
and net deferred tax asset were approximately®illion and $13.2 million, respectively. We havéotal of $164.9 million of Federal net
operating loss carryforwards and $32.7 milliontafe net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL"). $1%nillion of our
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Federal net operating loss was generated by achaimmpanies and are subject to Internal Revenue CtRIC”) Section 382 limitations which
are expected to significantly limit our ability ttilize these net operating losses on an annué@.b&s a result of our IRC Section 382 analyses, it
is estimated that approximately $26.1 million aheening Federal net operating losses and $13.@omidlf state net operating losses will expire
prior to utilization. The gross deferred income #&mset (‘“DTA”) related to the NOL reflects thesmitations.

In order to ensure the realizability of our defdrtax assets, we need to generate $10.0 millidkaxafble income each year from 2015 to
2023 and $6.5 million per year until 2033. If we anable to meet these minimum taxable levelsidfierred tax assets may still be utilized in
future years if we can make up previous year taxaigome shortfalls prior to the expiration of tiet operating loss carryforwards. We have
determined that we have sufficient existing lewsIpre-tax earnings to generate sufficient taxaideme to realize the net deferred tax assets
recorded on our balance sheets.

In order to support the realizability of our nefateed tax asset, we projected our pre-tax incotitizing a combination of historical and
projected results. Utilizing this projected pre-tagome, we have projected taxable income takitmdonsideration existing levels of permanent
differences including stock option exercise dedwungiand non-deductible expenses and the reversarificant temporary differences.

Our Federal net operating loss carryforwards ddaf 31, 2014, after considering IRC Section 384thiions, are $138.8 million. The
expiration of the Federal net operating loss camyérds are as follows: $30.7 million between 28hd 2026 and $108.0 million between 2027
and 2033.

Our state net operating loss carryforwards as of Blg 2014 after considering remaining IRC Sec868 limitations are $19.8 million
which expire in various years from 2027 to 2033.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. Federalgdigtion and various state and foreign jurisdictidn the normal course of business we are
subject to examination by taxing authorities thtougf the world. The Internal Revenue Service (“IR&mpleted an examination of our Federal
income tax returns for fiscal years 2006 and 200February 2009, which did not result in a matangact on our results of operations or
financial position. During fiscal year 2012, NewrKdstate completed an examination of our New YdekeSFranchise Tax returns for fiscal ye
2005 to 2008. In relation to this examination, imeotax expense in fiscal 2011 includes an out-obpebenefit of $300,000 to correct an error
that originated in prior years related to certaatestax credits. Additionally, as a result of thalit, we were able to claim state tax credits of
$210,000 that are recorded in fiscal year 201ZdFigears 2011 through 2013 remain open to exammmay the various tax authorities. New
York State is currently auditing Navilyst’'s franshitax filings for 2009 through 2011, although wendt anticipate any material adjustments will
result. We analyzed filing positions in all of tRederal and state jurisdictions where we are reduw file income taxes, as well as all open tax
years in these jurisdictions and believe that naoine tax filing positions and deductions will bistsined on audit and we do not anticipate any
adjustments will result in a material adverse gftecour financial condition, results of operatiansash flows.

We do not anticipate that the amount of unrecoghiag benefits will significantly change in the héxelve months.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (atdsted cost which approximates the first-in, first-method) or market. On a quarterly basis,
we review inventory quantities on hand and analfieeprovision for excess and obsolete inventorgtgsimarily on product expiration dating
and our estimated sales forecast, which is basesdles history, and anticipated future demand.d€3timates of future product demand may ni
accurate and we may understate or overstate thésymo required for excess and obsolete inventdcgordingly, any significant unanticipated
changes in demand could have a significant impac¢he value of our inventory and results of operati Inventory acquired through a business
acquisition is evaluated as part of purchase adswyuand, where applicable, a step-up in basis bgasecorded. Any applicable step-up is
expensed through cost of goods sold.

Property, Plant and Equipme

We state property, plant and equipment at cost,desumulated depreciation, and depreciate thestsassing the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. We determine thissdamn our estimates of the period over which tisetaswill generate revenue. We evaluate these
assets for impairment annually or as changes auistances or the occurrence of events suggestriening value is not recoverable. Any
change in condition that would cause us to changestimate of the useful lives of a group or clafsassets may result in impairment and/or
significantly affect depreciation expense on a peasive basis.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill, indefinited intangible assets and IPR&D are amortized tveir estimated useful lives, which
range between three and twenty years, on eithieaiglst-line basis over the expected period of lieneas revenues are earned from the sales of
the related products. We periodically review thtinegted useful lives of our intangible assets andew such assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tieatdhrying value of the assets may not be recoler@ur determination of impairment is based
on estimates of future cash flows. If an intangéseet is considered to be impaired, the amouthieofmpairment will equal the excess of the
carrying value over the fair value of the asset.

Acquired IPR&D is not amortized until completiondadevelopment of the project, at which time the&PRbecomes an amortizable asset
with an appropriate useful life and an amortizatioethod is determined. If the related project isaommpleted in a timely manner or the project is
terminated or abandoned, we may have an impairmeéted to the IPR&D, calculated as the exceshefsset’s carrying value over its fair
value.

Our policy defines IPR&D as the value assignedtse projects for which the related products hateeceived regulatory approval and
have no alternative future use. Determining theigomwof the purchase price allocated to IPR&D reggius to make significant estimates. The
amount of the purchase price allocated to IPR&Beermined by estimating the future cash flowsaafheproject or technology and discounting
the net cash flows back to their present values.discount rate used is determined at the timeeafsurement in accordance with accepted
valuation methods. These methodologies includeideretion of the risk of the project not achievonmercial feasibility.

At the time of acquisition, we expect that all aicgd IPR&D will reach technological feasibility, bthere can be no assurance that the
commercial viability of these products will actyalle achieved. The nature of the efforts to devédepacquired technologies into commercially
viable products consists principally of planningsidining, and conducting clinical trials necessargbtain regulatory approvals. The risks
associated with achieving commercialization inc|uulé are not limited to, delay or failure to obtaggulatory approvals to conduct clinical trials,
delay or failure to obtain required market cleaemor delays or issues with patent issuance,lwlityaand litigation. If commercial viability wer
not achieved, we would likely look to other alteimes to provide these therapies.

Goodwill and other intangible assets that havefinde useful lives are not amortized, but rattae tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise. Goodwépresents the excess of the purchase price lowdait value of the net tangible and identific
intangible assets acquired in each business cotidgnin&oodwill and intangible assets have beenrgmrbat either incurred or allocated cost.
Allocated costs were based on respective fair maddees at the date of acquisition. We have otengible asset which has been assigned an
indefinite life, the NAMIC trademark that was retigracquired as part of our acquisition of Navilyatd is valued at $28.6 million.

For goodwill, the impairment test requires a corguar of the estimated fair value of the reportimg to which the goodwill is assigned to
the sum of the carrying value of the assets afditias of that unit. If the sum of the carryinglue of the assets and liabilities of a reporting u
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, theying value of the reporting unit's goodwill isduced to its implied fair value through an
adjustment to the goodwill balance, resulting inrapairment charge. Our determination of impairmisrtased on estimates of future cash flows.
Effective June 1, 2012, we consider our busineg®ta single operating segment entity — the dewedop, manufacture and sale on a global basis
of medical devices for vascular access, surgenplperal vascular disease and oncology.

Stock-based compensation

We recoghize compensation expense for all sharedjgesyment awards made to our employees and disdntduding employee stock
options and employee stock purchases related t8togk Purchase Plan based on estimated fair vaiesecognize compensation expense for
our stock awards on a straight-line basis overéheisite service periods of the awards, whicteisegally the vesting period.

For fiscal 2014, stock based compensation wasr#flién pre-tax ($3.4 million after tax). For fiskc2013, stock based compensation was
$4.6 million pre-tax ($3.0 million after tax). Foiscal 2013, stock based compensation was $4.1lomitire-tax ($2.7 million after tax).

40




Under the provisions of the guidance adopted, veeeixto recognize the following future expenseal@ards granted prior to May 31, 2014
(% in thousands):

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Unrecognized Vesting
Compensation Period
Cost (in years)
Stock options $ 3,38: 2.1:
Non-vested stock awards $ 5,62¢ 2.37
$ 9,007 2.2¢

Unrecognized compensation cost for stock optiomsasented net of 12% assumed annual forfeitures.

The amount of stock-based compensation recognizledsed on the value of the portion of awardsateultimately expected to vest.
Guidance requires forfeitures to be estimatedeatithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in syset periods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. The term “forfeitures” is distifiotn “cancellations” or “expirations” and represennly the unvested portion of the surrendered
option. We currently expect, based on an analyffsisiohistorical forfeitures, that approximately?8®f our options will vest annually, and we
have therefore applied a 12% annual forfeiture iratletermining the stock-based compensation chageded. We will re-evaluate this estimate
periodically and adjust the forfeiture rate on agpective basis as necessary. Ultimately, the bekpense recognized over the vesting period will
only be for those shares that actually vest.

For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 &1@ 2we used the Black-Scholes option-pricing m@t&hck-Scholes”) as our method
of valuation and a single option award approaclis Tdir value is then amortized on a straight-lxaeis over the requisite service periods of the
awards, which is generally the vesting period. fEievalue of share based payment awards on treealdhe grant as determined by the Black-
Scholes model is affected by our stock price as agebther assumptions. These assumptions indud@re not limited to the expected stock
volatility over the term of the awards, actual gmdjected employee stock option exercise behavéod,a risk-free interest rate. The risk-free
interest rate is based on factual data derived fsoblic sources. The expected stock-price volgptditd option life assumptions require significant
judgment which makes them critical accounting estés.

We utilize our historical volatility when estimagjrexpected stock price volatility. We use yieldesabn U.S. Treasury securities for a period
approximating the expected term of the award tionesgé the risk-free interest rate. The expecta isrbased on our actual historical results. The
dividend yield is based on the history and expewtaif dividend payments. We have not paid dividemmdthe past nor do we expect to pay
dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Results of Operations
Our operating results for fiscal 2014, 2013 and28&e expressed as a percentage of total netisdles following table.

Years ended

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013 May 31, 2012
Net sales 100.C% 100.(% 100.C%
Cost of sales 49.2% 50.¢ % 43.2%
Gross profit 50.7 % 49.2% 56.¢ %
Operating expenses —
Research and development 7.8€% 7.7% 9.2%
Sales and marketing 23.5% 22.2% 29.1%
General and administrative 7.2% 7.€% 8.2%
Amortization of intangibles 4.7% 4.£% 4.2%
Change is fair value of contingent consideration (0.5% 0.E% — %
Acquisition, restructuring and other items, net 3.L% 4% 7.2%
Medical device excise tax 1.1% 0.E% — %
Total operating expenses 46.€% 47.2% 58.1%
Operating income (loss) 3.8% 2.1% (1.9%
Other (expenses) income —
Interest income — % — % 0.E%
Interest expense (1.0% (1.5% (0.2%
Other expense (1.0% (0.9% (1.9%
Total other (expenses) income, net (2.0% (2.9% (1.0%
(Loss) income before income tax provision 1.8% (0.2)% (2.9%
Income tax (benefit) provision 0.€% — % (0.1)%
Net (loss) income 0.€% (0.2)% (2.9%

For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014, we reparegtdncome of $3.1 million, or $0.09 per basic dildted common share, on net sales of
$354.5 million compared to a fiscal 2013 net 10686 million, or ($0.02) loss per basic and diitommon share, on net sales of $342 million.
Fiscal 2012 results reported a net loss of $5.lianjlor ($0.20) loss per diluted common sharenensales of $221.8 million. Fiscal 2014 results
included $6.1 million in acquisition costs, $2.2lion in litigation costs and $1.4 million in cosislated to our NY plant consolidation program.
Fiscal 2013 results included $7.6 million in acgios costs, $2.5 million in costs associated wtiita closure of the Cambridge, UK facility, $1.6
million in impairment costs associated with a digt@muance of a product offering and $1.4 milliorlitrgation costs.

Gross profit was 50.7% in fiscal 2014, 49.4% irdis2013 and 56.8% in fiscal 2012. In fiscal 20d4ss margin was reduced by $0.2
million due to acquisition related inventory bastiep-up. In fiscal 2013, gross margin was redugei38 million of acquisition related inventory
basis step-up and approximately $0.9 million ratato our Quality Call to Action program.

For the years 2014 and 2013, we did not use nettipg losses to offset the amount of cash paid-éateral and state income taxes. Under
purchase accounting rules, the use of acquired N©ascounted for in deferred tax assets; theretbeerelated cash tax savings is not reflectt
our provision for income taxes in the statementspefrations. For fiscal 2012 we were able to us@perating losses (“NOLs”) accumulated by
acquired companies to offset the amount of cashaigkfor Federal and state income taxes by apprateiy $1.1 million.

Fiscal years ended May 31, 2014 and May 31, 2013

Net salesNet sales are derived from the sale of our prodamtsrelated freight charges, less discounts amaged sales returns and
allowances. Net sales for fiscal 2014 of $354.3iom] increased 4% over fiscal 2013 sales of $34Rom. This increase was primarily
attributable to increased sales of EVLT procedits kales of the recently introduced AngioVac
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product and increased microwave product sales.eTtvesrall increases were partially offset by desedasales of fluid management and RFA
products as well as a decrease in products saddghrour supply agreement.

From a product line perspective, Peripheral Vasadtes increased 7% to $192.7 million from thempyear period. This increase was
primarily attributable to sales of EVLT proceduiitskand sales of the recently introduced AngioVaadpct. Vascular Access sales were
consistant at $106.4 million in fiscal 2014 as canegl to $106.7 million in the prior year period.ddlogy/Surgery sales were $49.4 million, an
increase of 5% from the prior year and is primadglile to increased sales of our microwave and Naifeinoducts, partially offset by a decline
the radiofrequency ablation products.

From a geographic perspective, U.S. sales increaet $280.1 million in fiscal 2014 compared t&623 million in fiscal 2013, again
attributable to EVLT and AngioVac performance. Inggional sales increased 2% to $68.2 million sedl 2014 primarily due to increased sales
of PICCs, microwave and NanoKnife products, pdytiaffset by radiofrequency ablation declines.

Gross profit. Gross profit consists of net sales less the cogbofls sold, which includes the costs of materfatsgucts purchased from
third parties and sold by us, manufacturing persgnoyalties, freight, business insurance, dept&ni of property and equipment and other
manufacturing overhead. Our gross profit as a p¢age of sales was 50.7% in fiscal 2014 comparéd 48.4% in fiscal 2013. The increase in
gross profit percentage in fiscal 2014 was prirgattributable to $3.8 million in step-up basis atization related to Navilyst inventory acquired
in the prior year, as well as growth in higher niaqgroducts such as AngioVac.

Research and development expensd®esearch and development (“R&D”) expenses includ#scto develop new products, enhance
existing products, validate new and enhanced ptsdonage clinical, regulatory and medical affaitd our intellectual property. R&D expen
increased by $1.2 million, or 5%, to $27.5 milliorfiscal 2014 compared to the prior year. Theease is primarily due to increased R&D
spending on clinical trials and other new prodwatalopment. As a percentage of net sales, R&D esqsewere 7.8%or fiscal 2014, compared
7.7% for fiscal 2013.

Sales and marketing expenseSales and marketing (“S&M”) expenses consist prilpaf salaries, commissions, travel and related
business expenses, attendance at medical societings product promotions and samples. S&M expeimeeased $7.1 million or 9% to $83.2
million in fiscal 2014 compared to $76.1 millionfiscal 2013. This increase is primarily due todstments made during fiscal 2013 in the US
International sales forces to drive improved spkr$ormance. In addition, the geographic mix oésalreated higher commission expense as
compared to the prior year period. As a percenthget sales, S&M expenses were 23.5% for fiscah2Bmpared to 22.3% for fiscal 2013.

General and administrative expensesGeneral and administrative (“G&A”) expenses imiga the cost of executive management, finance,
accounting, legal, human resources and informaéohnology and the administrative and professionats associated with those activities. G&A
expenses decreased by approximately $0.1 millioermdompared to fiscal 2013. G&A expenses decremsé®% of net sales in fiscal 2014
when compared to 7.6% of net sales in fiscal 2013.

Amortization of intangibles. Amortization of intangibles was $16.8 million irséial 2014 compared to $16.3 million in fiscal 20I8e
$0.5 million increase was primarily related to atization of intangibles acquired in the Vortex avitrosulis acquisitions. As a percentage of net
sales, amortization decreased to 4.7% from 4.8% .

Change in fair value of contingent considerationThe fiscal 2014 results include a net benefit a7 $tillion as a result of a $5 million
gain upon revaluation of the Vortex contingent ¢d@sation based on a revised sales forecast. Hiisvgas partially offset by changes in fair
value of the contingent consideration associatel Microsulis and Clinical Devices. Fiscal 2013lurded expenses of $1.6 million related to the
change in fair value of the contingent consideratiesociated with the Vortex and Microsulis acdjiaiss.

Acquisition, restructuring and other items, net.Acquisition, restructuring and other items, neated $10.8 million for fiscal 2014 and
primarily consisted of $6.1 million in acquisiti@osts, $2.2 million in litigation costs and $1.4lion in costs related to our NY plant
consolidation program. Fiscal 2013 acquisitiontreeturing and other items totaled $13.8 milliord gmimarily includes $7.6 million in
transaction and related costs of the Navilyst anctddulis acquisitions, $2.5 million in costs adated with the closure of the Cambridge, UK
facility, $1.6 million in impairment costs assoedtwith a discontinuance of a product offering &adt million in litigation costs.

Medical device excise taxriscal 2014 and 2013 included $3.8 million and $iion of expense attributed to the Medical DeviExcise
Tax enacted into law effective January 1, 2013.

Operating income.We reported operating income of $13.4 million fiscél 2014 compared to operating income of $7.lionifor fiscal
2013. As a percentage of sales, operating inconreased to 3.8% from 2.1% .
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Other expensesOther expenses for fiscal 2014 totaled $7.1 mijlimn2% of net sales compared to fiscal 2013 resfl$7.7 million, or
2.3% of net sales. The decrease is due to a reduatinterest expense as a result of our recdsitrééinancing but was offset by increases in ¢
expenses.

Income tax provision (benefit). Our effective tax rate was 52% for fiscal 2014npared with 5% for the prior year. The current yede
reflects the benefit of the $5.0 million nontaxaétjustment to the contingent liability relatecdvtortex Medical, Inc., offset by the impact of a
New York State tax law change that resulted in.2 #dillion net write off of tax assets, r-deductible interest expense related to contingent
payments, decreased nbi& income, a seven month benefit from the R&D teedit that expired on December 31, 2013, true dipainfiscal yea
2013 US income tax returns and the impact of timaidhtion of the ASC 718 APIC pool. Our ASC 718 ARpool, which has been historically
reduced when shatemsed compensation cost previously recognized liasggreater than the deduction allowed for inctarepurposes based
the price of our common stock on the date of egeror vesting, is fully depleted. This depletiosuléed in a discrete tax expense in fiscal 2014.
The prior year rate reflects the impact of non-dithle costs related to the acquisition of Vortean-deductible interest expense related to
contingent payments, the utilization of fully ressit capital losses, increased non-US income, theactive renewal of the previously expired
R&D tax credit, the elimination of the Domestic Buaation Activities Deduction caused by reduced dexéncome and the larger impact of non-
deductible expenses also caused by the reducededraome in fiscal 2013.

During the fiscal third quarter of 2013, The AmaricTaxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was enacted andaetively extended the research cr
from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013. Tigisltion led to a prior period tax benefit in #2013 of $73,000 for the research credit
generated from January 1, 2012 to May 31, 201 @iadit has not been renewed since the Decemb@033 expiration.

Net income (loss) For fiscal 2014, we reported net income of $3illian compared to a net loss of $0.6 million iretprior year.

Fiscal years ended May 31, 2013 and May 31, 2012

Net salesNet sales are derived from the sale of our prodamtsrelated freight charges, less discounts atmaed sales returns and
allowances. Net sales for fiscal 2013 of $342.0iom] increased 54% over fiscal 2012 sales of $®dillion. This increase was primarily
attributable to sales of products acquired in th&ilfst acquisition and microwave products, palitiaffset by the absence of LC Beads sales
following the end of distribution rights on Decemi3d, 2011. LC Bead sales were $21.3 million dufiagal 2012.

From a product line perspective, Peripheral Vasaadtes increased $93.0 million or 98% from themyear period to $188.2 million. This
increase was primarily attributable to sales of iNat fluid management products. Vascular Accessssaere $106.7 million, an increase of $£
million or 67% from the prior year period. This irase is attributable to sales of Navilyst PICGs$ faort products. Oncology/Surgery sales were
$47.2 million, a decrease of 25% from the priorry@&e decrease was primarily attributed to theelse in LC Beads sales described earlier,
partially offset by increased Nanoknife and Micrewaroduct sales. Nanoknife sales totaled $12.Bomiin fiscal 2013 and $11.6 million in
fiscal 2012.

From a geographic perspective, U.S. sales incre#8¥#dto $274.8 million in fiscal 2013 compared #88.2 million in fiscal 2012, despite
the cessation of the distribution of LC Beads irc®&uaber 2011. The addition of product revenue froenNavilyst acquisition was the primary
driver of the increase. International sales we8& .2 million in fiscal 2013, double the $33.6 naitli of reported sales in fiscal 2012. Products
acquired in the Navilyst acquisition were respolesfbr the majority of the increase along with Misrave product sales.

Gross profit. Gross profit consists of net sales less the cogbofls sold, which includes the costs of materfatsgucts purchased from
third parties and sold by us, manufacturing persgnoyalties, freight, business insurance, dept&ni of property and equipment and other
manufacturing overhead. Our gross profit as a p¢age of sales was 49.4% in fiscal 2013 compardd 5d.8% in fiscal 2012. The decrease in
gross profit percentage in fiscal 2013 was prirgattributable to $3.8 million in costs for stepingnventory associated with the Navilyst
acquisition and a full year inclusions of the Ngsilproducts which yield lower gross profit.

Research and development expensd®esearch and development (“R&D”) expenses includtscto develop new products, enhance
existing products, validate new and enhanced ptedoanage clinical, regulatory and medical affaird our intellectual property. R&D expen
increased by $5.8 million, or 28%, to $26.3 milliorfiscal 2013 compared to the prior year. Theease is primarily due to increased R&D
personnel and projects following the Navilyst asgion. As a percentage of net sales, R&D expewses 7.7% for fiscal 2013, compared to
9.2% for fiscal 2012.
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Sales and marketing expenseSales and marketing (“S&M”) expenses consist prilypaf salaries, commissions, travel and related
business expenses, attendance at medical societinge product promotions and samples. S&M expeimzeased $11.6 million or 18% to
$76.1 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $64.5 raillin fiscal 2012. This increase is primarily doghe addition of Navilyst sales and marketing
personnel and increased International sales expassee continue to expand our International bgsings a percentage of net sales, S&M
expenses were 22.3% for fiscal 2013 compared tR2%or fiscal 2012.

General and administrative expensesGeneral and administrative (“G&A”) expenses imiga the cost of executive management, finance,
accounting, legal, human resources and informaé&ohnology and the administrative and professionals associated with those activities. G&A
expenses increased $7.8 million, or 43%, to $26lliomin fiscal 2013 compared to $18.3 millionfiscal 2012 primarily due to the addition of
Navilyst personnel. G&A expenses decreased to Dbfet sales in fiscal 2013 compared to 8.3% ofaéds in fiscal 201:

Amortization of intangibles. Amortization of intangibles was $16.3 million irs¢ial 2013 compared to $9.4 million in fiscal 20IRe $6.9
million increase was primarily related to amortiaatof intangibles acquired in the Navilyst acqfiisi.

Change in fair value of contingent considerationThe fiscal 2013 results include expense of $1.@ianirelated to the change in fair value
of the contingent consideration associated withvbgex and Microsulis acquisitions. There weresimilar contingent consideration
arrangements in the prior year period.

Acquisition, restructuring and other items, net.Acquisition, restructuring and other items, neated $13.8 million in fiscal 2013 and
primarily includes $7.6 million in transaction aredlated costs of the Navilyst and Microsulis acigigiss, $2.5 million in costs associated with the
closure of the Cambridge, UK facility, $1.6 milliamimpairment costs associated with a discontinaasf a product offering and $1.4 million in
litigation costs. The fiscal 2012 results includdd.2 million in costs chiefly comprised of $11.8lion in transaction and related costs of the
Navilyst acquisition and Microsulis strategic redaship, $2.3 million in costs for CEO and execetitansition costs and $1.8 million in ca
associated with the decision to close our UK ficili

Medical device excise taxriscal 2013 included $1.6 million of expense atitén to the Medical Device Excise Tax enacted lexo
effective January 1, 2013.

Operating income (loss)We reported operating income of $7.1 million facfl 2013 compared to an operating loss of $3.omifor
fiscal 2012.

Other expensesOther income and expenses for fiscal 2013 was $illibn of net expense, or 2.3% of net sales compao fiscal 2012
results of $2.3 million of net expense, or 1.0%hef sales. The incremental expense is primarilytdureterest on the debt incurred to finance the
Navilyst acquisition

Income tax provision (benefit). Our effective tax rate was 5% for fiscal 2013 pamed with 4% for the prior year. The current yede
reflects the impact of non-deductible costs relatetthe acquisition of Vortex, non-deductible imt&rexpense related to contingent payments, the
utilization of fully reserved capital losses, inased non-US income, the retroactive renewal optbeiously expired R&D tax credit, the
elimination of the Domestic Production Activitieg8uction caused by reduced taxable income anditgerlimpact of non-deductible expenses
also caused by the reduced taxable income in f&&¢EB. The prior year rate reflects the impact@f-deductible costs related to the acquisition of
Navilyst, the December 31, 2011 expiration of ti&Rax credit, the reduction in the Domestic Pradtut Activities Deduction caused |
reduced taxable income and the larger impact ofdextuctible expenses also caused by the reducabl¢éaixcome in fiscal 2012.

During the fiscal third quarter of 2013, The AmaricTaxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was enacted andaetively extended the research cr
from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013. Thislitgpn led to a prior period tax benefit in fis@813 of $73,000 for the research credit
generated from January 1, 2012 to May 31, 2012.

Net (loss) income For fiscal 2013, we reported net loss of $0.8iomlcompared to a net loss of $5.1 million in grer year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents totaled $16.1 midioaf May 31, 2014, compared with $21.8 millioroaMay 31, 2013. Marketable
securities totaled $1.8 million and $2.2 millionaidMay 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and comsis).S. government issued or guaranteed
securities, auction rate securities and corporatel®. As of May 31, 2014, total debt was $137.Tianilprimarily comprising short and long-term
bank debt that financed our acquisition of NaviigsiMay 2012, which was refinanced on SeptembeB28% a result of the Vortex, Microsulis
and Clinical Devices acquisitions, the estimatadvalue of contingent milestone payments as of lay2014, totaled $67.4 million, of which
$51.1 million was
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reflected in "Contingent consideration net of cotngortion" and $16.3 milliomas reflected in "current portion of contingent sidieration” on th
consolidated balance sheet.

The table below summarizes our cash flows for iseaf years 2014, 2013 and 2013:

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013 May 31, 2012
(in thousands)

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 25,280 $ 26,88: $ 11,49°
Investing activities (17,049 (22,239 (176,36()
Financing activities (14,016 (6,286 142,33t
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casle&nts 86 (65) 49
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (5,697 $ (1,706 $ (22,47¢)

Net cash provided by operating activities durirsgdil 2014 of $25.3 million was largely the restilhet income excluding non-cash expense
items, such as depreciation and amortization, dbasled compensation and deferred income taxes. \Howbese items were partially offset by
increase in accounts receivables and inventories.

Net cash used in investing activities during fist@1 4 of $17 million consisted primarily of fixedset additions and the acquisition of
Clinical Devices.

Net cash used in financing activities during fis2@l4 of $14 million consisted primarily of the pagnt of contingent consideration related
to the acquisition of Vortex and the refinancindasfg-term debt, partially offset by proceeds frtiva exercise of stock options and purchases
related to our employee stock option plan.

Our contractual obligations as of May 31, 2014sateforth in the table below (in thousands). Weehaw variable interest entities or other
off-balance sheet obligations.

Cash Payments Due By Period as of May 31, 2014

Less than After 5
Total One Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years
Contractual Obligations:

Long term debt and interest $ 103,21 % 6,98: $ 25,99. $ 70,24 $ —
Operating leases(1) 7,914 1,991 2,83( 2,18¢ 907
Purchase obligations(1) 12,53« 2,82 8,631 1,07« —
Acquisition future obligations 47,71 15,01 20,00( 12,70( —
$ 171,37 $ 26,80¢ $ 57,45¢ $ 86,20( $ 907

(1) The non-cancelable operating leases and iomeptirchase obligations are not reflected on oumsolidated balance sheets under
accounting principles generally accepted in thedéhStates of America.

We believe that our current cash and investmenminoals and cash generated from operations will gesstifficient liquidity to meet our
anticipated needs for capital for at least the A@xnonths. However, if we seek to make signifiaatuisitions of other businesses or
technologies, we may require additional financMie cannot be assured that such financing will lzél@ve on commercially reasonable terms, if
at all.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB expanded the disclosegairements related to changes in accumulated otmeprehensive income (AOCI).
The new guidance requires disclosure of the amafuincome (or loss) reclassified out of AOCI to eaespective line item on the statement of
operations where net income is presented. The goédallows disclosure of the reclassification eithehe notes to the financial statements or
parenthetically on the face of the financial staata. This requirement is effective for reportimgipds beginning after December 15, 2012 (fc
quarter of our fiscal year 2013). Since the guigamaly impacts disclosure requirements, its adoptid not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance relatetiéqoresentation of certain tax information. Thig/mpeonouncement provides explicit
guidance on the financial statement presentati@nafnrecognized tax benefit when a net operatisg |
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carryforward, or similar tax loss, or a tax cregditryforward exists. This pronouncement is effecfior fiscal years and interim periods within
those fiscal years beginning after December 15326dr fiscal year 2015). Since the guidance omigdcts presentation requirements, its
adoption will not have a material impact on oursmidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBda-FASB") issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue froon@acts with
Customers” ("ASU 2014-09"). ASU 2014-09 providesrayle, comprehensive accounting model for revearisgg from contracts with
customers that supersedes most of the existingnuevecognition guidance, including industry-sgeafiidance. Under this model, revenue is
recognized at an amount that an entity expects tentitled to upon transferring control of goodservices to a customer, as opposed to when
risks and rewards transfer to a customer undetiegisevenue recognition guidance. ASU 201-09 feative for the Company beginning in its
fiscal year 2018, and may be applied retrospegtiteehll prior periods presented or through a cuativé adjustment to the opening retained
earnings balance in the year of adoption. The Comjsacurrently in the process of evaluation theaet of ASU 2014-09 on its consolidated
financial statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

We are exposed to market risk from changes ineésteates on investments and financing that confzhct our results of operations and
financial position. In June 2012, we entered inrdg@rest rate swap agreement, with an initial mal@amount of $100 million, to limit the effect
variability due to interest rates on our debt. $hep agreement, which qualifies for hedge accogntider authoritative guidance, is a contract to
exchange floating interest rate payments for fixeerest rate payments of 3.26% of the outstandaignce of loan over the life of the swap
agreement without the exchange of the underlyirtgpnal amounts. We do not currently engage in ahgrhedging or market risk management
tools.

On September 19, 2013, we entered into a Credigéxgent (the "Credit Agreement”) with the lendensypiereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as administrative agent, Bank of America, NaAd Keybank National Association a-syndication agents, and J.P Morgan Securities LLC,
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporataad Keybank National Association as joint bookrusrand join lead arrangers. The Credit
Agreement provides for a $100 million senior sedusgm loan facility (* Term Loan") and a $100 rih senior secured revolving credit facility,
which includes up to a $20 million sublimit fortiets of credit and a $5 million sublimit for swingg loans (the Revolving Facility", and togeth
with the Term Loan, the "Facilities"). Interest looth the Term Loan and Revolver will be based base rate or Eurodollar rate plus an
applicable margin which increases as our totalrbgye ratio increases, with the base rate and Ellaodate having ranges of 0.50% to 1.25% and
1.50% to 2.25% respectively. In the event of défdhé interest rate may be increased by 2.0%.

The proceeds of the Term Loan and a portion optbeeeds of the Revolving Facility were used t@yepur Credit Agreement dated as of
May 22, 2012, with the lenders party thereto, JRMarChase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent,Béikmnerica, N.A. and Keybank National
Association as co-syndication agents, and J.P. Mo8gcurities LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, FenneSgnith Incorporated and Keybank National
Association as joint bookrunners and joint leacmagers.

Nearly all of our sales have historically been demated in United States dollars. Although not Bigant, we transact sales in other
currencies, particularly the Euro, British pound &@wanadian dollar. Approximately 7% of our salefisnal 2014 were denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar; primarily the Euro @&ritish pound. We currently have no significantedir foreign currency exchange risk and such
risk in the future is expected to be modest.

Our excess cash is invested in highly liquid, stemn, investment grade securities with maturigiemarily of less than two years. These
investments are not held for speculative or tragingposes. Changes in interest rates may affe@htiestment income we earn on cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities and therefifeet our cash flows and results of operatione.Wld investments in auction rate securities
(“ARS") in order to generate higher than typicalmeg market investments. ARS typically are high itrgdality, generally achieved with
municipal bond insurance. Credit risks are easetthéistorical track record of bond insurers, vaHiack a majority of this market. Sell orders
any security traded through an auction procesgdoexdeed bids. Such instances are usually thet iifsalldrastic deterioration of issuer credit
quality. Should there be a failed auction, we maybable to liquidate our position in the secusitiethe near term. We have $1.8 million in
investments in two auction rate securities issuebléw York state and local government authoritieg have failed auctions. The authorities are
current in their interest payments on the secutitie
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial statements and supplementary data rejhiréart Il, Item 8 are included in Part IV ofgheport as indexed as Item 15 (a) (1)
(2) of this report, and are incorporated by refeeeinto this Item 8.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this repmut, management, under the supervision and witipangcipation of our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluatbé effectiveness of the design and operation ofi@elosure controls and procedures pursuant
to Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Adt384, as amended. Based on that evaluation, tleg EXecutive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretools and procedures as of the end of the periedreal by this report are functioning effectiv
to provide reasonable assurance that the informagiguired to be disclosed by us (including oursolidated subsidiaries) in reports filed under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedc@ded, processed, summarized and reportedwtithitime periods specified in the SEC
rules and forms and is accumulated and communitatethnagement, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguieeg disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control ovearftial reporting in the fiscal year ended MayZ&114 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interoantrol over financial reporting.

We are in the process of a multi-year implementatiba Strategic Business System project (whiauisglobal enterprise resource planning
or ERP system). In fiscal 2014, we deployed théesysat our U.S. operations, the largest of ourglolperations and in varying degrees at our
non-U.S. operations. We expect to complete thegfolbal implementation during fiscal 2015. In respe to business integration activities related
to the new system, we will align and streamlinedlsign and operation of the financial reportingtoals environment to be responsive to the
changing operating environment.

During the preparation of this annual report onnfra0-K, management identified an immaterial acciognerror related to the January 2014
implementation of our ERP system. Management hasleded the error does not have a material impathe Company's fiscal 2014 third
quarter results and has revised its third quarnesgntation. (See Note Q of Notes to Consolidabear€ial Statements.)

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting for our company. Internal
control over financial reporting is defined in RailE3a-15(f) and 15d5(f) promulgated under the Securities ExchangeofA@934, as amended,
a process designed by, or under the supervisiosuofprincipal executive and principal financiaficérs and effected by our board of directors,
management and other personnel, to provide realassurance regarding the reliability of financggdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordanceagitbunting principles generally accepted in théddnStates and includes those policies and
procedures that:

¢ Pertain to the maintenance of records thatasarable detail accurately and fairly reflect tamsactions and dispositions of our
assets;

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactierre@rded as necessary to permit preparationaricial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted m thmited States, and that our receipts and expeeditire being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshin@@mbers of our board of directors; and

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventidmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, osa@isposition of our assets t
could have a material effect on our financial stegats.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.
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Our management has assessed the effectivenessinfaraal control over financial reporting as o&i31, 2014. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfottie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992).

Based on its assessment and these criteria, stbjiw foregoing, management believes that we taiaied effective internal control over
financial reporting as of May 31, 2014.

Our independent registered public accounting fiem issued a report on the effectiveness of oumiateontrol over financial reporting.
That report appears on page 52 of this annual repoForm 10-K.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

None
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Part Il

Certain information required by Part 11l is omittedm this annual report on Form 10-K because wkfitd a definitive proxy statement
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal yearspiant to Regulation 14A (the “Proxy Statementf)dar annual meeting of Stockholders,
currently scheduled for October 2014. The inforovaincluded in the Proxy Statement under the rdésmeleadings noted below is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

Information required in this annual report on Fdr@aK with respect to Executive Officers is contairne the discussion titled “Executive
Officers of the Company” in Part | of this annugport on Form 10-K. The balance of the informatiequired by Item 10 is incorporated herein
by reference to our Proxy Statement under the hgddlection of Directors”.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is incorporakesein by reference to our Proxy Statement urtdehéeading “Executive
Compensation”.

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atdanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this caption is incaigged herein by reference to our Proxy Statemet¢iutihe heading “Ownership of
Securities”.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abutector Independence

The information required by this caption is incaigged herein by reference to our Proxy Statemeaeuthe heading “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions”.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this caption is incaigged herein by reference to our Proxy Statemeaiuthe headings “Audit Matters—
Principal Accounting Fees and Services and—PolityAodit Committee Pre-approval of Audit and PertiblgsNon-Audit Services of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.

50




Part IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements angplementary data of Registrant and its subsdiaequired by Part I, Item 8, are

included in Part IV of this report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing

Consolidated statements of operations—Years endgd3d, 2014, May 31, 2013 and May 31, 2012

Consolidated statements of comprehensive inconsg)(leYears ended May 31, 2014, May 31, 2013 aayl 34, 2012
Consolidated balance sheets—May 31, 2014 and Ma2®133

Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity—¥eaded May 31, 2014, May 31, 2013 and May 31220
Consolidated statements of cash flows—Years endegd, 2014, May 31, 2013 and May 31, 2012

Notes to consolidated financial statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
The following consolidated financial statement stthie is included in Part IV of this report:

Schedule ll—Valuation and qualifying accounts
All other schedules are omitted because they arapmicable, or not required, or because the redunformation is included in the

consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
AngioDynamics, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheetdlamdelated consolidated statements of operatarsymprehensive income (loss), of
stockholders’ equity, and of cash flows listedhie tndex appearing under Iltem 15(a)(1) preseryfair all material respects, the financial
position of AngioDynamics, Inc. and its subsidiareg May 31, 2014 and May 31, 2013, and the restiltseir operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Mag@14 in conformity with accounting principles geailly accepted in the United States of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financ&htement schedule listed in the index appeamuagultem 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth theween read in conjunction with the related corsiéd financial statements. Also in our opinion,
the Company maintained, in all material respedtsctve internal control over financial reportiag of May 31, 2014, based on criteria
established itnternal Control - Integrated Framewo(992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgdiuins of the Treadway Commissi
(COSO0). The Company's management is responsibtédee financial statements and financial statesemdule, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and ftg assessment of the effectiveness of internatalomter financial reporting, included in
Management’s Report on Internal Control over FimgriReporting appearing under Item 9A. Our resqailii is to express opinions on these
financial statements, on the financial statemehéduale and on the Company's internal control owmantial reporting based on our integrated
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance thélstandards of the Public Company Accounting gkt Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thestalobtain reasonable assurance about whethéntimeial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all eral respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideage supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the ovenalidial statement presentation. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting includebitaining an understanding of internal control dugsncial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evafudimdesign and operating effectiveness of intermi@irol based on the assessed risk. Our a
also included performing such other procedureseasamsidered necessary in the circumstances. Weveehat our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleetttiansactions and dispositions of the assetsatampany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepagation of financial statements in accordanck generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the compenpeing made only in accordance with authorizatimihmanagement and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurancardang prevention or timely detection of unauthedzacquisition, use, or disposition of the
company'’s assets that could have a material effethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or de¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Albany, New York
August 14, 2014
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Amortization of intangibles
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Acquisition, restructuring and other items, net
Medical device excise tax
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other (expenses) income
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense
Total other expenses, net
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlirancial statements.

53

Years ended

May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012
$ 354,45! % 342,02t $ 221,78
174,59: 173,03 95,82¢
179,86 168,98 125,95¢
27,51( 26,31¢ 20,51
83,20( 76,12: 64,50t
26,03t 26,12’ 18,33«
16,797 16,34! 9,40¢
(1,719 1,58:¢ ==
10,76( 13,80( 16,16«
3,82¢ 1,60( —
166,41 161,89! 128,92(
13,44¢ 7,09¢ (2,962)
— 10c 1,09(
(3,656 (5,271 (50¢)
(3,412 (2,569 (2,9072)
(7,06¢) (7,737) (2,320
6,38( (64%) (5,282)
3,29 (31 (18¢)
$ 3,08 $ (612 $ (5,094
$ 0.0¢ $ (0.02) $ (0.20)
$ 0.0¢ $ (0.09 $ (0.20)
35,13¢ 34,81 25,38:
35,44( 34,81° 25,38:




AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Years ended
May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013 May 31, 2012

Net income (loss) $ 3,08t % (612) $ (5,099
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities (16) 184 (109

Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swap (32 (522) 327

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) 29t (47) (142

Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 247 (385) 82

Income tax benefit (expense) related to items loéiotomprehensive income 18 12¢ (83)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 26E (260) (€D}

Total comprehensive income (loss), net of tax $ 3,35 % (872 $ (5,09%)

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

May 31, May 31,
2014 2013
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,10 $ 21,80:
Marketable securities, at fair value 1,80¢ 2,15:
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,736%h 272, respectively 62,14¢ 47,79
Inventories 61,05¢ 55,06:
Deferred income taxes 4,62¢ 6,591
Prepaid income taxes 51C 562
Prepaid expenses and other 5,97t 7,55¢
Total current assets 152,22¢ 141,51¢
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, net 67,20¢ 62,65(
OTHER ASSETS 4,87¢ 5,55¢
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net 205,25t 214,84¢
GOODWILL 360,29: 355,45¢
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, long term 9,76 11,00"
PREPAID ROYALTIES 521 54€
TOTAL ASSETS $ 800,15( % 791,58
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 32,89 $ 24,52:
Accrued liabilities 16,76 16,42¢
Income taxes payable 68¢ —
Current portion of long-term debt 5,00( 7,50(
Current portion of contingent consideration 16,34 9,201
Other current liabilities 59¢ 5,78
Total current liabilities 72,28¢ 63,43"
LONG-TERM DEBT, revolving credit facility 46,41( —
LONG-TERM DEBT, term loan, net of current portion 91,25( 135,00
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, long term 1,14¢ —
Contingent consideration, net of current portion 51,08( 65,84
Other long term liabilities 84 47E
Total liabilities 262,25¢ 264,75:
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE N)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share, 5,00G88res authorized; no shares issued and outsgandi — —
Common stock, par value $.01 per share, 45,00G6;08fks authorized; issued and outstanding 35,4412,00
and 35,060,351 shares, respectively 358 351
Additional paid-in capital 508,26: 500,55«
Retained earnings 32,65 29,56:
Treasury stock, 142,305 shares, at cost (2,109 (2,109
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,269 (1,539
Total stockholders’ equity 537,89: 526,83
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 800,15( % 791,58:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years ended May 31, 2014, May 31, 2013 and May 2012
(in thousands, except share data)

Common Stock Additional Acc;m:rlate Treasury Stock
paid in Retained comprehensive
Shares Amount capital earnings loss Shares Amount Total

Balance at May 31, 2011 2498565 $ 25 $ 371,390 $ 3526¢ $ (1,273 — 8 — $ 405,63¢
Net Loss (5,099 (5,099
Exercise of stock options 193,68:¢ 2 2,15¢ 2,15i
Tax effect of exercise of stock options (295) (295)
Issuance of performance shares, net 64,22 —
Purchase of common stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 103,36: 1 1,201 1,20z
Shares issued pursuant to acquisition 9,479,60 95 117,83 117,92¢
Purchase of common stock for treasury (142,309 (2,104 (2,109
Stock-based compensation 4,09( 4,09(C
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax @ 1)

Balance at May 31, 2012 34,826,53 $ 348 $ 496,370 $ 3017t % (1,279 (142,30) $ (2,109 $ 523,52
Net Loss (612) (612)
Exercise of stock options 16,83t 5 5
Tax effect of exercise of stock options (1,649 (1,649
Issuance of performance shares, net 93,42¢ 1 1
Purchase of common stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 123,55t 2 1,20¢ 1,211
Stock-based compensation 4,60¢ 4,60¢
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (260) (260)

Balance at May 31, 2013 35,060,35 $ 351 $ 50055« $ 2956! $ (1,539 (142,30) $ (2,109 $ 526,83
Net income $ 3,08¢ 3,08¢
Exercise of stock options 105,67t 1,08¢ 1,08t
Tax effect of exercise of stock options (14€) (14¢)
Issuance of performance shares, net 129,70: 1 1
1 s
Stock-based compensation 5,411 5,411
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 26t 26E

Balance at May 31, 2014 35,442,000 $ 35¢ $ 50826: $ 3265 $ (1,269 (142,30 $ (2,109 $ 537,89

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years ended

May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 3,086 $ (612) $ (5,094
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rehcprovided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 24,89¢ 25,22¢ 13,05¢
Amortization of bond discount — — 707
Amortization of acquired inventory basis step-up 15C 3,84t 431
Tax effect of exercise of stock options and isseasfqperformance shares (14¢€) (1,649 (309
Deferred income tax provision 3,16¢ 1,011 (652)
Stock based compensation 5,411 4,60¢ 4,09(
Changes in accounts receivable allowances 46E 33¢ 11¢
Gain on sales of assets — (717) —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (1,719 1,58: —
Loss on discontinuance of product offering — 1,41¢ —
Other a7 157 1,14¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (14,85¢) 1,141 (2,49¢)
Inventories (5,447 (1,909 (1,527)
Prepaid expenses and other 3,037 2,47¢ (4,659
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,24t (20,039 6,67:
Net cash provided by operating activities 25,28( 26,88: 11,497
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment (11,779 (12,120 (2,492)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (4,169 (24,472 (237,31)
Acquisition of intangible assets, net of cash aagli (1,435 (800) (550)
Other cash flows from investing activities — 801 (4,000
Change in escrow receivable — 2,50( (2,500
Purchases of marketable securities (25) (5,139 (123,619
Proceeds from sale or maturity of marketable s@esri 35¢ 16,98¢ 194,11¢
Net cash used in investing activities (17,04 (22,239 (176,36()
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt (146,25() (7,500 (6,550
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit fagili 46,41( — —
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 100,00( — 150,00(
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and ESPP 2,441 1,21« 3,35¢
Payment of contingent consideration previouslyldisiaed in purchase accounting (15,949 — —
Deferred financing costs on long-term debt (677) — (2,37%)
Repurchase of common stock for treasury — — (2,109
Tax effect of the exercise of stock options andasge of performance shares — — 14
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (14,016 (6,286 142,33t
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiamts 86 (65) 49
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,699 (1,706 (22,47¢)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 21,80z 23,50¢ 45,98¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 16,10 $ 21,80: $ 23,50¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—(Continued)
(in thousands)

Years ended

May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash operating simvg and financing activities:

Contractual obligations for acquisition of fixedsats $ 497C $ 154¢ $ 217

Contractual obligations for acquisition of intarigband business 2,24¢ 78,28¢ 117,92¢
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 3591 % 493¢ % 43¢

Income taxes 182 20C 2,83:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A—BASIS OF PRESENTATION, BUSINESS DESCRIPTIONAND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Basis of Presentation and Description of Busiges

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of AngioDynamics, Inc. and its wholly owrsdsidiaries, RITA Medical
Systems, LLC, AngioDynamics UK Limited, AngioDynasgiNetherlands B.V., NM Holding Company, Inc. (Ngst) since May 22, 2012 and
Vortex Medical, Inc. since October 15, 2012, anuhiChl Devices B.V. since August 15, 2013, (colieely, the “Company”). We design,
manufacture and sell a wide range of medical, safgind diagnostic devices used by professiondiioase providers for vascular access, for the
treatment of peripheral vascular disease and inlogg and surgical settings. Our devices are gdigarsed in minimally invasive, image-guided
procedures. Most of our products are intended tasleel once and then discarded, or they may be tamilgomplanted for short- or long-term
use. All intercompany balances and transactions baen eliminated.

Effective June 1, 2012, we consider our busined®ta single segment entity — the development, faatwre and sale on a global basis of
medical devices for vascular access, surgery, pergb vascular disease and oncology. Our chiefatipgr decision maker (CEO) evaluates the
various global product portfolios on a net salesisaxecutives reporting in to the CEO includesthcesponsible for operations and supply chain
management, research and development, sales, isamohrketing and certain corporate functions. CE® evaluates profitability, investment
and cash flow metrics on a consolidated worldwidsiddue to shared infrastructure and resources.tBrfiscal year 2013, our business was
organized as two segments: Vascular and Oncology#8y each under the direction of a general manaik direct responsibility for all sales,
marketing and product development activities.

Regulatory Matters

On May 27, 2011, we received a Warning Letter ftomU.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") inrogection with its inspection of
our Queensbury, NY manufacturing facility. In theakiing Letter, FDA cited deficiencies in the respoitetter we provided FDA pertaining to
inspection that occurred from January 4 to Janidr2011. The deficiencies related to our intepmatedures for medical device reporting,
corrections and removals and complaint handling.r#¢eonded to the Warning Letter and completecectivie and preventive actions to address
the observations noted.

In December 2011, we initiated a comprehensive iquahll to Action Program to review and augment Quality Management Systems at
our Queensbury facility. To accelerate implementatf the program, we engaged a team of extergalatory and quality experts and realloc:
a significant number of engineering and productketigyment resources to support this corporate tiviéaFrom inception of the Quality Call to
Action Program through fiscal 2014, we have inadi$8.2 million in direct costs associated with phegram.

On February 10, 2012, we received from FDA a Fo83, 4.ist of Investigational Observations, in corti@t with its inspection of our
Queensbury facility from November 14, 2011 to Fabyul0, 2012. The Form 483 contained 12 observatielated to, among other things, our
CAPA (Corrective and Preventive Action) system, MRedical Device Reporting), complaint investigaticorrections and removals,
acceptance criteria and training. Some of the elbsiens contained in the Form 483 were repeat ehtiens from the May 27, 2011 Warning
Letter described above.

On February 13, 2012, we received from FDA a Fo&3 ih connection with its inspection of our Fremtatility from January 12, 2012 to
February 13, 2012. The Form 483 contained six ebsiens related to, among other things, our CAP#ey, design controls, risk management
and training. We provided responses to FDA wittbrblisiness days of our receipt of the Form 483s.

On September 24, 2012, we received from FDA a F8in connection with its subsequent inspectioawfQueensbury, NY facility
from September 6 to September 14, and Septemker38ptember 24. This re-inspection followed ogpomse to the original Form 483 issued
by FDA on February 13, 2012. The Form 483 contabetiservations related to 510(k) decisions, complavestigations, acceptance criteria,
corrective and preventive actions and training.bAlt one of the observations in the Form 483 rdl&teevents that occurred before the date that
we had indicated to FDA in our previous responkasaur corrective and remediation activities edab our Quality Call to Action would be
completed. We provided responses to FDA within d&itess days of our receipt of the Form 483.
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On February 4, 2014, FDA completed a compreherfeil@v-up inspection of our Queensbury facility. mspection began on January 14,
2014 and resulted in FDA issuing a Form 483 coirtgione observation. The observation related tartbensistency of certain complaint
investigation elements in certain devices that Hereware and disposable components. The Form d83wation was annotated to reflect that
during the inspection we had corrected the issue thais correction was verified by the inspectaradldition, we provided a response to FDA
within 15 business days of our receipt of the FdB88. We believe that the results of this inspectialidate that all of the Quality System and
current Good Manufacturing Practice issues raisdbla 483s described above have been fully addtesse

On March 31, 2014, FDA completed an inspectionuwf®lens Falls, NY facility. The inspection beganMarch 17, 2014 and resulted in
FDA issuing a form 483 containing 3 observatiortse ©bservations were related to 1) inconsisteneyrafinufacturing product test process used
among similar products, 2) a particular verificatiest of a product, and 3) non-conforming prodauacttrol procedure. We responded to the FDA
within 15 business days of the receipt of the F48&.

During the fourth quarter of our fiscal year endiéaly 31, 2014, we received Certificate to Foreigrv&aments (CFGs) from the FDA
covering all Vascular Access and Peripheral Vasquiaducts manufactured in our Queensbury facility.

We will continue to work closely with FDA to resehany outstanding issues. Unless the items raistigbipreviously disclosed Warning
Letters and Form 483s are corrected to Fbgétisfaction or we come to some other arrangemigmt=DA finally resolving such matters, we m
be subject to additional regulatory or legal actiooluding the issuance of warning letters, injimrt, seizure or recall of products, imposition of
fines or penalties or operating restrictions onfaailities. Such actions could significantly diptwur ongoing business and operations and have &
material adverse impact on our financial positiod aperating results.

2. Fiscal Year
We report on a fiscal year ending May 31.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all unrestricted highly liquid investiteepurchased with an initial maturity of less tilaree months to be cash equivalents. We
maintain cash and cash equivalent balances wieiméiial institutions in the United States in exagfsamounts insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation.

4. Marketable Securities

Marketable securities, which are principally gowveemt agency bonds, auction rate investments ammb@ie commercial paper, are
classified as “available-for-sale securities” ang reported at fair value, with unrealized gaind Exrsses excluded from operations and reported a:
a component of accumulated other comprehensivariadtoss), net of the related tax effects, in stodtters’ equity. Cost is determined using the
specific identification method. We hold investmeintsuction rate securities in order to generagid than typical money market rate investment
returns. Auction rate securities typically are hagbdit quality, generally achieved with municipaind insurance. Credit risks are eased by the
historical track record of bond insurers, whichlbaanajority of this market. Sell orders for angwéty traded through an auction process could
exceed bids and, in such cases, the auction faillsve may be unable to liquidate our position mdkcurities in the near term. During fiscal y
2014 and 2013, we had 1.8 million in investmentsio auction rate securities issued by New Yositesand local government authorities that
failed auctions. The authorities are current inrthterest payments on the securities.

5. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable, principally trade, are gemgidlie within 30 to 90 days and are stated at ansodure from customers, net of an
allowance for sales returns and doubtful accoMuts perform ongoing credit evaluations of our cusgtmsrand adjust credit limits based upon
payment history and the customer’s current creditvioess, as determined by a review of their curcesdit information. We continuously
monitor aging reports, collections and paymentmfoustomers, and a provision for estimated credids is maintained based upon our historical
experience and any specific customer collectiomeisghat have been identified. While such credids have historically been within our
expectations and the provisions established, weataguarantee that the same credit loss ratebwdéixperienced in the future. We write off
accounts receivable when they are determined tombellectible.

60




6. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (uiedfirst-in, first-out method) or market. Approgié consideration is given to deterioration,
obsolescence and other factors in evaluating adizable value.

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at @sst,dccumulated depreciation. Depreciation is céedpusing the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. We etathase assets for impairment periodically ortesges in circumstances or the occurrence of
events suggest the remaining value is not recolergpenditures for repairs and maintenance asegeld to expense as incurred. Renewals and
betterments are capitalized.

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill, indefiniteedl trademarks and acquired IPR&D are amortizeat their estimated useful lives, which
range between three and twenty years, on eithieaiglst-line basis over the expected period of Gepeas revenues are earned from the sales of
the related products. We periodically review thtnested useful lives of our intangible assets awlew such assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate teatdtrying value of the assets is not recover&le.determination of impairment is based on
estimates of future cash flows. If an intangibleetss considered to be impaired, the amount ointipairment will equal the excess of the carn
value over the fair value of the asset.

Acquired IPR&D has an indefinite life and is not@ized until completion and development of thejget at which time the IPR&D
becomes an amortizable asset. If the related grigj@ot completed in a timely manner or the proje¢erminated or abandoned, we may have an
impairment related to the IPR&D, calculated asdkeess of the asset’s carrying value over itsvidine. As of May 31, 2014, we have one
IPR&D asset which was acquired as part of the GinDevices acquisition with a value of $3.6 mitlio

Our policy defines IPR&D as the value assignedtse projects for which the related products hateeceived regulatory approval and
have no alternative future use. Determining theiponf the purchase price allocated to IPR&D reggius to make significant estimates. The
amount of the purchase price allocated to IPR&Beiermined by estimating the future cash flowsaafheproject or technology and discounting
the net cash flows back to their present values.discount rate used is determined at the timeeafsurement in accordance with accepted
valuation methods. These methodologies includeideretion of the risk of the project not achievommmercial feasibility.

At the time of acquisition, we expect that all aicgd IPR&D will reach technological feasibility, bthere can be no assurance that the
commercial viability of these products will actyalle achieved. The nature of the efforts to devéiepacquired technologies into commercially
viable products consists principally of planningsigining, and conducting clinical trials necesgargbtain regulatory approvals. The risks
associated with achieving commercialization inc|uulé are not limited to, delay or failure to obtaggulatory approvals to conduct clinical trials,
delay or failure to obtain required market cleaemor delays or issues with patent issuance,lwlityaand litigation. If commercial viability wer
not achieved, we would likely look to other alteimes to provide these therapies.

Goodwill and other intangible assets that havefinde useful lives are not amortized, but ratlae tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise. Goodwaépresents the excess of the purchase price lnedait value of the net tangible and identifie
intangible assets acquired in each business cotidgrin&oodwill and intangible assets have beenrdEmbat either incurred or allocated cost.
Allocated costs were based on respective fair mamdees at the date of acquisition. We have otengible asset which has been assigned an
indefinite life, the NAMIC trademark that was acepd as part of our acquisition of Navilyst, andaued at $28.6 million .

For goodwill, the impairment test requires a coriguar of the estimated fair value of the reportimg to which the goodwill is assigned to
the sum of the carrying value of the assets amditias of that unit. If the sum of the carryinglue of the assets and liabilities of a reporting u
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, theying value of the reporting unit's goodwill isduced to its implied fair value through an
adjustment to the goodwill balance, resulting inrapairment charge. Our determination of impairmsritased on estimates of future cash flows.

9. Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following four basiteria has been met: (i) persuasive evidenceaharrangement exists; (ii) the price is
fixed or determinable; (iii) collectability is reasably assured; and (iv) product delivery has aeclior services have been rendered. We reca
revenue, net of sales taxes assessed by any gemtadrauthority, as products are shipped, baseshipping terms, and when title and risk of |
passes to customers. We negotiate shipping and tzeds
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on a customer-by-customer basis and products gpezhat an agreed upon price. All product retunust be pre-approved by us and customers
may be subject to a 20% restocking charge. To bepted, a returned product must be unadulteratethrmaged and have at least twelve months
remaining prior to its expiration date.

10. Research and Development

Research and development costs, including sala@oesulting fees, building costs, utilities and austrative expenses are related to
developing new products, enhancing existing prajuetlidating new and enhanced products, manadjimgal, regulatory and medical affairs
and our intellectual property and are expensed@astied.

11. Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs, associated with theildution of finished products to customers, @eorded in costs of goods sold and are
recognized when the related finished product ippstd to the customer. Amounts charged to custofoeshipping are recorded in net sales.

12. Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempatifiigrences between financial statement and inclaxdases of assets and liabilities
loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwardsviich income tax benefits are expected to bezedlin future years. A valuation allowance
been established to reduce deferred tax assétis ihore likely than not that all, or some ponti@f such deferred tax assets will not be realized
The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tasnatrecognized in income in the period whichudek the enactment date. The deferred tax asse
includes net operating losses acquired as pahecitquisitions of Rita, Vortex and Navilyst. Théssses could be significantly limited under
Internal Revenue Code (“IRC") Section 382. An asa\f RITA’'s ownership changes as defined in IRECtBN 382 shows that approximately
$15.8 million (of which $7.1 million had expired asMay 31, 2014) of federal net operating losséknat be utilized due to limitations. In
addition, it is estimated that $13.6 million of &#tate net operating losses will expire priorttlization. An analysis of Vortex’s ownership
changes as defined in IRC Section 382 shows thaeabperating losses will be utilized prior tqpéation. A similar analysis of Navilyst's
ownership changes as defined in IRS Section 38&skiwat approximately $17.5 million of federal nperating losses will not be utilized due to
limitations. In addition, it is estimated that $2 3nillion of Navilyst's state net operating losse#i expire prior to utilization. The gross defedre
tax asset related to the net operating lossextefleese limitations.

We intend to reinvest indefinitely any of our uraefated foreign earnings as of May 31, 2014, tloeee we have not provided for U.S.
income taxes on these undistributed earnings ofaraign subsidiaries. If these earnings were ithisted, we may be subject to both foreign
withholding taxes and U.S. income taxes. Deternonatf the amount of this unrecognized deferredime tax liability is not practical.

13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments include cash and caslivatents, accounts receivable, marketable secsiriiecounts payable, interest rate swap
agreement and contingent earn outs related toctipgsations of Vortex, Microsulis and Clinical Deeis. The carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable sexs1and accounts payable approximates fair valeetal the immediate or short-term maturities.
The interest rate swap agreement has been recardsdair value based on a valuation receivethfem independent third party. Marketable
securities, with the exception of one auction s&teurity, are carried at their fair value as debeech by quoted market prices. The contingent earn
out has been recorded at fair value using the iecapproach.

Our accounting policy defines fair value as thehexge price that would be received for an asspaiorto transfer a liability (an exit price)
in the principal or most advantageous market ferasset or liability in an orderly transaction begw market participants on the measurement
date. This policy establishes a fair value hierarghich requires an entity to maximize the useliervable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.gdliey describes three levels of inputs that mayded to measure fair value which are
provided in the table below.

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for idealtassets or liabilities. Level 1 assets inclugekitime deposits, money market funds,
mutual funds and U.S. Treasury securities thatraded in an active exchange market.
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Level 2

Level 3

Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices suduated prices for similar assets or liabilitieapted prices in markets that
not active; or other inputs that are observableaorbe corroborated by observable market dataufstantially the full term of
the assets or liabilities. Level 2 assets inclu@egdvernment securities and corporate bonds. Whaeted market prices are
unobservable, we obtain pricing information fromimeiependent pricing vendor. The pricing vendoisusgious pricing
models for each asset class that are consisteéminkiait other market participants would use. Thetigand assumptions to the
model of the pricing vendor are derived from maxkatervable sources including: benchmark yielgsnted trades,
broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, benchmaukitses, bids, offers, and other market-relatecad&ince many fixed income
securities do not trade on a daily basis, the nuetlegy of the pricing vendor uses available infotioraas applicable such as
benchmark curves, benchmarking of like securigestor groupings, and matrix pricing. The pricimmaor considers all
available market observable inputs in determinirgedvaluation for a security. Thus, certain sei@sritnay not be priced using
quoted prices, but rather determined from markeeplable information. These investments are incdudé.evel 2 and
primarily comprise our portfolio of corporate anavgrnment fixed income securities. Additionallylinted in Level 2 are
interest rate swap agreements which are valued asmid-market valuation model.

Unobservable inputs that are supportelitts or no market activity and are significantttee fair value of the assets or
liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities inclufileancial instruments whose value is determingdgupricing models, discounted
cash flow methodologies, or similar techniquesyal as instruments for which the determinatiorfienf value requires
significant management judgment or estimation. Thiegory currently includes the auction rate séeawhere independent
pricing information was not able to be obtained #relcontingent Earn out related to the acquisitibWortex and Microsulis.
Our investments in auction-rate securities weresif@d as Level 3 as quoted prices were unavailgibce these auction rate
securities issued by New York state and local guwent authorities failed auction. Due to limitedrked information, we
utilized a discounted cash flow (“DCHfodel to derive an estimate of fair value for @fipds presented. The assumptions
in preparing the DCF model included estimates wapect to the amount and timing of future inteagst principal payments,
forward projections of the interest rate benchmattkes probability of full repayment of the princigmnsidering the credit
quality and guarantees in place, and the ratetofre@equired by investors to own such securitigemgthe current liquidity risk
associated with auction-rate securities. The cgstib earn outs were valued utilizing a discountshdlow method as detailed
below.
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The following tables provide information by levekfassets and liabilities that are measured avédire (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements
using inputs considered as:

Fair Value at May

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31, 2014
Financial Assets
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 44t $ — % — % 44t
Total 44t — — 44F
Marketable securities
U.S. government agency obligations — — 1,80¢ 1,80¢
Total — — 1,80¢ 1,80¢
Total Financial Assets 44k — 1,80¢ 2,25¢
Financial Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreements — 55t — 55t
Contingent liability for acquisition earn out — — 67,42: 67,42:
Total Financial Liabilities $ — % 55 % 67,42. $ 67,97¢

Fair Value Measurements
using inputs considered as:

Fair Value at May

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31, 2013
Financial Assets
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 114 % — % — % 114
Total 114 — — 114
Marketable securities
Corporate bond securities — 30:s — 30:s
U.S. government agency obligations — — 1,85( 1,85(
Total — 303 1,85( 2,15¢
Total Financial Assets 114 30:< 1,85( 2,261
Financial Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreements — 522 — 522
Contingent liability for acquisition earn out — — 75,04¢ 75,04¢
Total Financial Liabilities $ — % 52z % 75,04¢ $ 75,57

There were no transfers in and out of Level 1 amieasurements for the year ended May 31, 2014nDthe year ended May 31, 2013,
Vortex and Microsulis contingent earn outs discddsglow were added to Level 3 fair value instruraent
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The components of Level 3 fair value instrumentefdday 31, 2014 are shown below (in thousands):

Financial Assets Financial Liabilities
Fair Value Measurements

Using Significant Fair Value Measurements

Unobservable Inputs Using Significant

(Level 3) Unobservable Inputs
Balance at May 31, 2013 $ 1,85( $ 75,04¢
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):

Earnings revaluation gain - Included in earnings — (4,999
Earnings revaluation expense - Included in earnings — 3,27¢
Included in other comprehensive income (1€) —
Purchases, issuances and settlements (25) (10,880
Transfers in and/or (out) of Level 3 — —
Contingent consideration - Clinical Devices — 4,97(
Balance at May 31, 2014 $ 1,80¢ $ 67,42:

Contingent Liability for Acquisition Earn Outs

Certain of our business combinations involve theptial for the payment of future contingent coesidion upon the achievement of certain
product development milestones and/or various dtharable operating conditions. Payment of thetaxithl consideration is generally
contingent on the acquired company reaching cepwiformance milestones, including attaining spedifevenue levels or achieving product
development targets. Contingent considerationdsroed at the estimated fair value of the contibhgafestone payments on the acquisition date.
The fair value of the contingent milestone consitlen is remeasured at the estimated fair val@eaeh reporting period with the change in fair
value recognized as income or expense within chanfggr value of contingent consideration in tlensolidated statements of income. We
measure the initial liability and remeasure thbility on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputddaéined under authoritative guidance for fair
value measurements.

Contingent consideration liabilities will be remeeed to fair value each reporting period using getgd net sales, discount rates,
probabilities of payment and projected paymentgd®eojected contingent payment amounts are disedurack to the current period using a
discounted cash flow model. Projected net salebased on our internal projections and extensiadyars of the target market and the sales
potential. Increases in projected net sales anogibties of payment may result in higher fairn@imeasurements in the future. Increases in
discount rates and the projected time to paymewtnesult in lower fair value measurements in therel Increases or decreases in any valuation
inputs in isolation may result in a significantbmer or higher fair value measurement in the future

The recurring Level 3 fair value measurements efdbntingent consideration liability related to ¥artex and Microsulis acquisitions
include the following significant unobservable it ($ in thousands):

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable
May 31, 2014 Technique Input Range
Revenue based payments $ 64,05, Discounted cash Discount rate 4% - 10%
flow Probability of payment 75% - 100%
Projected fiscal year of payment 2015 - 2022
Milestone based payments Discounted cash Discount rate 16%
flow Probability of payment 75% - 100%
3,37( Projected fiscal year of payment 2015
$ 67,42:
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At May 31, 2014, the estimated potential amounirafiscounted future contingent consideration treewpect to pay as a result of all
completed acquisitions is approximately $78.1 willi The milestones associated with the contingensideration must be reached in future
periods ranging from fiscal years 2015 to 2022rgteofor the consideration to be paid.

The fair value of contingent milestone paymenteeissed with the acquisitions was remeasured &4ayf31, 2014 and $51.1 million was
reflected in “Contingent consideration, net of emtrportion” and $16.3 million was reflected in ‘{@nt portion of contingent consideration” on
the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances of contingent toifespayments associated with the
Vortex, Microsulis and Clinical Devices acquisittomeasured at fair value that used significant sentable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):

Balance at May 31, 2013 $ 75,04¢
Purchase price contingent consideration 4,97(
Contingent payments (10,88()
Earnings revaluation gain (4,994
Earnings revaluation expense 3,27¢
Balance at May 31, 2014 $ 67,42:

15. Derivative Financial Instruments

We are exposed to market risk due to changeseénasit rates. We periodically enter into certainvdgive financial instruments to hedge the
underlying economic exposure. The derivative imagrnts used are floating-to-fixed rate interest sataps, which are subject to cash flow hedge
accounting treatment. The cash flow hedge was text@d in May 2012 in conjunction with the early pfiyf the related debt. We recognized
interest expense of $61,000 in fiscal 2012, orctsh flow hedge.

In accordance with authoritative guidance on Actmgrfor Derivatives and Hedging Activities, as arded, our 2002 interest rate swap
agreement qualified for hedge accounting under GAA&the 2006 interest rate swap agreement didBoti. were presented in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value. Changethé fair value of derivative financial instrumemtere either recognized periodically in incom
in stockholders’ equity as a component of accurediather comprehensive income (loss) dependinghather the derivative financial
instrument qualifies for hedge accounting andpjfwghether it qualifies as a fair value or cashwfltedge. Generally, the changes in the fair value
of derivatives accounted for as fair value hedgegecorded in income along with the portions ef thanges in the fair value of hedged items
relate to the hedged risks. Changes in the fairevaf derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedgebe extent they are effective as hedges, are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive indtoses). Both the 2002 and the 2006 swap agreemertsterminated in May 2012 in
conjunction with the early payoff of the relatedte

In June 2012, we entered in an interest rate swe®ement, with an initial notional amount of $10iliom , to limit the effect of variability
due to interest rates on the loan. The Swap Agreemich qualifies for hedge accounting under aritative guidance, is a contract to exchange
floating interest rate payments for fixed intenegé payments of 3.26% of the outstanding balahtieedoan over the life of the agreement
without the exchange of the underlying notional arnts.

16. Stock-Based Compensation

We recoghize compensation expense for all sharedjgesyment awards made to our employees and disdntduding employee stock
options and employee stock purchases related t8togk Purchase Plan based on estimated fair vaiesecognize compensation expense for
our stock awards on a straight-line basis overdheisite service periods of the awards, whicteisegally the vesting period.

The amount of stock-based compensation recognizkdsed on the value of the portion of awardsateultimately expected to vest.
Guidance requires forfeitures to be estimatedeatithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in syset periods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. The term “forfeitures” is distifiotn “cancellations” or “expirations” and represennly the unvested portion of the surrendered
option. We currently expect, based on an analyffsisiohistorical forfeitures, that approximately?8®f our options will vest annually, and we
have therefore applied a 12% annual forfeiture
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rate in determining the stock-based compensatiargetrecorded. We will re-evaluate this estimateogeally and adjust the forfeiture rate on a
prospective basis as necessary. At the end ofdsiing period, the actual stock-based compensatipanse recognized will only be for those
shares that actually vest.

For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2014, May 31328hd May 31, 2012, we used the Black-Scholesoytiicing model (“Black-
Scholes”) as our method of valuation and a singte®a award approach. This fair value is then armpedton a straighline basis over the requis
service periods of the awards, which is generaesting period. The fair value of share basgdpat awards on the date of the grant as
determined by the Black-Scholes model is affeciedur stock price as well as other assumptionssé& lassumptions include, but are not limited
to the expected stock price volatility over thertef the awards, actual and projected employe& stption exercise behaviors, and a risk-free
interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is basethctual data derived from public sources. Tkmeeted stock-price volatility and option life
assumptions require significant judgment which nsakem critical accounting estimates.

We utilize our historical volatility when estimagjrexpected stock price volatility. We use yieldesabn U.S. Treasury securities for a period
approximating the expected term of the award tionasgé the risk-free interest rate. The expected isrbased on our actual historical experience.
The dividend yield is based on the history and etqton of dividend payments. We have not paidd#inds in the past nor do we expect to pay
dividends in the foreseeable future.

17. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share are based on the weighzdge number of common shares outstanding wittamgideration of potential
common stock. Diluted earnings per share furtheuges the dilutive effect of potential common &toonsisting of stock options, warrants,
restricted stock units and shares issuable upovecsion of convertible debt into shares of commtogls provided that the inclusion of such
securities is not antidilutive.

For the period ended May 31, 2014, options andicest stock units issued to employees and non-eyepk to purchase approximately 2.3
million shares of common stock were excluded fromdalculation of diluted earnings per common shartheir inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings pommon share are options and restricted stoitk& iseued to employees and non-employees
to purchase approximately 2.9 million shares of wmm stock at May 31, 2013 as their inclusion wdaddantidilutive compared with options a
restricted stock units issued to employees andamoployees to purchase approximately 2.3 milliorrehaf common stock at May 31, 2012.

The following table sets forth the reconciliatiointlee weighted-average number of common shares:

2014 2013 2012
Basic 35,135,68 34,817,27 25,382,29
Effect of dilutive securities 304,16: — —
Diluted 35,439,85 34,817,27 25,382,29

18. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethie United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféetthe reported amounts of assets and lialsliied disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements. Estimates also affect reported ateatfisales and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those esites.

19. Supplier Concentrations

We are dependent upon the ability of our supptierzrovide products on a timely basis and on fabvleraricing terms. The loss of our
principal suppliers or a significant reduction moguct availability from these suppliers could haveaterial adverse effect on us. We believe that
our relationships with these suppliers are satisfsic
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20. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB expanded the disclosegairements related to changes in accumulated otmeprehensive income (AOCI).
The new guidance requires disclosure of the amafuincome (or loss) reclassified out of AOCI to eaespective line item on the statement of
operations where net income is presented. The geédallows disclosure of the reclassification eithehe notes to the financial statements or
parenthetically on the face of the financial staata. This requirement was effective for reporfiegiods beginning after December 15, 2012
(fourth quarter of our fiscal year 2013). Since guédance only impacts disclosure requirementgdtsption did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance relatetiégoresentation of certain tax information. Thig/peEonouncement provides explicit
guidance on the financial statement presentati@nafnrecognized tax benefit when a net operatisg ¢arryforward, or similar tax loss, or a tax
credit carryforward exists. This pronouncement effactive for fiscal years and interim periods witkhose fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2013 (our fiscal year 2015). Sincegthdance only impacts presentation requiremetstgdoption will not have a material impact
on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsBqaFASB") issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue froon@acts with
Customers" ("ASU 2014-09"). ASU 2014-09 providesragle, comprehensive accounting model for revearisgg from contracts with
customers that supersedes most of the existinguevecognition guidance, including industry-sgeatidance. Under this model, revenue is
recognized at an amount that an entity expects tentitled to upon transferring control of goodsenrvices to a customer, as opposed to when
risks and rewards transfer to a customer undetiegisevenue recognition guidance. ASU 201-09 fsative for the Company beginning in its
fiscal year 2018, and may be applied retrospegtiteehll prior periods presented or through a cativé adjustment to the opening retained
earnings balance in the year of adoption. The Comscurrently in the process of evaluation theat of ASU 2014-09 on its consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTE B—ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of Microsulis Medical Ltd

On March 22, 2012, we established a strategicioelstiip with Microsulis Medical Ltd. (“Microsulis})a U.K.-based company specializing
in minimally-invasive, microwave ablation technojoigr the coagulation of soft tissue.

The relationship included an initial $5 million iestment in Microsulis through the purchase of semieferred stock, representing a 14.3%
ownership position, exclusive distribution rightsmarket and sell their microwave ablation systemal markets outside the United States from

May 2012 through December 2013, and an exclusitierfo purchase at any time until September 22326ubstantially all of the global assets
of Microsulis Medical, Ltd.

On February 1, 2013, we completed the acquisitfaredain assets of Microsulis, which was accouriteds a business combination, for
cash payments at closing totaling $10.6 millionhjsct to a working capital adjustment, a $5.0iomllpayment made on December 31, 2013 and
potential additional cash consideration payablenymerformance over the next nine years. We alsanasg $1.6 million of liabilities.

The total estimated purchase consideration of $8@l&®n included the initial investment of $5.0liiwn , closing payments totaling $10.6
million , a $5.0 million payment made on Decemhkr 2013 and the estimated fair value of contingensideration (Earn out) of $13.2 million .
The estimated fair value of contingent consideratiobased on projected net sales over the ninepggind following the closing. The amount of
the Earn out consideration that could be paid drsales is not limited.

The Microsulis historical financial results weret s@nificant and therefore pro forma results woutd be substantially different. Sales si
the acquisition closed are not significant anddperations of Microsulis have been fully integratexnin the date of acquisition.

The following table summarizes the preliminary restied fair value of the assets acquired and ltaslassumed (in thousands):

Accounts receivable $ 364
Inventories 687
Other current assets 442
Fixed assets 1,90¢
Intangibles 12,50(
Goodwill 19,28¢

Total assets acquired 35,18¢
Liabilities assumed (1,639

Total purchase price $ 33,55(
Cash payment at closing $ 10,56¢
Cash payment for initial investment 5,00(
Present value of deferred payment 4,82(
Present value of contingent consideration liability 13,16¢

Total purchase price $ 33,55(

The estimated purchase consideration exceededitheafue of the acquired net assets by $19.3anillind was recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. Intangiatsets are being amortized over their estimatefdllus/es of which range from 10 to 15 years.
During each of the fiscal years ended May 31, 281d 2013, we incurred acquisition related cos®0a® million , which were expensed to
“Acquisition, restructuring and other items, net'the statement of operations.
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Acquisition of Vortex Medical, Inc

On October 15, 2012, we acquired all the outstandapital stock of Vortex Medical, Inc., a privatéield company focused on the
development and commercialization of medical des/foe venous drainage and the removal of thromtwulood clots, from occluded blood
vessels. Vortex's principal product is the AngioVfaystem, which includes the AngioVac Cannula anduiir The AngioVac Cannula has a
proprietary balloon-actuated, expandable, funnapsld distal tip that enhances flow, prevents cloggif the cannula and facilitates en bloc, or
whole removal of undesirable intravascular mateBakh the AngioVac Cannula and Circuit are FBl&ared for use during extracorporeal byj
for up to 6 hours. CE Mark approval was receiveD@tember 2013.

The stock purchase agreement provided for the patyafés15.1 million in cash at closing, which idgect to a working capital adjustment,
plus future earn out consideration payable in cBalhn out consideration is based on our net sélsedAngioVac system during the ten years
following the closing, payable in the amount of 16%@nnual net sales up to $150 million , 12.5%mfual net sales between $150 million and
$500 million , and 15% of annual net sales aboW@®3$8illion. The Earn out consideration is subject to guasghteinimum payments payable
the anniversary dates following closing, in the ante of $8.35 million on the first, $8.0 million ¢ime second, third and fourth, and $7.65 million
on the fifth anniversary date. If a minimum paymfemta period exceeds the contingent earn out payfoe the same period, the amount of the
excess will be credited against future continganheut payments.

The total estimated purchase consideration of $7fll®n included the upfront payment of $15.1 naifl and the estimated fair value of
contingent consideration of $60.3 million , $40lmail of which is guaranteed. The estimated faiueabf contingent consideration is based on
projected AngioVac net sales in the ten year peisidwing the closing. The amount of the Earn cohsideration that could be paid on
AngioVac net sales is not limited.

The Vortex historical financial results were narsficant and therefore pro forma results would Ibetsubstantially different. Sales since
acquisition and the operations of Vortex have lfatiy integrated from the date of acquisition.

The following table summarizes the estimated falug of the assets acquired and liabilities assunatiousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 33¢
Accounts receivable 20z
Inventories 48¢
Other assets 7
Deferred tax assets 1,307
Intangibles 72,43(
Goodwill 29,51¢

Total assets acquired 104,29:
Deferred tax liabilities (28,340
Liabilities assumed (667)

Total purchase price $ 75,29:
Cash payments at closing $ 15,10¢
Present value of contingent consideration liability 60,30:
Working capital adjustment (115

Total purchase price $ 75,29

The estimated purchase consideration exceededitheafue of the acquired net assets by $29.5anillind was recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. Carehinologies are being amortized over their estichaseful lives of approximately 15 years as
revenues are earned from the sales of the relateldigts. During the fiscal years ended May 31, 281dl 2013, we incurred acquisition related
costs of $0.2 million and $0.6 million , respechiyavhich were expensed to “Acquisition, restruaigrand other items, net” in the statement of
operations.
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Acquisition of Navilyst

On May, 22, 2012, we completed the acquisitionrofgtely-held Navilyst, a global medical device qumy with strengths in the vascular
access, interventional radiology and interventiaaadtiology markets. The acquisition and relataddaction costs were financed through the
issuance of approximately 9.5 million shares of@mmon stock, $150 million in drawn acquisitiorbtdBnancing and $97 millioonf cash. Base
on the closing price of our stock of $12.44 ondhg prior to the transaction, the purchase price agproximately $361 million .

The fiscal year ended May 31, 2013 and 2012 inclu&ie3 million and $11.2 million , respectively,transaction and severance costs
related to the Navilyst acquisition. These costsiacluded in “Acquisition, restructuring and otlitems, net” in the statement of operations.
Investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Bears, former owners of Navilyst, received appraadiety 9.4 million shares of our common
stock and consisted approximately 27% of our ontitey shares. Investment funds affiliated with Aai€apital Partners entered into a
stockholders agreement with us as part of the aicims and also appointed two additional directorgur existing Board of Directors.

To satisfy any working capital adjustment and ptiééimdemnification claims that may arise, $19.ilion of purchase consideration was
held in escrow at May 31, 2013, including approxieha$14.0 million in cash and approximately 416ubkand shares of common stock. The
indemnification claims period will terminate onyudl5, 2013. At May 31, 2012, we had $2.5 milliorre€¢eivable related to the working capital
adjustment recorded as escrow receivable on tlabalsheet. During the third fiscal quarter of 208 received $2.5 million of cash from the
escrow fund to satisfy this receivable.

Goodwill recorded as a result of the acquisitiors $&44.7 million . Intangible assets acquired, othan goodwill, totaled approximately
$107.1 million , of which $49.4 million has beeridified as customer relationships ( 15 -year weidglaverage useful life), $32.5 million of
trademarks (of which $28.6 million has been deteedito have an indefinite useful life and the remimaj $3.9 million has a 7 year weighted
average useful life), $15.1 million of in-procesesearch and development (indefinite useful lifel @ompleted) and $10.1 million of technology
( 6 -year weighted average useful life).

The IPR&D assets, which were accounted for as inileflived assets at the time of acquisition, esgant the development of a biomedical
polymer additive for use in PICC and other vascataress product lines and a power injectable ploitiware valued at $12.1 million and $3.0
million , respectively. The biomedical polymer aildi product recently received regulatory apprarad the product was released in the United
States in October 2012 and is being amortized a\i€r year useful life. The power injectable poeipected to be released in the United States ir
fiscal 2014, subject to regulatory approvals. Tdiealue of these intangible assets was deternbasdd upon the present value of expected
future cash flows adjusted for the probability @ftinological and commercial risk, utilizing a ras#tjusted discount rate.

The following table summarizes the estimated falugs of the assets acquired and liabilities asdymehousands):

May 22,
2012

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,68:
Accounts receivable 19,06¢
Inventories 26,85!
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,50¢
Property, plant and equipment 34,017
Deferred tax assets 34,20¢
Goodwill 144,70"
Intangibles 107,10(
Other long-term assets 497

Total assets acquired 379,63!
Liabilties assumed (18,287

Total net assets acquired $ 361,34¢

See Note G for additional information about chariggbe carrying amount of goodwiill.
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The following supplemental unaudited pro forma imation presents our financial results as if thgugition of Navilyst had occurred on
June 1, 2010 (in thousands):

For the year ended

May 31,
2012
(unaudited)
Net sales $ 365,35
Net income $ 3,891

The above unaudited pro forma information was deitegd based on historical GAAP results of AngioDyiies and Navilyst. The
unaudited pro forma consolidated results are noesearily indicative of what our consolidated resaf operations actually would have been if
the acquisition was completed on June 1, 2010.uRaedited pro forma consolidated net income pripnagiflects adjustments of:

(i) exclusion of $17.6 million of transaction cesind restructuring charges for both AngioDynaraind Navilyst for the year ended May 31,
2012;

(i) inclusion of $4.7 million of interest expensdlated to the $150 million credit facility assateid with the transaction for the years ended
May 31, 2012; and

(iii) tax effecting the unaudited pro forma consolidatetincome and adjustments for the years ended3lag012

Acquisition of Clinical Devices, B.V

On August 15, 2013 we acquired all the outstandhmyes of capital stock of Clinical Devices, B &k¢lusive distributor of our fluid
management products in the Netherlands. The stahpse agreement provided for the payment of ®dlion in cash at closing, which was
subject to a working capital adjustment and a $@ildon holdback, plus future earn out considenagEayable in cash. Earn out consideration is
based on our net sales of the fluid managemenuptsdluring the five quarters following the closamwell as milestone payments for achieving
regulatory approvals of certain in process reseanthdevelopment for a next-generation tip locatémhnology. The total purchase consideration
of $8.7 million includes an upfront payment and ¢éisémated fair value of contingent consideratib®million . (See Note A for additional
information related to the contingent Earn outiligb)

Goodwill recorded as a result of the acquisitiors @wpproximately $4.8 million and is not deductifietax purposes. Intangible assets
acquired, other than goodwill, totaled approxima&s.1 million , of which $3.6 million has been idiéied as in-process research and
development (10-year estimated useful life), $lilian as customer relationships (15-year estimatseful life) and $0.1 million as trademarks
(5-year estimated useful life). We also recordel@f@rred tax liability of $1.2 million .

The acquisition has been accounted for as a pwdrad accordingly, we have included the resultgpefations in the financial statements
effective August 15, 2013. The pro forma effectshef acquisition on our income statement and balaheet were not material.
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NOTE C—MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS
As of May 31, 2014 , marketable securities condistiethe following:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Available-for-sales securities
U.S. government agency obligations $ 1,82 % — % (16) $ 1,80¢
Corporate bond securities — — — —
$ 1,828 % — 3 (16) $ 1,80¢
As of May 31, 2013, marketable securities condistiethe following:
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Available-for-sales securities
U.S. government agency obligations $ 1,85( $ — % — % 1,85(
Corporate bond securities 303 — — 303
$ 2,157 % —  $ —  $ 2,15:
The amortized cost and fair value of marketableisees as of May 31, 2014 , by contractual mayudre shown below. Expected
maturities may differ from contractual maturitieschuse borrowers may have the right to call orgyreligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties.
Amortized Fair
cost Value
(in thousands)
As of May 31, 2014:
Due in one year or less $ — 3 —
Due after one through five years — —
Due after five through twenty years 1,82t 1,80¢
$ 1,82t $ 1,80¢
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NOTE D—INVENTORIES

As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, inventories, net sted of the following:

Raw materials

Work in process

Finished goods
Total

NOTE E—PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER

As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, prepaid expensetret consisted of the following:

Deposits
Other prepaid taxes
Licensee fees
Software licenses
Trade shows
Rent
Insurance
Interest receivable
Other

Total

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013
(in thousands)
$ 24,79¢ % 18,36:
12,13( 11,00¢
24,127 25,69
$ 61,05¢ $ 55,06:
May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013
(in thousands)
$ 3,35¢ $ 4,02¢
20z 45¢
604 597
13C 52(C
62 487
114 13¢
39t 12C
1 2
1,111 1,20¢
$ 597t $ 7,55¢

As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, prepaid income taatdead $0.5 million and $0.6 million , respectivedynd are shown separately on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

NOTE F—PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AT COST

Property, plant and equipment are summarized &snsi

Building and building improvements
Machinery and equipment
Computer software and equipment
Construction in progress

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Land and land improvements

Estimated
May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013 useful lives
(in thousands)
33,12¢ $ 30,15( 39 years
32,09 31,12¢ 3 to 8years
25,83¢ 16,39( 3 to 10 years
12,56« 13,37:
103,61° 91,04:
(37,439 (29,42)
66,17¢ 61,62:
1,02¢ 1,02¢
67,20¢ $ 62,65(

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2042 $8.0 million , $8.7 million and $3.6 milliomespectively.
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NOTE G—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets other than goodwill and indedifiited intangible assets are amortized over #simated useful lives, which range
between three and twenty years, on either a striighbasis over the expected period of benefdasorevenues are earned from the sales of the
related products. We periodically review the estadaiseful lives of our intangible assets and mewach assets for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the iceymyalue of the assets may not be recoverable d@@rmination of impairment is based on
estimates of future cash flows. If an intangibleess considered to be impaired, the amount ofntipairment will equal the excess of the carn
value over the fair value of the asset.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefingeful lives are not amortized, but rather, aséettfor impairment annually or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise. Goodweépresents the excess of the purchase price lowdait value of the net tangible and identifie
intangible assets acquired in each business cotidgnin&oodwill and intangible assets have beenrgmrbat either incurred or allocated cost.
Allocated costs were based on respective fair mmaddees at the date of acquisition. We have otengible asset which has been assigned an
indefinite life, the NAMIC trademark, which was aieed as part of our acquisition of Navilyst, asdralued at $28.6 million .

We test goodwill for impairment during the thirdagter of every fiscal year, and when an event acoucircumstances change such that it
is reasonably possible that impairment exists.gemdwill, the impairment test requires a comparisbthe estimated fair value of the reporting
unit to which the goodwill is assigned to the sunthe carrying value of the assets and liabilibéghat unit. If the sum of the carrying value bé
assets and liabilities of a reporting unit excetbésfair value of the reporting unit, the carryiejue of the reporting unit's goodwill is reduced t
its implied fair value through an adjustment to go®dwill balance, resulting in an impairment clear@ur determination of impairment is based
on estimates of future cash flows.

Effective June 1, 2012, we consider our busined®ta single segment entity — the development, faature and sale on a global basis of
medical devices for vascular access, surgery, perg vascular disease and oncology. Our chiefatipgr decision maker (CEO) evaluates the
various global product portfolios on a net salesisd@&xecutives reporting in to the CEO includestheesponsible for operations and supply chain
management, research and development, sales, isamohrketing and certain corporate functions. CE® evaluates profitability, investment
and cash flow metrics on a consolidated worldwidgiddue to shared infrastructure and resources.tBrfiscal year 2013, our business was
organized as two segments: Vascular and Oncologyé8y each under the direction of a general manaik direct responsibility for all sales,
marketing and product development activities.

To determine fair value, we considered two marlestelol approaches and an income approach. Undemathketdbased approaches, we
utilized information regarding our own as well abficly available industry information to determiearnings multiples and sales multiples. U
the income approach, we determined fair value baesesktimated future cash flows of the reporting, @iscounted by an estimated weighted-
average cost of capital, which reflects the ovdeaitl of inherent risk of a reporting unit and tage of return an outside investor would expect to
earn. We determined the discounted cash flow abekeindicator to determine fair value and thefssigned a weight of 75% with the
remaining 25% assigned to the market approach.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unitusigmental in nature and requires the use of s@amifiestimates and assumptions, including
revenue growth rates, operating margins, discatasrand future market conditions, among otherss@lassumptions are highly sensitive and
changes in these estimates could result in impairnSolely for purposes of establishing inputstfar fair value calculations, we assumed that the
current economic conditions would continue throfigbal year 2014, followed by a recovery thereafteraddition, we applied gross margin
assumptions consistent with our historical trertdsagious revenue levels and used an EBITDA exiltipie of 7.0 to calculate the terminal value
of the reporting unit. In addition, we used a distiorate of 12.0% to calculate the fair value of @porting unit.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment tesbfaBecember 31, 2013. Our assessment of goodwihirment indicated that the fair
value of our reporting unit exceeded its carryiafue and therefore goodwill was not impaired. Tdiefalue of our reporting unit exceeded its
carrying value by 7% . The fair value of the repatunit was reconciled to our current stock madegditalization as of December 31, 2013.

75




Since early November 2008, our stock market capittbn has at times been lower than our sharehslldquity or book value. However,
our reporting unit has continued to generate sicamit cash flows from operations, and we expecbttinue to do so in fiscal 2015 and beyond.
Furthermore, we believe that a reasonable potdmiigdr would offer a control premium for our busisehat would adequately cover the
difference between our stock market capitalizatiod our book value.

We also completed our annual indefinite lived afétMIC trademark) test as of December 31, 2018gisihe income approach to
determine fair value. Our assessment of the NAM#demark indicated that the fair value exceededding/ing value and therefore the asset was
not impaired.

Even though we determined that there was no gobomplirment as of December 31, 2013, the futuioence of a potential indicator of
impairment, such as a significant adverse changggal factors or business climate, an adverseracti assessment by a regulator, unanticipated
competition, a material negative change in relatgps with significant customers, strategic decisimade in response to economic or
competitive conditions, loss of key personnel anaxe-likely-than-not expectation that the reportimit or a significant portion of the reporting
unit will be sold or disposed of, would requireiaterim assessment for the reporting unit prioth next required annual assessment as of
December 31, 2014.

It is not possible at this time to determine if aogh future impairment charge would result oit, does, whether such charge would be
material. Events that could, in the future, regulmpairment include, but are not limited to, deitlg sales for a significant product or in a
significant geographic region.

Adjustments to goodwill for the fiscal year endedyVB1, 2014 and May 31, 2013 are as follows (iuslands):

Total
Balance, May 31, 2012 $ 308,91.
Goodwill recognized from Vortex business combimatio 29,51¢
Goodwill recognized from Microsulis asset acqusitio 19,28¢
Adjustments to Navilyst purchase price allocation (2,257)
Balance, May 31, 2013 $ 355,45¢
Acquisition of Clinical Devices B.V. 4,83¢
Balance, May 31, 2014 $ 360,29:

During fiscal 2014, the change in the carrying eabfi goodwill is the result of the acquisition dfrical Devices, B.V. (See Note B.) Duri
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, there was amstdjent of $0.5 million to the carrying value otkwgoodwill related to working capital. During
fiscal 2013, the $2.3 million reduction in the gamg value of goodwill is primarily the result of$®.9 million payment from former stockholders
of Navilyst and a $1.6 million increase in the \abf deferred tax assets from the Navilyst acqaisiinet of $0.2 million of preacquisition
Navilyst tax adjustment:
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As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, intangible assetsistaw of the following:

Product technologies
Customer relationships
Trademark—NAMIC

In process R&D Acquired
Licenses

Trademarks

Distributor relationships

Customer relationships
Product technologies
Trademark—NAMIC
Licenses

Trademarks

Distributor relationships

Amortization expense was $16.8 million , $16.3 imilland $9.4 million for fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2QXespectively.

May 31, 2014
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying Weighted average
value amortization value useful life
(in thousands) (years)

$ 150,29¢ $ (32,930 $ 117,36¢ 10.2
86,64¢ (37,84%) 48,79’ 11.9
28,60( — 28,60( Indefinite
3,60( — 3,60( Indefinite
7,63¢ (5,219 2,42¢ 8.4
6,34~ (1,882) 4,46: 8.0
90C (900) = 3.0

$ 284,02° $ (78,77) $ 205,25t

May 31, 2013
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying Weighted avg
value amortization value useful life
(in thousands) (years)

$ 150,18: $ (24,83 $ 125,34 10.6
84,47¢ (30,59%) 53,88: 14.8
28,60( — 28,60( Indefinite
6,30z (4,500 1,801 9.0
6,27¢ (1,05¢) 5,217 9.9
90C (900) — 3.0

$ 276,73 $ (61,889 $ 214,84

Annual amortization of these intangible assetxjxeeted to approximate the following amounts farreaf the next five fiscal years (in

thousands):

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

NOTE H—INCOME TAXES

(Loss) income before tax provision:
us
Non-US

$ 15,69:
15,69¢
16,35¢
17,38¢
19,92¢

The components of income (loss) before income taxigion for the years ended May 31 are as follows:
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
$ 583¢ $ 2,670 $ (5,15))
541 2,027 (137)
$ 6,38( $ (647 $ (5,282
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Income tax (benefit) provision analyzed by categamg by statement of operations classificatiortHeryears ended May 31 is summarized
as follows:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Current
Federal $ (133 $ 1,622 $ 44¢
State and local 99 (52) (19)
Non U.S. 157 46¢ 18
12z (1,20¢) 447
Deferred 3,16¢ 1,17¢ (635)
$ 329 % (3) $ (18¢)

The significant components of deferred income twngfit) expense from operations for the years @iy 31 consist of the following:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Deferred tax expense (benefit) $ 1,99¢ $ 1,178 $ (1,722
Impact of NYS tax reform legislation 1,17: — —
Net operating loss carryforward — — 1,08
$ 3,16¢ $ 1,178 $ (635)

Temporary differences that give rise to deferrexktssets and liabilities are summarized as follows:

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforward $ 48,33. % 47,09¢
Stock-based compensation 4,851 4,81z
Federal and state R&D tax credit carryforward 1,24¢ 49C
Inventories 87t 1,71
State tax credits — 1,32¢
Expenses incurred not currently deductible 1,37¢ 88C
Capital loss carryforwards — 95
Deferred revenue 154 1,147
Gross deferred tax asset 56,83¢ 57,56:
Deferred tax liabilities
Excess tax over book depreciation and amortization 42,06 39,252
Impairment of long-lived assets — —
42,06 39,25
Valuation Allowance (1,539 (712)
Net deferred tax asset $ 13,24¢  $ 17,59¢

At May 31, 2014, we had approximately $164.9 millf remaining Federal net operating loss carryéods and $32.7 million of state net
operating loss carryforwards (“NOL"). Approximateit61.5 million of our Federal net operating lossw
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generated by acquired companies and are subjatetmal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 382 limitasowhich are expected to significantly
limit our ability to utilize these net operatingskes on an annual basis. As a result of our IRGABe882 analyses, it is estimated that
approximately $26.1 million of remaining Federal operating losses and $13.0 milliohstate net operating losses will expire prioutitization.
The gross deferred income tax asset (‘DTA”) relatethe NOL reflects these limitations.

In order to ensure the realizability of our defdrtax assets, we need to generate $10.0 millitaxable income for each year from 2015 to
2023 and then $6.5 million of taxable income perytil 2033. If we are unable to meet these mimmntaxable income levels, the deferred tax
assets may still be utilized in future years if we® make up previous year taxable income shost [faior to the expiration of net operating loss
carryforwards. We have determined that we havecserft existing levels of pre-tax earnings to gatesufficient taxable income to realize the
net deferred tax assets recorded on our balanetsshe

In order to support the realizability of our nefeteed tax asset, we projected our pre-tax incotitizing a combination of historical and
projected results. Utilizing this projected pre-tagome, we have projected taxable income takitmdonsideration existing levels of permanent
differences including stock option exercise dedwungiand non-deductible expenses and the reversarificant temporary differences.

Our Federal net operating loss carryforwards ddaf 31, 2014 after considering IRC Section 382 titidns are $138.8 million . The
expiration of the Federal net operating loss camyérds are as follows: $30.7 million between 28hd 2026 and $108.0 million between 2027
and 2033 .

Our state net operating loss carryforwards as of Blg 2014 after considering remaining IRC Sec868 limitations are $19.8 million
which expire in various years from 2015 to 2033 .

At May 31, 2014, we had a net deferred income smetaof $13.2 million , after recording a valuati@iowance of $1.5 million . The
valuation allowance increased by $0.8 million iri2@&nd decreased by $0.5 million in 2013. The Ziihge relates to the true-up of our fully
reserved capital losses and state tax credits etnoperating losses from our fiscal 2013 tax féinghe 2013 change relates to the use of fully
reserved capital losses and the expiration of fidierved state tax credits. The valuation allowarncorded against the deferred tax assets relate:
to state tax credits, capital losses and state Nftdtsmanagement has estimated will more likely that expire before they are expected to be
utilized.
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Our consolidated income tax provision has diffdredh the amount that would be provided by applyting U.S. Federal statutory income
tax rate to our income before income taxes fofdéhewing reasons:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Income tax (benefit) provision $ 329 $ 31 ¢ (18¢)
Effect of Graduated tax rates 64 (6) (59)
State income taxes, net of Federal tax benefit (122) (88) (15€)
State income tax credits, net of Federal tax benefi — 23 69
Impact of Non US operations 27 22¢ (46)
Tax-exempt interest — 2 4
Research and development tax credit 23€ 142 11E
Domestic Production Activities deduction — — 71
Nondeductible acquisition costs — (110 (1,149
Nondeductible interest on contingent payments (540) (130) —
Nontaxable gain on revaluation of contingent comisition liability 1,69¢ — —
Tax law change (1,179 — —
Effect of elimination of ASC 718 APIC pool (440) — —
Nondeductible stock-based compensation (17€) (10¢) (125)
Other nondeductible expenses (384) (33¢€) (33€)
Overaccrual (underaccrual) of prior year Federdl state taxes (249) 10 13€
Fully reserved capital losses — 17¢ (20€)
Other — — 12

Income tax (benefit) provision at statutory taveraf 35% $ 223 % (225 $ (1,849

During the twelve months ended May 31, 2014, wendidrecognize any tax liabilities related to utaiertax positions. Due to our
unrecognized tax benefit being zero upon adoptigti, no change since adoption, no “tabular recdstodin” of the total amount of unrecognized
tax benefits at the beginning and end of the pdsdming presented.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocogrézed tax benefits within our global operatiassa component of income tax expense.
There were no accrued interest and penalties rézadjin the consolidated balance sheet as of Mag@14 and May 31, 2013.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdittion and various state and foreign jurisdiction the normal course of business we are
subject to examination by taxing authorities thtougf the world. The Internal Revenue Service (“IR&mpleted an examination of our federal
income tax returns for fiscal years 2006 and 2@0February 2009 which did not result in a matargact on our results of operations or
financial position. During fiscal year 2012, NewrKdstate completed an examination of our New YdekeSFranchise Tax returns for fiscal ye
2005 to 2008. In relation to this examination, imeotax expense in fiscal 2011 includes an out-obpedenefit of $300,000 to correct an error
that originated in prior years related to certaatestax credits. We assessed the impact of thistadent on the 2011 year and all prior periods
determined that the cumulative effect of the adjestts was not material to the full year 2011 anldndit result in a material misstatement to any
previously issued annual or quarterly financiatesteents. Additionally, as a result of the audit,weze able to claim state tax credits of $210,000
that are recorded in fiscal year 2012.

Fiscal years 2011 through 2014 remain open to enaioh by the various tax authorities. New YorktSta currently auditing Navilyst's
franchise tax filings for 2009 through 2011, werd anticipate any material adjustments will resile analyzed filing positions in all of the
Federal and state jurisdictions where we are redu file income taxes, as well as all open taaryén these jurisdictions and believe that our
income tax filing positions and deductions will destained on audit and we do not anticipate anysamjents will result in a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of og@ras or cash flows.

We do not anticipate that the amount of unrecoghiag benefits will significantly change in the héxelve months.
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The accumulated undistributed earnings of the Caowyipdoreign operations were approximately $4 milli, and are intended to remain
permanently invested in foreign operations. Acaggtli, no taxes have been provided on these earaingsly 31, 2014. If these earnings were
distributed, the Company would be subject to botkifin withholding taxes and U.S. income taxes tim@y not be fully offset by foreign tax
credits. A reasonable estimate of the deferrediahiity on these earnings is not practicablehéd time

NOTE I—PREPAID ROYALTIES

On August 13, 2007, we entered into a Distributdanufacturing and Purchase Option Agreement (Ageeement”) with a company to
acquire the exclusive worldwide rights to manufaetand distribute a split tip catheter for the yk&éd market we have named Centros which
included the option to purchase certain intellelgiuaperty associated with these products in tieréu Under this Agreement, we paid royaltie
net sales of the products covered in the Agreenemiccordance with the Agreement, we prepaid $8lton of royalties based upon the
achievement of certain milestones. At May 31, 2@Eked on lower than anticipated sales resultsgduced the prepaid royalties to net realiz
value which resulted in an impairment loss of $iBion recorded in “Acquisition, restructuring anther items, net” in our fiscal 2011
consolidated statement of operations. In AugustL2@f sold both the tangible and intangible asasstsciated with the Centros product, resulting
in a gain of $201 thousand that is included in “Bistfion, restructuring and other items, net” ie tonsolidated statement of operations for the
year ended May 31, 2012 and the elimination ofeddited “Prepaid Royalties” on the consolidted be¢asheet as of May 31, 2012. We have
entered into various other agreements that requingalty prepayments and these are reported inpdtdeRoyalties” on the May 31, 2014 and
May 31, 2013 consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE J—ACCRUED LIABILITIES
As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, accrued liabilitieasist of the following:

May 31, May 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands)
Payroll and related expenses $ 8,22¢ % 6,491
Royalties 2,62( 2,03¢
Accrued severance 76k 1,60z
Deferred revenue 20C 1,57¢
Sales and franchise taxes 1,32 1,045
Interest rate swap liability 55k 52:
Other 3,071 3,15¢
Total $ 16,76: $ 16,42¢

NOTE K—LONG-TERM DEBT

New Credit AgreementOn September 19, 2013, we entered into a Crediééxgent (the " Credit Agreementwith the lenders party
thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as adminig&ragent, Bank of America, N.A. and Keybank Natlgkssociation as co-syndication agents,
and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Merrill Lynch, Rier Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Keybank Natidsaociation as joint bookrunners and
joint lead arranger:

The Credit Agreement provides for a $100 millionise secured term loan facility (the " Term Ldgrand a $100 million senior secured
revolving credit facility, which includes up to 2@ million sublimit for letters of credit and a $%llion sublimit for swingline loans (the "
Revolving Facility", and together with the TermLoan, the " Facilitles

The proceeds of the Term Loan and a portion optbeeeds of the Revolving Facility were used t@yepur Credit Agreement (the " Prior
Credit Agreement) dated as of May 22, 2012, with the lenders ptrégyeto, JIPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as adminigtragent, Bank of
America, N.A. and Keybank National Association assgndication agents, and J.P.
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Morgan Securities LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fen&Smith Incorporated and Keybank National Asstioiaas joint bookrunners and joint le
arrangers.

The proceeds of the the Revolving Facility may bedufor general corporate purposes of AngioDynamnickits subsidiaries. The Facilities
have a five years maturity. The Term Loan has atgtig repayment schedule equal to 5% , 5% , 10%9% and 65% of its principal amount in
years one through five. Interest on both the TeoarLand Revolving Facility will be based on a brase or Eurodollar rate plus an applicable
margin which increases as our total leverage mtieases, with the base rate and Eurodollar &g ranges of 0.5% to 1.25% and 1.5% to
2.25% respectively. After default, the interesenatay be increased by 2.0% . The Revolving Faailityalso carry a commitment fee of 0.2% to
0.35% per annum on the unused portion.

Our obligations under the Facilities are uncondiidy guaranteed, jointly and severally, by ourenial direct and indirect domestic
subsidiaries (the " Guarantd®s All obligations of AngioDynamics and the Guatars under the Facilities are secured by firstrigicecurity
interests in substantially all of the assets of idABbynamics and the Guarantors.

In June 2012, we entered in an interest rate syemement, (the "Swap Agreement”), with an initiafional amount of $100 million , to
limit the effect of rising of interest rates. The& Agreement, which qualified for hedge accountinder authoritative guidance, was a contract
to exchange floating interest rate payments fardimterest rate payments on the outstanding balafihe loan over the life of the agreement
without the exchange of the underlying notional ame. The Swap Agreement provides for a fixed o&t&74% above the applicable rate
provided for in the Credit Agreement.

On September 19, 2013, we borrowed $100 milliorenride Term Facility and approximately $41.4 million der the Revolving Facility to
repay the Prior Credit Agreement. As of May 31,420891.3 million and $46.4 million were outstandimgler the Term Facility and Revolving
Facility, respectively. The Credit Agreement in@sccustomary representations, warranties and cotsgrand acceleration, indemnity and events
of default provisions, including, among other thintyvo financial covenants. The first financial eoant requires us to maintain, as of the end of
each of our fiscal quarters, a ratio of (i) cordaled EBITDA minus consolidated capital expendguce(ii) consolidated interest expense paid or
payable in cash plus scheduled principal paymentsspect of indebtedness under the Credit Agreeaiarot less than 1.35 to 1.00 . The second
financial covenant requires us to maintain, ahefdnd of each of our fiscal quarters, a ratioovisolidated total indebtedness to consolidated
EBITDA of not greater than 3.75 to 1.00 . We waereompliance with both financial covenants as ol/Nd&, 2014.

Following is a summary of long-term debt as of Mdy 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013
Bank notes $ 142,66( $ 142,50(
Less: current maturities (5,000 (7,500
Long-term debt $ 137,66( $ 135,00(

As of May 31, 2014, future minimum principal payrtean long-term debt were as follows (in thousands)

2015 $ 5,00(¢
2016 8,75(
2017 13,75(
2018 26,25(
2019 42,50(

$ 96,25(

NOTE L—RETIREMENT PLANS

We have a 401(k) plan under which eligible emplsyesn defer a portion of their compensation, panttoch is matched by us. Matching
contributions we re $2.8 million , $2.5 million af@.0 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

82




NOTE M—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
1. Capitalization

On February 27, 2004, our Board of Directors ardRbrmer Parent, as sole stockholder, approvedmanded and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (the “Amended Certificate”). UndeetAmended Certificate, the authorized capital sie@d0,000,000 shares, consisting of
45,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0%hmre and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stackigiue $.01 per share. Pursuant to the
Amended Certificate, (i) each share of voting commtock, $1 par value and (ii) each share of ndimgaommon stock, $1 par value was
reclassified and exchanged into 9,200 shares wéisdully paid, non-assessable common stock foted of 9,200,000 shares to be then
outstanding.

The holders of common stock are entitled to one Y@t each share held. Subject to preferencescatydi to any outstanding shares of
preferred stock, the holders of common stock atileshto receive ratably dividends, if any, as nieydeclared by the Board of Directors out of
funds legally available for dividend payments. H liquidate, dissolve, or wind up, the holders @imon stock are entitled to share ratably in all
assets remaining after payment of liabilities daqdidlation preferences of any outstanding shargseferred stock. Holders of common stock
have no pre-emptive rights or rights to converirtbemmon stock into any other securities. Theeerary redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to the common stock. The rights, prefees and privileges of the holders of common stweksubject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of shareargf series of preferred stock that we may desiginathe future.

Our board of directors has the authority to (iuesshe undesignated preferred stock in one or semies, (ii) determine the powers,
preferences and rights and the qualifications téitiins or restrictions granted to or imposed ugaynwholly un-issued series of undesignated
preferred stock and (iii) fix the number of shacesstituting any series and the designation ok#rees, without any further vote or action by our
stockholders.

Shares issued in Navilyst Acquisitic

On May 22, 2012, a portion of the acquisition agldted transaction costs of the Navilyst acquisitiere financed through the issuance of
approximately 9.5 million shares to investment faiaffiliated with Avista Capital Partners, formevrters of Navilyst, and as of May 31, 2014
they hold approximately 27% of our outstanding ekar

Share Repurchase Progral

On October 5, 2011, our Board of Directors auttegtithe repurchase of up to $20 million of our comrstwck, prior to May 31, 2012.
During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2012, we pasel 142,305 shares at a cost of approximatelyr§@lian . There were no shares
repurchased under this program during fiscal 201204.3.

2. Stock Options

We have two stock-based compensation plans. THass provide for the issuance of up to approxinyae8 million shares of common
stock.

1997 Stock Option Plan

In 1997, we adopted a Stock Option Plan (the “1BRn”). The 1997 Plan provided for the grant to keyployees of both nonqualified
stock options and incentive stock options and tobw®rs of the Board of Directors and consultantsoofqualified stock options. A total of
1,497,674shares of our common stock were available to heedsinder the 1997 Plan pursuant to the exercisptians. All stock options were
have an exercise price of not less than the faiketavalue of the shares on the date of grant.dDptare exercisable over a period of time to be
designated by the administrators of the 1997 Rlahr{ot more than 10 years from the date of gramd) are subject to such other terms and
conditions as the administrators may determine.vEsting schedule is subject to the discretionunfRBoard of Directors. Options are exercisable
immediately upon vesting. In addition, all optiomdether vested or not, become exercisable irrfutiediately upon a change of control, as
defined under the 1997 Plan. The 1997 Plan termhiait March 2007 and as such, no further optiotisowigranted under this plan.

2004 Stock and Incentive Award Plan

The 2004 Stock and Incentive Award Plan (the “2BGh”) provides for the grant of incentive optidosour employees and for the grant of
non-statutory stock options, restricted stock, lstqpreciation rights, performance units, perforogashares and other incentive awards to our
employees, directors and other service providest# of 5,750,000 shares of our
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common stock have been reserved for issuance timel@004 Plan, of which up to 800,000 shares mdgsued upon the exercise of incentive
stock options. The compensation committee of ther@of Directors administers the 2004 Plan. Therodtee determines vesting terms and the
exercise price of options granted under the 20@4,Riut for all incentive stock options the exergisice must at least be equal to the fair market
value of our common stock on the date of grant. f€hm of an incentive stock option may not excesdyears .

On October 5, 2011, we amended the 2004 Stockramahtive Award Plan to increase the maximum nurobshares of our common stock
with respect to which stock options may be grantigihg any calendar year to one employee from Z@0ghares to 500,000 shares.

Stock Option Activity:
The following schedule summarizes our stock optictivity as of and for the years ended May 31, 204dy 31, 2013 and May 31, 2012:

2014 2013 2012
Weighted
Weighted- average Aggregate Weighted- Weighted-
average remaining intrinsic average average
exercise contractual value (in exercise exercise
Shares price life thousands) Shares price Shares price
Outstanding at
beginning of year 2,768,921 $ 14.8¢ 2,985,19; $ 15.6¢ 2,680,391 $ 15.9¢
Granted 391,17 % 13.01 406,70C $ 11.4(C 1,434,000 $ 13.7(
Exercised (105,676 $ 15.3¢ (16,83) $ 11.1¢ (193,689 $ 14.2
Forfeited (278,64¢) $ 17.4¢ (589,78) $ 17.4¢ (917,12¢ $ 14.2:
Expired (102,030 $ 15.6¢ (16,34 $ 15.6¢ (18,389 $ 24.4¢
Outstanding at
end of year 2,673,75 $ 14.8: 456 $ 17,54 2,768,920 % 14.8¢ 2,985,19. $ 15.6¢
Options
exercisable at
year-end 1,675,791 $ 16.1:2 454 $ 12,90¢ 1,601,021 $ 16.12 1,678,55! ¢ 17.01
Options expected
to vest in future
periods 84525t g 13.31 506 $ 3,98¢ 1,069,11' g 13.31 _ 107547 g 14.1¢
Weighted average fair value of options grantedrdptine fiscal years ended May 31, is as follows:
2014 2013 2012

Weighted-average fair value of options grantedrduthe year $ 41C $ 4.1¢ $ 5.62

On May 31, 2014, there remained approximately lillbom shares available for granting of options anthe 2004 Plan. Options are
exercisable into common stock.

All of our options were granted at exercise prieggal to the quoted market price of our commonkséd¢he date of the grants. Options
under these grants vest 25% per year over fousyeaemployees and 100% after one year for ctastdl. Initial grants to directors vest 25%
per year over four years and subsequent gramliseictors vest 33.33% per year over three ye@gstions granted prior to May 1, 2007 expire on
the tenth anniversary of the grant date. Optioastgd on or after May 1, 2007, expire on the sévanhiversary of the grant date. The total
intrinsic value of options exercised was $1.0 milli $0.1 million , and $2.2 million for the yeansded May 31, 2014, May 31, 2013 and May 31,
2012, respectively. We generally issue authoriagdubissued shares upon stock option exercisethargkttiement of performance share awards
and restricted stock units.
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The fair value of the options granted under the7188d 2004 Plans was estimated at the date of gsang the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model assuming no expected dividends and the follpweighted-average assumptions:

2014 2013 2012
Expected stock price volatility 34.4(% 43.91% 49.0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.4% 0.62% 0.7(%
Expected life of options 4.74 4.62 year 4.59 year

The following information applies to options outstiang at May 31, 2013:

Weighted-
average Weighted- Weighted-
remaining average average
Number life in exercise Number exercise
Range of exercise prices outstanding years price Exercisable price
$ 6.52-$11.93 463,96 5.64 $ 11.37 65,83: $ 10.61
$12.06 - $12.97 343,16: 4.86 12.41 155,66: 12.4¢
$13.18 - $13.85 432,42¢ 3.38 13.3¢ 321,34¢ 13.3¢
$13.92 - $14.31 430,00( 4.21 13.9¢ 228,75( 13.97
$14.48 - $15.57 202,88 1.09 15.2¢ 202,88( 15.2¢
$15.75 - $16.58 376,19¢ 3.39 16.0¢ 276,19¢ 16.0:
$16.75 - $19.94 267,52. 1.06 18.1¢ 267,52. 18.1¢
$20.06 - $31.33 157,60: 1.26 23.0¢t 157,60: 13.81
2,673,75. 456 $ 14.8¢ 1,675,79¢ $ 16.12

3. Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Adsr

We grant restricted stock units and performanceesiiaards to certain employees under the 2004 Planperformance criteria is
established by the compensation committee forngstf the performance share awards and may indaaders such as the achievement of certain
sales, operating income and earnings per shares()E®als. Performance share awards are subjectditional conditions, including the
recipient’s continued employment with us. The ie&d stock unit awards vest in equal annual ilmatits over the term of the grants. Unvested
restricted stock unit awards will be forfeitedh&trecipient ceases to be employed by us, compéfesur business or otherwise engages in
activities detrimental to our business before sietle. The performance share awards and restritiekl snits settle in shares of our common
stock on a one-for-one basis.

We value performance share and restricted stodkawdrds based on the closing trading value okbares on the date of grant. We
recognize the compensation cost related to ourvested stock awards ratably over the requisiteiceperiod, or over the performance period
when performance award metrics are expected teHiewvaed, which is consistent with the treatmendipio the adoption of authoritative guidance
on share based payment awards.

Non-Vested Stock Weighted Average
Award Units Grant-Date Fair Value
Balance as of May 31, 2013 482,64: $ 12.1¢
Granted 473,82 13.37
Cancelled (109,63:) 12.4¢
Vested (148,94¢) 12.62
Balance as of May 31, 2014 697,88t 13.0:

The total fair value of restricted stock awardstimgswas $1.8 million , $1.2 million , and $0.9 hah for the years ended May 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.
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4. Unrecognized Compensation Cost:

Under the provisions of authoritative guidance loare based payment awards, we expect to recodr@Zeltowing future expense for
awards outstanding as of May 31, 2014 ($ in thodsan

Unrecognized Weighted Average
Compensation Remaining Vesting
Cost Period (in years)
Stock options $ 3,38: 2.13
Non-vested stock awards 5,62¢ 2.37
$ 9,007 228

Unrecognized compensation cost for stock optiomsasented net of 12% assumed annual forfeitures.

5. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock PeecR&an”) provides a means by which our employeses“participants”) are given an
opportunity to purchase our common stock throughigdedeductions. The maximum number of sharesetoffered under the Stock Purchase
Plan is 1,200,000 shares of our common stock, sutgeany increase authorized by the Board of Danmesc Shares are offered through two
purchase periods, each with duration of approxim#&tenonths , commencing on the first businessafdhe first and third fiscal quarters. An
employee is eligible to participate in an offeripgriod if, on the first day of an offering peridt or she has been employed in a full-time capacity
for at least six months , with a customary workseedule of 20 or more hours per week and morefib@amonths in a calendar yeaEmployee
who own stock possessing 5% or more of the totallioed voting power or value of all classes of stock are not eligible to participate in the
Stock Purchase Plan. The purchase price of thesléicommon stock acquired on each purchase dihteevihe lower of (i) 85% of the fair
market value of a share of common stock on thediy of the offering period or (i) 85% of tharfenarket value of a share of common stock on
the last day of the purchase period, subject tosagjents made by the Board of Directors. The SRagkhase Plan is intended to qualify as an
“employee stock purchase plan” within the meanih§exction 423 of the Internal Revenue Code.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model foudate the purchase date fair value of the shiaseed under the Stock Purchase Plan
and recognize expense related to shares purchaisddirover the offering period.

For the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2082718 , 123,556 and 103,362 shares, respectivele issued at an average price of
$9.30, $9.80 and $11.62 , respectively, undeftiek Purchase Plan. As of May 31, 2013, 423$8f6es remained available for future purch
under the Stock Purchase Plan.

For fiscal 2014, stock based compensation wasr#flién pre-tax ( $3.8 million after tax). For fiat2013, stock based compensation was
$4.6 million pre-tax ( $3.1 million after tax). Fiiscal 2012, stock based compensation was $4liompre-tax ( $2.7 million after tax).
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The following table summarizes stock-based comp&msa accordance with authoritative guidance loars based payment awards for the
years ended May 31, 2014, May 31, 2013 and Ma@12, which was allocated as follows:

May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Cost of sales $ 23z % 271 % 26¢
Research and development 48% 39¢ 73€
Sales and marketing 1,672 1,61( 1,34(
General and administrative 3,03¢ 2,32¢ 1,74¢
Stock based compensation expense included in apgetpenses 5,19( 4,33¢ 3,82z
Total stock based compensation 5,42: 4,60¢ 4,09(

Tax benefit 1,657 1,54( 1,38¢
Stock based compensation expense, net of tax $ 3,76t $ 3,06¢ $ 2,704

NOTE N—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

We are committed under non-cancelable operatirggketor facilities and equipment. During fiscal 202013 and 2012, aggregate rental
costs under all operating leases were approxim&&[y million , $2.5 million and $3.1 million , q@sctively. Future annual payments under non-
cancelable operating leases in the aggregate, ishvame includes an escalation clause, with inigahaining terms of more than one year at
May 31, 2014, are summarized as follows (in thodsgan

2015 $ 1,991
2016 1,64¢
2017 1,18¢
2018 1,09¢
2019 1,09¢

$ 7,007

Litigation Matters
AngioDynamics v. biolitet

On January 2, 2008, we commenced an action in tied)States District Court for the Northern Distiof New York entitled
AngioDynamics, Inc. v. biolitec, Inc. In this aatiowe are seeking judgment against biolitec foedsé and indemnification in two lawsuits which
we previously settled. Our claims arise out of a@yand Distribution Agreement (“SDA”) enteredanwith biolitec on April 1, 2002. On
September 27, 2011, the U.S. District Court forNoethern District of New York granted key portioosour motion for summary judgment in «
legal case against biolitec. The Court’s order filad under seal. The Court also dismissed bidgbteounterclaims against us. The court denied
one portion of our summary judgment motion, whiohght to recover additional costs from biolite@vimg this for adjudication at trial. On
November 8, 2012, the Court granted partial judgrteens in the amount &$23.2 million . Biolitec appealed this judgment. Bugust 23, 2013,
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circushdssed biolitec's appeal.

In October 2009, we commenced an action in theddrffitates District Court for the District of Madsasetts entitled AngioDynamics, Inc.
v. biolitec AG and Wolfgang Neuberger. The Compiairthis action was amended in March 2010. Thi®acseeks to recover against biolitec,
Inc.’s parent entities and CEO for tortiously iféeing with biolitec, Inc.’s contractual obligatidaa defend and indemnify us, and also seeks to
pierce the corporate veil of biolitec, Inc. andrtealidate certain alleged fraudulent transfersridier to hold biolitec, Inc.’s parent entities jiyn
and severally liable for the alleged breach ofSBA. This case is currently in the discovery ph&e September 13, 2012, the Massachusetts
Court granted our request for a preliminary injimreprohibiting the downstream merger of bioliteG Avith its Austrian subsidiary. On April 1,
2013,
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the U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Circuitiaffed the preliminary injunction. On January 14120the District Court entered judgment in our
favor against Biolitec AG, Biomed Technology Holg#, Ltd., and Wolfgang Neuberger, jointly and seihgrin the amount of $74.9 million .
The defendants have appealed this judgment, arapieal has not yet been briefed.

On August 29, 2013, we become mlaintiffs in an adversary proceeding in the Unisates Bankruptcy Court for the District of Newséy
entitled Cyganowski, Trustee, et al. v. BioliteSU.Inc., et al. In this action, we assert clairhsamversion, unjust enrichment, tortious
interference, and unfair competition against vagibiolitec entities for alleged violation of Bankitay Court settlement and sale orders under
which we acquired certain assets of Biolitec, [Bn.September 3, 2013, we, along with our co-pffjrtbtained a temporary restraining order
against the defendants in this action. The restrgiorder is still in place, and the Bankruptcy itdsi seriously considering our request for
permanent injunctive relief.

C.R. Bard, Inc. v. AngioDynamics, Inc.

On January 11, 2012, C.R. Bard, Inc. filed a suthe United States District Court of Utah claimgegtain of our implantable port products
infringe on patents held by them. Bard is seekingpecified damages and other relief. The CourtedkBard’s motion for pre-trial consolidation
with separate actions it filed on the same dayrejdledical Components, Inc. and Smiths Medical ABD., but has asked for supplemental
briefing on the issue of whether to conduct a comidarkman hearing. We filed petitions for reexantimain the US Patent and Trademark
Office which seek to invalidate all three patergseated in the litigation. Our petitions have bgemted and 40 of 41 patent claims have been
rejected. The reexamination proceedings are onggdihe case has been stayed pending final resolatithe PTO process. We believe these
claims are without merit and intend to defend thégorously. We have not recorded an expense retatéte outcome of this litigation because it
is not yet possible to determine if a potentiakl@sprobable nor reasonably estimable.

We are party to other legal actions that ariséaéndrdinary course of business. We believe thatiahility resulting from any currently
pending litigation will not, individually or in thaggregate, have a material adverse effect onuinéss, financial condition, results of operatj
or cash flows.

Future Purchase Obligations

We have entered into commitments for future minimowentory purchases related to several core ptediiotal future purchase
obligations through fiscal 2018 amount to $12.5ioml. There are no such obligations thereafter.

NOTE O—SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
Segment informatior

We consider our business to be a single segmeity erthe development, manufacture and sale obajbasis of medical devices for
vascular access, surgery, peripheral vasculargissad oncology. Our chief operating decision m@k&O) evaluates the various global product
portfolios on a net sales basis. Executives rapgiti to the CEO include those responsible for afpens and supply chain management, research
and development, sales, franchise marketing andicerorporate functions. The CEO evaluates ptafitg, investment and cash flow metrics on
a consolidated worldwide basis due to shared itrfresire and resources. Prior to fiscal year 20L8 business was organized as two segments:
Vascular and Oncology/Surgery, each under the titreof a general manager with direct responsibitir all sales, marketing and product
development activities.

Total sales by product category are summarizedabgiothousands):

Year Ended
May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012
Net sales by Product Category
Peripheral Vascular $ 192,65t $ 179,68. $ 95,20(
Vascular Access 106,39 106,69( 63,857
Oncology/Surgery 49,36( 47,15¢ 62,73(
Supply Agreement 6,04t 8,49¢ —
Total $ 354,45! % 342,02t % 221,78
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Geographic information
Total sales for geographic areas are summarizesvi@ thousands):

Year Ended
May 31, May 31, May 31,
2014 2013 2012
Net sales by Geography
United States $ 280,19: $ 266,33t $ 188,18
International 68,21¢ 67,19( 33,60(
Supply Agreement 6,04t 8,49¢ —
Total $ 354,45! $ 342,02t $ 221,78

For fiscal years 2014, 2013 and 2012, Internatisabds as a percentage of total net sales were 20% and 15% , respectively. Sales to
any one country outside the U.S., as determineshipment destination, did not comprise a matewafipn of our net sales in any of the last three
fiscal years. 99% of our total assets are locatffuimthe United States.

NOTE P—RESTRUCTURING

On December 5, 2013, we announced a company-wigiaitipnal excellence program designed to save leet$@5 and $18 million
during the course of the next three years. Thatnie is expected to create greater efficienciebdrive business performance improvements by
focusing on several key elements, including prodatibnalization, lean manufacturing initiativeapply chain optimization and enterprise
resource planning (ERP) implementation. The plan alcorporates the consolidation of our New Yddafs to establish a single manufacturing
center in Glens Falls and a distribution centé@ueensbury. During the course of the three-yeagrar, it is expected that we will reduce our
New York employee base by approximatel-100 positions as a result of this plant consoliteand reorganization. Over the three year period,
we expect to invest $5.4 million in facility imprements. In addition, total restructuring chargesemtimated to be $4.7 milliorThe program wz
launched in the third quarter of fiscal 2014 arel¢hst incurred was $1.4 million , consisting ofgdillion of severance and related costs, $0.7
million of accelerated depreciation and $0.1 millio other costs. These costs are included in “#sition, restructuring and other items, net” in
the statements of income.

NOTE Q—QUARTERLY INFORMATION (unaudited)

During the preparation of its fiscal 2014 consdkdifinancial statements, the Company identified@rounting error related to the January
2014 implementation of our global enterprise reseynlanning system which resulted in the Compaogréng lower cost of goods sold during
the third quarter of 2014. The Company has evadle impact of this error and has concluded thiatérror was not material to any previously
issued financial statements. However, the Compasyetected to revise this error in the Annual Repoeri-orm 10-K that will be filed with SEC
for the period ending May 31, 2014. AdditionallgetCompany has reflected the revision for thesw®in the quarterly financial information
tables presented below.
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The following table summarizes the impact of immateerrors in the Company's consolidated statemehbperations, consolidated bala

(In thousands, except per share data)
Quarter Ended February 28, 2014
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Income before income tax provision
Income tax expense
Net income
Income per common share
Income per diluted share
As of February 28, 2014
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Inventory, net
Income tax payable
Nine Months Ended February 28, 2014
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Net income
Change in inventories
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

sheets and consolidated statements of cash flawkd@eriod ended February 28, 2014:

As Previously

Quarterly results of operations during the fisedns ended 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Net sales
Gross profit
Net income (loss)

Earnings per common share
Basic
Diluted

Reported Adjustments As Revised

$ 42,56( 717 43,27

45,63¢ (7179 44,91¢

7,56¢ (717) 6,852

5,58¢ (717) 4,861

47¢€ (300 17€

5,10¢ (417) 4,691

0.1t (0.01) 0.14

0.14 (0.0)) 0.1z

59,83 (717) 59,117

87¢ (300 57¢

5,10¢ (417) 4,691

(4,225 717 (3,509¢)

2,69¢ (300 2,39¢

$ 15,17¢ — 15,17«

2014
First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)

83,57¢ $ 88,61t $ 88,19F $ 94,06¢
42,48: 44,93( 44,91¢ 47,53:
(426) (99) (1,079
(0.01) 0.14 (0.0%)
(0.01) 0.1z (0.0%)
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2013

First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $ 83,40¢ $ 87,000 $ 81,57. $ 90,04:
Gross profit 39,45¢ 44,08¢ 41,20: 44,24:
Net income (loss) (727) 1,96¢ (992) (86¢)
Earnings per common share

Basic (0.02) 0.0¢ (0.0%) (0.09)
Diluted (0.09) 0.0¢ (0.09) (0.09)

The data in the schedules above has been inteliyiooanded to the nearest thousand and therefaretiarterly amounts may not sum to
the full year amounts.

The first quarter results of fiscal 2014 includedAcquisition, restructuring and other items, néil.2 million in Navilyst related
acquisition costs and $0.3 million in Clinical De#s related acquisition costs. The second qudrfescal 2014 included $1.6 million in Navilyst
related acquisition costs and $0.8 million in Eiipn related costs. The third quarter of fiscadl2thcluded $1.4 million in Navilyst related
acquisition costs and $1.0 million in consolidatairarges. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 inctlifié.3 million in Navilyst related acquisition
costs, $1.1 million in litigation charges and $t#lion in consolidation charges.

The first quarter results for fiscal 2013 includedAcquisition, restructuring and other items, h&2.2 million in transaction and related
costs of the Navilyst acquisition and $337 thousarzbsts associated with the decision to closd ufacility. The 2013 second quarter results
included $1.7 million for Navilyst transaction c®s$476 thousand for the UK closure costs, $426gi0d in litigation costs and $325 thousand
costs related to the Vortex acquisition, offse$y0 thousand gain on sale of a product line. TH2hird quarter results included $1.6 million
costs related to the discontinuance of a prodoet 1.3 million in Navilyst transaction costs, 83Bousand for the UK closure costs, $901
thousand in litigation costs and $414 thousandangaction costs of the Vortex and Microsulis asijons. The 2013 fourth quarter results
included $2.1 million for Navilyst transaction ces$717 thousand in UK closure costs, and $580stdliin litigation costs.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

SCHEDULE Il -VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions -

Balance at Charged to

Beginning costs and Balance at
Description of Year expenses Deductions End of Period
Year Ended May 31, 2012
Allowance for deferred tax asset 1,13¢ 20¢ (14€) (b) 1,19¢
Allowance for sales returns and doubtful
accounts 48¢ 4,85¢ (4,417 @ 93¢
Totals $ 161¢ $ 5,067 $ (4,557 $ 2,12¢
Year Ended May 31, 2013
Allowance for deferred tax asset 1,19¢ — (484) (b) 712
Allowance for sales returns and doubtful
accounts 932 4,13¢ (3,799 @ 1,27
Totals $ 2,12¢ $ 4,132 $ (4,279 $ 1,98¢
Year Ended May 31, 2014
Allowance for deferred tax asset 712 81¢ — (b) 1,531
Allowance for sales returns and doubtful
accounts 1,272 7,342 (6,87¢) (a) 1,73¢
Totals $ 1,982 % 8,161 $ (6,87¢) $ 3,267

(a) Previously reserved sales returns and accountewdff as uncollectibl
(b) Use of fully reserved capital losses and expiratibfully reserved state tax cred
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1éf(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredaltyp authorized.

ANGIODYNAMICS, INC.
Date: August 14, 2014 By: /s/ HOwWARD W. D ONNELLY

Howard W. Donnelly,
Chairman of the Board, Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblptihe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Date: August 14, 2014 /sl HowaARD W. D ONNELLY
Howard W. Donnelly,
Chairman of the Board, Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /sl JOSEPHM.DEV IvO
Joseph M. DeVivo

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 14, 2014 /sl MARK T.FROST
Mark T. Frost

Executive Vice President—Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer (Principal Financial and Chief Accounting Officer)

Date: August 14, 2014 /s/ WESLEY E. JOHNSON, JR.

Wesley E. Johnson, Jr.,
Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /sl JErFFREY G. GOLD
Jeffrey G. Gold,
Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /s/ DENNIS S. METENY

Dennis S. Meteny,
Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /sl STEVENR. L APORTE
Steven R. LaPorte,
Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /s/ KEvVIN J. GouLD
Kevin J. Gould,
Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /s/ DAvVID B URGSTAHLER
David Burgstahler,
Director

Date: August 14, 2014 /sl SRIRAM V ENKATARAMAN

Sriram Venkataraman,
Director
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2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

3.1

3.2

EXHIBITS

Exhibits

Master Separation and Distribution Agreemeffgctive as of May 2004, between E-Z-EM, Inc. &mjioDynamics, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of th@r@any’s registration statement on Form S-1/Aedfivith the
Commission on May 12, 2004).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 15, 2y and between AngioDynamics, Inc., Oncobiolmic, and the
shareholders of Oncobionic, Inc. (incorporateddfgnence to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s quarteglyort on Form 10-
Q, filed with the Commission on January 11, 2007).

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Mid»ez 27, 2006, by and among AngioDynamics, IncyaRg LLC and
RITA Medical Systems, Inc. (incorporated by refex@io Annex A of the Company’s Registration Stateinosm Form S-
4, filed with the Commission on December 8, 2006).

Amendment No. 1, dated December 7, 2006 g®tdreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Nove2ibe2006, by and
among AngioDynamics, Inc., Royal I, LLC and RITA teal Systems, Inc. (incorporated by referencenoex E of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, i@t the Commission on December 8, 2006).

Amendment No. 2, dated January 16, 2007 gdtreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Nove2ibe2006, by and
among AngioDynamics, Inc., Royal |, LLC and RITA Meal Systems, Inc. (incorporated by referencexboiltit 2.1 of
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K, filedhwtihe Commission on January 16, 2007).

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Ap2i008, by and between Diomed Holdings, Inc. andhiid, Inc., as sellers
and AngioDynamics, Inc., as Buyer (We agree toifilirto the Commission, upon request, a copy of eabbbit to this
Asset Purchase Agreement).

Sale of the Business and Assets of Diomedteiir(in administration), dated April 10, 2008, mdaetween
AngioDynamics, Inc., Diomed Limited (in adminisirat) and Steve Law (as administrator) (We agrdertaish to the
Commission, upon request, a copy of each exhiihitoStock Purchase Agreement).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of January02@, By and among AngioDynamics, Inc., NM Holdingn@pany, Inc
(“Navilyst”), the stockholders of Navilyst who amr, will be before the closing set forth on thensiture pages thereto,
solely with respect to, and as specified in, Sesti®.4 and 7.11(b) thereof, the Optionholders wtezete joinder
agreements thereto, and, solely with respect thaarspecified in, Section 2.6 and Article XlI tef, Avista Capital
Partners GP, LLC, in its capacity as sellers’ repngative (incorporated by reference to Exhibitd.the Company’s
current report on Form 8-K filed with the Commissian February 3, 2012).

Stockholders Agreement, dated as of May 222 28mong AngioDynamics, Inc. and the stockholdetgorth on the
signature pages thereto (incorporated by referemEshibit 2.2 of the Company’s current report arrh 8-K filed with
the Commission on May 25, 2012).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Oc&ar12, by and among AngioDynamics, Inc., Voitedical, Inc.
(“Vortex”), the stockholders of Vortex set forth thre signature pages thereto, the optionholde¥®akx set forth on the
signature pages thereto and CHTP Management Sgriae, as sellers’ representative (incorporatecekerence to
Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s current report on F@+K, filed with the Commission on October 12, 212

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpamgincorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 af Bompany’s quarterly
report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission oct@er 7, 2005).

Amended and Restated By-laws (incorporatekfgrence to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s quarteelyort on Form 1@,
filed with the Commission on October 7, 2005).
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4.1

4.2

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4
10.2

10.3.1

104.1

10.4.2

10.5.1

10.6

10.7

10.8

Credit Agreement, dated as of September 118,28y and among AngioDynamics, Inc., the lendarsypthereto,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative adgark of America, N.A. and Keybank National Assticia as co-
syndication agents, and J.P. Morgan Securities IN&yill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporataold Keybank
National Association as joint bookrunners and jteaid arrangers (incorporated by reference to Exhtbhl of the
Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed with iemmission on September 24, 2013).

Except as set forth in Exhibit 4.4 above,ittstruments defining the rights of holders of lcegm debt securities of the
Company and its subsidiaries have been omittedag¥ee to furnish to the Commission, upon requesbpg of each
instrument with respect to issuances of long teetnt @f the Company and its subsidiaries.

AngioDynamics, Inc. 1997 Stock Option PEsmamended by the Board and Shareholders on Fel@1,a2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of tr@pany’s registration statement on Form S-1, fdledMarch 5, 2004).
AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock and Incentwvard Plan (as amended) (incorporated by referemthe Company’s
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filedhithe Commission on September 10, 2012).

AngioDynamics 2013 Total Shareholder ReRgrformance Unit Agreement Program (incorporateceberence to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's current report onnr@&K filed with the Commission on November 5, 2013
AngioDynamics 2014 Total Shareholder ReRgrformance Unit Agreement Program.

AngioDynamics, Inc. Employee Stock Purchdae fas amended) (incorporated by reference t€trepany’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Cassion on September 10, 2012).

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreetqamrsuant to the AngioDynamics, Inc. Stock anceimiive Award Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of tr@@any’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q, filed witle Commission on
October 12, 2004).

Form of 2013 Performance Share Award Agreementyamtsto the AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock and fige Award
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2hef Company’s current report on Form 8-K, filedhwtihe Commission
on May 12, 2005).

Form of 2014 Performance Share Award Agreementyamtsto the AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock and fige Award
Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreememspant to the AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock archtive Award Plan
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s cunreport on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission omywil2, 2005).

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 1994 Incentiveckt®lan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1df. Rita Medical Systems
registration statement on Form S-1, filed with @@mmission on May 3, 2000)

Horizon Medical Products, Inc. 1998 Stoclelmttve Plan (incorporated by reference to ExhiBitll of Horizon Medical
Products’ registration statement on Form S-1, filéth the Commission on February 13, 1998.

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 2000 Stock Plaodiiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of RitadMal Systems
registration statement on Form S-1/A, filed wite tBommission on June 14, 2000).
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10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12.1

10.13
10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

14

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 2000 DirectorgicBtPlan, as amended on June 8, 2005 (incorpobgteeference to Exhibit
99.2 of Rita Medical System’s registration statehtenForm S-8, filed with the Commission on July2805).

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 2005 Stock ameértive Plan (incorporated by reference to ExI8Bitl of Rita Medical
System’s registration statement on Form S-8, fil@tl the Commission on July 8, 2005).

Form of Indemnification Agreement of Angiai2ynics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to ExHibitl of the
Company’s current report on Form 8-K, filed witletBommission on May 12, 2006).

Form of Severance Agreement of AngioDyigamninc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16f.the Company’s
current report on form 8-K, filed with the Commizsion October 31, 2007).

Form of Change in Control Agreement.

Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, by betlveen AngioDynamics, Inc. and Jan Keltjens,didsnuary 19, 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of tt@r@any’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with #Bemmission on
January 23, 2009).

Restricted Stock Agreement, by and betweggiobynamics, Inc. and Jan Keltjens, dated Jani@y®009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of tr@rpany’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with f@iemmission on
January 23, 2009).

Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, by betdlveen AngioDynamics, Inc. and Eamonn Hobbs dddaeuary 20,
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Thef Company’s current report on Form 8-K, filedhwtihe Commission
on January 23, 2009).

Employment Agreement, dated August 15, 2Bétiyeen AngioDynamics, Inc. and Joseph M. DeVikmodrporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s currepiort on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission onghist 16, 2011,
2011).

Change in Control Agreement, dated Augus2@%1, between AngioDynamics, Inc. and Joseph &Vilo
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of tr@mpany’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with f@iemmission on
August 16, 2011, 2011).

AngioDynamics, Inc. Fiscal Year 2012 Semgecutive Equity Incentive Program (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit
10.30 of the Company’s annual report on Form 1@i#&d with the commission on August 12, 2011).

Separation and General Release, by and &etvegioDynamics, Inc. and Jan Keltjens, dated 13011
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of trerpany’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with f@iemmission on
June 14, 2011).

Retirement and Separation Agreement andr@leRelease, dated November 19, 2012, between Bygiamics, Inc.
and D. Joseph Gersuk (incorporated by referenésaibit 10.1 of the Company’s current report onr@-K, filed with
the Commission on November 21, 2012).

Change in Control Agreement, effective Nolven80, 2012, between AngioDynamics, Inc. and Markrost
(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 of tieenPany’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with tBemmission on
November 21, 2012).

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference tbiliik14 of the Company’s current report on For{,&iled with the
Commission on May 12, 2006).
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21

23

31.1
31.2
32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to EkRil of the Company's annual report on Form 1fleéd with the
Commission on August 14, 2013).

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an amgnt registered public accounting firm.
Certification by the Chief Executive Offidearsuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002.
Certification by the Chief Financial Offideursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002.

Certification by the Chief Executive Offidearsuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as AdopteduBntgo Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification by the Chief Financial Offideursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as AdopteduBatgo Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Schema Document

XBRL Calculation Linkbase Documents

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linklea®ocument
XBRL Labels Linkbase Documents

XBRL Presentation Linkbase Documents
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Exhibit 10.13
CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREEMENT

THIS CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”’js made as of the , 2013 betv
AngioDynamics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (theoftpany”),and [Executive], an individual resident of the Stal
New York (‘Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company considers it essential to libst interests of its shareholders to foster thetimoec
employment of key management personnel; and

WHEREAS, the Board recognizes that, as is the wétbermany publicly held corporations, the posstpilbf a Chang
in Control exists and that such possibility, and timcertainty and questions which it may raise ajmaanagement, m
result in the departure or distraction of managemersonnel to the detriment of the Company anghgseholders; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that appropstps should be taken to reinforce and encouragedhtinue
attention and dedication of members of the Comgamanagement, including the Executive, to theiigassl dutie
without distraction in the face of potentially digbing circumstances arising from the possibilityadChange in Control;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premised #ae mutual covenants herein contained, the Coynaad th:
Executive hereby agree as follows:

1. Defined Terms The definitions of capitalized terms used in thggeement are provided in the last Section he

2. Term of Agreement The Term of this Agreement shall commence ordite hereof and shall continue in ef
through December 31, 2013; provided, however,dfattive January 1, 2014 and each January 1 therethe Term thi
is then in effect shall automatically be extendeddne additional year unless the Company has gnaice before tr
January 1 in question that the Term that is inotfd the time such notice is given will not beesxted; and furth
provided, however, that if a Change in Control esaduring the Term, the Term shall expire no eathan twelve (12
calendar months after the calendar month in whiath <Change in Control occurs. Notwithstanding thiedoing, thi
Agreement shall terminate if the Executive ceaedset an employee of the Company and its subsididmieany reasc
prior to a Change in ContrcHowever, anything in this Agreement (including f{m@ceding sentence) to the cont
notwithstanding, if a Change in Control occurs #@ndvithin three months prior to the date on whistich Change
Control occurs, the Executive's employment with @wnpany is terminated by the Company without Causan ever
occurs that would, if it took place after the Chamg Control, constitute Good Reason for termimatd employment
the Executive, and if it is reasonably demonstragthe Executive that such termination of emplogtri®y the Compar
or event constituting Good Reason for terminatiberaployment by the Executive (a) was undertaketheatrequest of
third party who has taken steps reasonably cakuilet effect the Change in Control, or (b) otheenasose in connecti
with or in anticipation of the Change in Contrdieh for purposes of this Agreement such terminatioemployment b
the Company without Cause or event constituting dsBeason shall be deemed to occur during the 1Zhhmerioc
following the Change in Control and, if the Exegatierminates his employment for such Good Reastoréthe Chan
in Control, such termination of employment by thee&utive shall likewise be deemed to occur durimg 12 mont
period following the Change in Contr




3. Company's Covenants Summarizéd order to induce the
Executive to remain in the employ of the Compang isnconsideration of the Executive's covenantda#h in Section
hereof, the Company agrees, under
the conditions described herein, to pay the Exeeutie Severance Payments and
the other payments and benefits described hergoegdE as provided in Section 2, Section 6.3, SeAQid or Section 14
hereof, no amounts shall be payable under this ekxgemt unless the Executive's employment with thengzon
terminates following a Change in Control and durthg Term. This Agreement shall not be construedraating a
express or implied contract of employment enforéealgainst the Company nor, except as providedetti@ 4 below
enforceable against the Executive, and, exceptheswise agreed in writing between the Executivé tie Company, t
Executive shall not have any right to be retaimethe employ of the Company.

4. The Executive's Covenantdhe Executive agrees to remain in the employhef@Gompany, subject to the tel
and conditions of this Agreement, if a Potentiab@pe in Control occurs during the Term and the Etee is then in th
employ of the Company, until the earliest of (& tlate which is six (6) months from the date ohsBotential Change
Control, (b) the date of a Change in Control, (& date of termination by the Executive of the Exige's employment fi
Good Reason or by reason of death, Disability dir&eent, or (d) the termination by the Companytref Executive
employment for any reason; provided that Execusiagreement to remain in the employ of the Comsliayl be subje
to the condition that no adverse change occurs Hfte Potential Change in Control in his title, idst responsibilitie
authority, reporting relationships, compensati@nédfits or indemnification rights.

5. Certain Compensation Other Than Severance Payments

5.1 If the Executive's employment shall be terminatedany reason following a Change in Control andrauthe
Term, the Company shall pay the Executive hisdalary through the date of termination at the imateffect immediatel
prior to the date of termination or, if higher, tree in effect immediately prior to the first oc@nce of an event
circumstance constituting Good Reason, togethdr alitcompensation and benefits payable to the Ekerthrough th
date of termination under the terms of the Commaogmpensation and benefit plans, programs andgenaents as
effect immediately prior to the date of terminatim if more favorable to the Executive, as in effenmediately prior t
the first occurrence of an event or circumstangestituting Good Reason.

5.2 Subject to Section 6.1 hereof, if the Executivelgpleyment shall be terminated for any reason falhgwe
Change in Control and during the Term, the Compsall pay to the Executive the Executive's nornaatferminatior
compensation and benefits as such payments becoeeAdy such podermination compensation and benefits sha
determined under, and paid in accordance withCibipany's retirement, insurance and other compensand benet
plans, programs and arrangements as in effect inatedy prior to the date of termination or, if mdi@vorable to th
Executive, as in effect immediately prior to thewcence of the first event or circumstance coutstiy Good Reason.

6. Severance Payments

6.1 Subject to Section 6.2 and Section 6.3 hereohdfExecutive's employment is terminated followinGlang:
in Control and during the Term either by the Conypanby the Executive, other than (a) by the Comypfan Cause, (k
by reason of death or Disability, or (c) by the &xéve without Good Reason, (any such employmemitetion bein
hereafter sometimes referred to as a " CompensBdlmination ™), then the Company shall pay the Executive
amounts, and provide the Executive the benefitscriteed in this Section 6.1 (" Severance Paym§nts addition to an
payments and benefits to which the Executive igledtunder Sections 5 and 6.3 hereof. Notwithstamdhe foregoinc
the Executive shall




not be eligible to receive any payment or benefivwed for in this Section 6.1 unless the Exeaishall have execut
(i) a release substantially in the form of ExhiBithereto, and a covenant not to compete substgniralthe form o
Exhibit B hereto, effective as of the date of th@m@ensable Termination or a date subsequent thanetshall not ha
revoked said release. The Severance Payments #eeliaf any severance benefits that would othezwie payable
provided pursuant to any severance plan or praofittee Company

(i) The Company shall pay the Executive, at the tinovided in Section 6.2 below, his anr
bonus for the fiscal year of the Company precedirgyfiscal year of the Company in which the Compéte
Termination occurs, if unpaid at the time of thenpensable Termination, the amount of such bonube
determined by the Compensation Committee of therdBoa a basis no less favorable to the Executiea fk
bonus determinations with respect to the Execugivar to the Change in Control, unless the Committeade n
bonus determinations with respect to the Execuisfere the Change in Control, in which case onsashao les
favorable to the Executive than its bonus detertiana with respect to other executives of comparabahk befor
the Change in Control.

(i)  The Company shall pay the Executive, at the tinmviged in Section 6.2 below, a prore
annual bonus for the fiscal year of the Companyvimch the Compensable Termination occurs, suchapsc
bonus to be determined by multiplying the “ApplitalBverage Bonusas defined below in this subsection (i)
a fraction the numerator of which shall be the namdf days elapsed in such fiscal year through (aaldiding
the date on which the Compensable Termination scand the denominator of which shall be the nur8bér Fo
purposes of this Agreement, the “ Applicable Aver&8pnus’ means the higher of (A) the average of all ar
bonuses (including any deferred bonuses) awarddéidet&xecutive during the 36 months immediatelycedin¢
the Compensable Termination or, if the Executive weployed by the Company for less than 36 mongfisré
the Compensable Termination, during the periodisfémployment by the Company prior to the Compele
Termination (annualizing any bonus awarded for kbss a full year of employment), or (B) the averay al
annual bonuses (including any deferred bonusesjdadato the Executive during the three fiscal yezrshe
Company that precede the fiscal year in which tben@ensable Termination occurs or during the portibsauct
three fiscal years in which he was employed byGbenpany (annualizing any bonus awarded for less #&tull
year of employment), or (C) the average of all arhonuses (including any deferred bonuses) awataleke
Executive during the 36 months preceding the dateleich the Change in Control occurred or during plortior
of such 36 month period in which he was employedhgyCompany (annualizing any bonus awarded fer thest
a full year of employment).

(i)  The Company shall pay the Executive, at the tinoeigded in Section 6.2 below, a lump <
cash payment equal to two (2) times the Executam@sial base salary at the rate in effect immegiatgor to the
Compensable Termination or, if higher, in effectmediately prior to the first occurrence of an ever
circumstance constituting Good Reason (* Base $alar

(iv) The Company will pay the Executive for all earned bnused vacation leave at the tim
the Compensable Termination.

6.2 All payments to be made pursuant to subsectiorthr@ugh (iv) of Section 6.1 above shall be n
within thirty (30) calendar days after the datevdmch a Separation from Service occurs coincideitt ar following, ol
within 30 days before, the date on which the Corspble Termination occurs (the_* Separation fromvi8erDate”)
unless on the Separation from Service Date the WEixecis a Specified Employee, in which case suaynpents shall &
made six months and one day after the Separation 8ervice Date (or, if earlier, the date of the&xives death). Fc
purposes of the preceding sentence, a Specifieddypgmeans “specified employeetwvho is subject to the special r
set forth in subsection




(a)(2)(B)(i) of section 409A of the Code and thguiations thereunder (including, without limitatidAroposed Treast
Regulation section 1.409A-1(i)) with respect tolspayments.

6.3 Inthe event that the severance and other beme@tsded for in this Agreement or otherwise pay
to Executive (i) constitute “parachute paymentgthin the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, &ijdwould be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 499 e Code (the “Excise Tax”), then Executiwdenefits under tt
Agreement shall be either

(i) delivered in full, or

(if) delivered as to such lesser extent which waekllt in no portion of such benefits being sut
to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing antsutaking into account the applicable federaltestand loce
income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in theipeby Executive on an aftéax basis, of the greatest amour
benefits, notwithstanding that all or some portidrsuch benefits may be taxable under Section 4998e Code
If a reduction in severance and other benefits ttatiag “parachute payments$ necessary so that benefits
delivered to a lesser extent, reduction will odcuthe following order: reduction of cash paymewtcellation ¢
equity awards granted within the twelve (12) mop#riod prior to a “change in controlag determined unc
Code Section 280G) that are deemed to have beatedraontingent upon the change in control (asrotec
under Code Section 280G), cancellation of acceddraésting of equity awards, reduction of empldyeeefits.

Unless the Company and Executive otherwise agreeritmg, any determination required under this tierc shall b
made in writing by the Company’s independent publicountants (the “Accountantsiyhose determination shall
conclusive and binding upon Executive and the Campp@ar all purposes. For purposes of making theudation:
required by this Section, the Accountants may maeasonable assumptions and approximations congegagplicabl
taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith irggapons concerning the application of Section@&hd 4999 of tr
Code. The Company and Executive shall furnish éoAhcountants such information and documents ag\toeuntant
may reasonably request in order to make a detetimmainder this Section. The Company shall bearcafits th
Accountants may reasonably incur in connection waiti calculations contemplated by this Section.

7. Payments During Dispute Any payments to which the Executive may be editunder thi
Agreement, including, without limitation, under #ens 5 and 6 hereof, shall be made forthwith andpplicable date(
for payment specified in this Agreement. If for amason the amount of any payment due to the Execaannot b
finally determined on that date, such amount shalbestimated on a good faith basis by the Compadytlae estimate
amount shall be paid no later than 10 days afteln slate. As soon as practicable thereafter, tta fiatermination of tf
amount due shall be made and any adjustment raguarpayment to or from the Executive shall be naglpromptly ¢
practicable

8. No Mitigation. The Company agrees that, if the Executive's eynpémt with the Company terminates during
Term, the Executive is not required to seek otmgpleyment or to attempt in any way to reduce anpams payable
the Executive by the Company pursuant to Sectiber@of or any other provision of this Agreementitier, the amou
of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agmeent shall not be reduced (a) by any compensatoned by tr
Executive as the result of employment by anothepleyer, (b) by retirement benefits, (c) by offsgamst any amou
claimed to be owed by the Executive to the Companydl) otherwise.

9. Successors; Binding Agreement




9.1 In addition to any obligations imposed by law umy
successor to the Company, the Company will reqansesuccessor (whether direct
or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidatiomthierwise) to all or substantially all of the biess and/or assets of
Company to expressly assume and agree to perf@r@dimpanys obligations under this Agreement in the same rex
and to the same extent that the Company woulddpgresl to perform if no such succession had takaoep Failure of tr
Company to obtain such assumption and agreemanttprihe effectiveness of any such successiomduhie Term she
be a breach of this Agreement and shall entitleEkecutive to compensation from the Company insdime amount al
on the same terms as the Executive would be ahtilehereunder if the Executive were to terminde Executive
employment for Good Reason after a Change in Cbatrd during the Term, except that, for purposesngiementin
the foregoing, the date on which the Execusvemployment terminates (for any reason other @euse) within 30 da
before, or at any time during the Term and on tarathe date on which any such succession beceffexdive during th
Term shall be deemed the date of the Compensabteiffation.

9.2 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and dédorceable by the Executive's personal or
representatives, executors, administrators, suorgedseirs, distributees, devisees and legatedbe IExecutive shall d
while any amount would still be payable to the Exe@ hereunder (other than amounts which, by ttegms, termina
upon the death of the Executive) if the Executigd bontinued to live, all such amounts, unlessratise provided herei
shall be paid in accordance with the terms of Agseement to the executors, personal represensativadministrators
the Executive's estate.

10. Notices. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices ahdtaér communications provided for in the Agreet
shall be in writing and shall be deemed to havenlikdy given when delivered or mailed by Unitedt&saegistered ms
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addre$se the Executive, to his most recent addstgsvn on the books a
records of the Company at the time notice is gaed, if to the Company, to the address set fortbvheor to such othu
address as either party may have furnished to ttier an writing in accordance herewith, except thatice of change
address shall be effective only upon actual receipt

To the Company:

AngioDynamics, Inc.
14 Plaza Drive
Latham, NY 12110

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

11. Miscellaneous No provision of this Agreement may be modifiedaived or discharged unless such wa
modification or discharge is agreed to in writingdasigned by the Executive and such officer as bmyspecificall
designated by the Board. No waiver by either phereto at any time of any breach by the other gaetgto of, or of ar
lack of compliance with, any condition or provisiohthis Agreement to be performed by such othetyxhall be deems
a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or ditions at the same or at any prior or subsequem. tThis Agreeme|
constitutes the entire agreement of the partiesarming the specific subject matter addressed sy Agreement ar
supersedes all prior agreements addressing thes tam conditions contained herein. Nothing in thgreement |
intended to amend or otherwise alter the changmimrol provisions or any other provisions of aay $tock option ¢
other compensation or incentive award that maytbme have been or may hereafter be granted to the




Executive, or (b) employee benefit or fringe benefan in which the Executive may heretofore haeerbor ma
hereafter be a participant. The validity, interptiein, construction and performance of this Agresinshall be governe
by the laws of the State of New York. All refereade sections of the Code or the Exchange Act sleatleemed also
refer to any successor provisions to such sectams to IRS or SEC regulations and official guidamélishet
thereunder. Any payments provided for hereundell dleasubject to any applicable withholding reqdinender federe
state or local law and any additional withholdiogwthich the Executive has agreed. The obligatidrthe Company ar
the Executive under this Agreement which by theture may require either partial or total perforocerafter th
expiration of the Term (including, without limitati, those under Sections 6 and 7 hereof) shalhs&usuch expiration.

12. Validity . The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowsi of this Agreement shall not affect the validit
enforceability of any other provision of this Agneent, which shall remain in full force and effect.

13. Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed tonberiginal but all of which together will constisubne and the sal
instrument.

14. Settlement of Disputes; Arbitration

14.1 All claims by the Executive for benefits under thigreement shall be directed to and determinechbyBoar:
and shall be in writing. Any denial by the Boardadtlaim for benefits under this Agreement shalldeévered to th
Executive in writing and shall set forth the spiecieasons for the denial and the specific prowsiof this Agreeme
relied upon. The Board shall afford a reasonabf@dpnity to the Executive for a review of the dsgen denying a clai
and shall further allow the Executive to appedh®Board a decision of the Board within sixty (6@ys after
notification by the Board that the Executive's midias been denied.

14.2  Any further dispute or controversy arising under iorconnection with this Agreement shall be se
exclusively by arbitration in the Albany, New Yorketropolitan area in accordance with the employndispute
resolution rules of the American Arbitration Ass®@n then in effect. The arbitrator shall have #uhority to requir
that the Company reimburse the Executive for thar@ant of all or any portion of the legal fees angenses incurred |
the Executive in connection with such dispute antcversy. Judgment may be entered on the arhisadavard in ar
court having jurisdiction.

14.3 The Company agrees tse commercially reasonable efforts to adminigtés Agreement, ar
operate any deferred compensation plans in whiehEtkecutive participates from time to time that aggregated wif
this Agreement or with any payment or benefit pded by this Agreement for purposes of Section 46Bthe Code (e.c
account balance plans, nonaccount balance plaparat®n pay plans, and plans that are neitherustcoalance n
nonaccount balance plans), in good faith compliamite Code Section 409A to the extent necessagvtod inclusion ¢
any amounts of benefits payable hereunder in tleele’s income pursuant to Section 409A(a)(1)¢Ahe Code.

15. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the followingrtershall have the meanings indicated below:

(A) "Affiliate" shall have the meaning set forth in RUl2b-2 promulgated under Section 12 of the Exchayay.




(B) “Applicable Average Bonus” shall have the meaniagferth in subsection (ii) of Section 6.1.

(C) “Base Salary” shall have the meaning set forthulmsgection (iii) of Section 6.1.
(D) "Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning set fantRule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
(E) "Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of ther(@any.

(F) "Cause" for termination by the Company of the Exeels employment shall mean (i) the willful anchtiauec
failure by the Executive to substantially perforne tExecutive's duties with the Company as sucheslwtiere in effe:
prior to any change therein constituting Good Redsther than any such failure resulting from the&utive's incapaci
due to physical or mental illness or any such failafter the occurrence of an event constitutingpds&eason ft
resignation by the Executive) after a written dechdor substantial performance is delivered to thedative by th
Board, which demand specifically identifies the manin which the Board believes that the Executhss nc
substantially performed the Executive's dutiesyioied that such failure will constitute Cause oiflit remains uncure
for more than thirty (30) days following receipt the Executive of such written demand from the Bpér) the engagin
by the Executive in willful conduct which is demtnadbly and materially injurious to the Company t& subsidiarie
monetarily or otherwise, provided that such condudtconstitute Cause only if it remains uncurex more than thirt
(30) days following receipt by the Executive of aitten demand from the Board to cease such condugt;the
Executives insubordination, as defined from time to timethiy Board, provided that insubordination will conge Caus
only if it remains uncured for more than thirty Y3tays following receipt by the Executive of a weit demand from tt
Board to cease such insubordination; or (iv) thedtkive's conviction of (a) a felony or (b) a crinmeolving fraud
dishonesty or moral turpitude. For purposes of s#au(i) and (ii) of this definition, no act, or ltae to act, on tr
Executive's part shall be deemed "willful" unlessé, or omitted to be done, by the Executive nogond faith an
without reasonable belief that the Executive's actailure to act, was in the best interest of @wnpany. The Compa
shall notify the Executive in writing of any emphagnt termination purporting to be for Cause on efote the date
such termination, which writing shall describe wsgecificity the conduct alleged to constitute @afes such terminatio
Any purported termination of employment by the Camp for Cause which does not satisfy the applicaddgirement
of this Section 15(F) shall be conclusively deerteetie a termination of employment by the Companheut Cause f
purposes of this Agreemel

(G) A "Change in Control" shall mean that any of thikof@ing events has occurred:

(i) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Ownerctyreor indirectly, of securities of tl
Company representing more than 50% of the combié&dg power of the Company's then outstanding ise&es!
excluding any Person who becomes such a Benefsader in connection with a transaction describedlaus:
(A) of paragraph (iii) below; or

(i) the following individuals cease for any reason tmstitute a majority of the number
directors serving on the Board: individuals whathet beginning of any period of two consecutivergea less (nc
including any period prior to the date of this Agmeent), constitute the Board and any new diredtiref than
director whose initial assumption of office is ionmection with an actual or threatened electiorteinincludin
but not limited to a consent solicitation, relatiogthe election of directors of the Company) whappointment ¢
election by the Board or nomination for electiontbg Company's shareholders was approved or recodeded
a vote of at least two-




thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in offieého either were directors at the beginning of spehiod or whos
appointment, election or nomination for electiorsypaeviously so approved or recommended; or

(i)  there is consummated a merger or consolidatioh@flompany or any Subsidiary with |
other corporation, other than (A) a merger or cédaton which would result in the voting secur#ti®f the
Company outstanding immediately prior to such merge consolidation continuing to represent (eithosy
remaining outstanding or by being converted intbngpsecurities of the surviving entity or any paréhereof), ii
combination with the ownership of any trustee dreotfiduciary holding securities under an emplolgenefit plai
of the Company or any Subsidiary, at least 60%hefdombined voting power of the securities of tloenpany o
such surviving entity or any parent thereof outdtag immediately after such merger or consolidation(B) ¢
merger or consolidation effected to implement ap#alization of the Company (or similar transacjian whict
no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, tyrex indirectly, of securities of the Company regentin:
more than 50% of the combined voting power of tenany's then outstanding securities; or

(iv) the shareholders of the Company approve a planraptete liquidation or dissolution of t
Company or there is consummated an agreementdaaie or disposition by the Company of all or sartsally
all of the Company's assets, other than a saleisposition by the Company of all or substantially & the
Company's assets to an entity, at least 60% otdnebined voting power of the voting securities dfieh are
owned by shareholders of the Company in substantia same proportions as their ownership of teenfan:
immediately prior to such sale.

(H) "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1886
amended from time to time.

()  "Company" shall mean AngioDynamics, Inc. and, exéepmletermining under Section 15(G) hereof whetbr
not any Change in Control of the Company has oeduyrshall include any successor to its businesfooraagsets whic
assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement bytogeof law, or otherwise.

(J) “Compensable Termination” shall have the meanindas¢h in Section 6.1.

(K) "Disability" shall be deemed the reason for thenieation by the Company of the Executive's emplayinié, as
a result of the Executive's incapacity due to ptglsor mental illness, the Executive shall havenbatesent from the full-
time performance of the Executive's duties with @@npany for a period of six consecutive monthdoorsix non-
consecutive months within any period of 12 conseeunonths.

(L) "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchangteof
1934, as amended from time to time.

(M)  "Executive" shall mean the individual named in fingt paragraph of this Agreement.

(N) "Good Reason" for termination by the Executive lué Executive's employment shall mean the occur
(without the Executive's express written conseftérany Change in Control, of any




one of the following acts by the Company, or fakiby the Company to act, unless, in the caseyoéetnor failure to a
described in paragraph (i), (iii), (iv) or (vii) lmsv, such act or failure to act is corrected witkhirty (30) calendar da
after the Companyg receipt of written notice thereof given by theeExtive within thirty (30) calendar days of such @
failure to act:

(i) the assignment to the Executive of any duties isisbent with the Executive's status
position in the Company immediately prior to thea@be in Control, or a substantial adverse alteraitiothe
nature, status or scope of the Executive's respilitiss or authority from his responsibilities @uthority
immediately prior to the Change in Control, or dugtion in his title;

(i)  a reduction by the Company in the Executive's ahbase salary as in effect on the dat
this Agreement or as the same may be increasedtinoeno time;

(i) a significant reduction in compensation, benefitsr@imbursements provided under
employment, compensation, employee benefit or reisgment plan or program in which the Executives
participant which is not replaced with substangiabjuivalent compensation, benefits or reimburseseande
another plan, program or arrangement at substiynied same cost (if any) to the Executive;

(iv) the Company fails to pay or provide any amountemndijit that the Company is obligatec
pay or provide under this Agreement or any othepleyment, compensation, benefit or reimbursemean
agreement or arrangement of the Company to whiglieRecutive is a party or in which the Executivetipgoates;

(v) the Company fails to pay the Executive a bonus,each fiscal year of Employer tl
terminates following a Change in Control and durihg Term, at least equal to 80% of the Applicaerage
Bonus;

(vi) the relocation of the Executive's principal plaéemployment to a location which increa
the Executive's oneray commuting distance by more than 40 miles, er@ompany's requiring the Executive
travel on business other than to an extent sulaligntonsistent with the Executive's business établigation:
prior to the Change in Control,

(vi)  a significant adverse change occurs, whether afiamtifative or qualitative nature, in-
indemnification protection provided to the Execatifor acts and omissions arising out of his sereicdehalf ¢
the Company or any other entity at the request®@Qompany; or

(viii)  The Company fails to obtain the assumption of Agseement pursuant to Section 9.1.

The Executive's right to terminate the Executiestgployment for Good Reason shall not be affectethbyExecutive
incapacity due to physical or mental iliness. Thedtitive's continued employment shall not condiwinsent to, or
waiver of rights with respect to, any act or faéldo act constituting Good Reason hereunder.

(O) "Person” shall have the meaning given in Secti@)(8] of the Exchange Act, as modified and use8dntion
13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such terml siztlinclude (i) the Company or any of its subaits, (ii) a trustee
other fiduciary holding securities under an empty®enefit plan of the Company or any of its Aftidia, (iii) ar
underwriter temporarily holding securities pursueman offering of such securities, or (iv) a cagimn owned, direct
or indirectly, by the shareholders of the Compangubstantially the same proportions as their oghiprof stock of th
Company.




(P) "Potential Change in Control" shall be deemed teehaccurred if the event set forth in any one ef fibllowing
paragraphs shall have occurr

(1) the Company enters into an agreement, the consuommat which would result in tt
occurrence of a Change in Control,

(i)  the Company or any Person publicly announces amtioh to take or to consider tak
actions which, if consummated, would constitutenai@e in Control;

(i) any Person becomes the Beneficial Owner, directlyindirectly, of securities of tt
Company representing 15% or more of either the theéstanding shares of common stock of the Compautkye
combined voting power of the Company's then outBtansecurities (not including in the securitiesdfcially
owned by such Person any securities acquired ireotn the Company or its Affiliates); or

(iv) the Board adopts a resolution to the effect that plurposes of this Agreement, a Pote
Change in Control has occurred.

(Q) "Retirement" shall be deemed the reason for theitetion by the Executive of the Executive's empiewnt il
such employment is terminated in accordance wighGbmpany's retirement policy, including earlyrestient, general
applicable to its salaried employees.

(R) “Separation from Servicefneans termination of employment with the Compangweler, th
Executive shall not be deemed to have a Separfxtam Service if he continues to provide servicesh® Company in
capacity other than as an employee and if he igigirg services at an annual rate that is fiftygeet or more of tf
services he rendered, on average, during the inatedgipreceding three full calendar years of emmplegt with thi
Company (or if employed by the Company less thaeetlyears, such lesser period) and the annual examion for hi
services is fifty percent or more of the annualuwaeration earned during the final three full calngkars of employme
(of if less, such lesser period); provided, howeteat a Separation from Service will be deemetaee occurred if h
service with the Company is reduced to an annual tteat is less than twenty percent of the servieesendered, (
average, during the immediately preceding threlechlendar years of employment with the Companyif(employed b
the Company less than three years, such lessaydpert the annual remuneration for his serviceless than twen
percent of the annual remuneration earned durieghiree full calendar years of employment with@wenpany (or if les
such lesser period).

(S) “Separation from Service Date” shall have the megusiet forth in Section 6.2 hereof.

(T) "Severance Payments" shall have the meaning ghtifor
Section 6.1 hereof.

(U) "Subsidiary" means a corporation or other form ufibess
association of which shares (or other ownershipragts) having more than 50% of the voting power @wned c
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Company.

(V)  "Term" shall mean the period of time described ett®n 2 hereof (including any extension or cortnor
described therein).
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgiieement as of the date and year first aboveenmritt

ANGIODYNAMICS, INC.

By:
Name: Joseph M. DeViv
Title: President and CEO

[Executive]
Exhibit A

ANGIODYNAMICS, INC.

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

This Release of Claims (“Agreement”) is made by &etiveen AngioDynamics, Inc. (the “Company”), and
(“Executive”).

WHEREAS, Executive has agreed to enter into a sel@d claims in favor of the Company upon certaients specifie
in the Change in Control Agreement by and betweam@any and Executive, as amended (the “SeverancseAwgnt”).

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual preesimade herein, the Parties hereby agree as $o
1. Termination. Executive’s employment from the Company termidaie [DATE].

2. Confidential Information. Executive shall continue to maintain the confitidity of all confidential an
proprietary information of the Company and shalhtowue to comply with the terms and conditions loé Proprietar
Information and Nondisclosure Agreement betweencHtwee and the Company (the “Confidentiality Agremiti), as
well as Section 4 of the Severance Agreement. Execshall return all the Company property and ateritial an:
proprietary information in his possession to thenpany on the Effective Date of this Agreem:

3. Payment of Salary Executive acknowledges and represents that tmep@oy has paid all salary, wac
bonuses, accrued vacation, commissions and anglbotther benefits due to Executive.

4. Release of Claims Except as set forth in the last paragraph of 8estion 4, Executive agrees that
foregoing consideration represents settlement linofuall outstanding obligations owed to Executilbg the Compan
Executive, on behalf of himself, and his respecheg&s, family members, executors and assignspldtdly and foreve
releases the Company and its past, present ancefofficers, agents, directors, employees, investehareholder
administrators, affiliates, divisions, subsidiariparents,




predecessor and successor corporations, and asfigms and agrees not to sue or otherwise institut cause to |
instituted any legal or administrative proceedingacerning any claim, duty, obligation or causedton relating to ar
matters of any kind, whether presently known ornawn, suspected or unsuspected, that he may paasasg from an
omissions, acts or facts that have occurred up anti including the Effective Date of this Agreerhercluding, withou
limitation,

(a) any and all claims relating to or arising fr&recutives employment relationship with the Comp
and the termination of that relationship;

(b) any and all claims relating to, or arising froxecutives right to purchase, or actual purchase of shdresok
of the Company, including, without limitation, aokaims for fraud, misrepresentation, breach ofdidoy duty, breach
duty under applicable state corporate law, andrgezifraud under any state or federal law;

(c) any and all claims for wrongful discharge of@ayment; termination in violation of public polif
discrimination; breach of contract, both expresd snplied; breach of a covenant of good faith aan €ealing, bot
express and implied; promissory estoppel; negligenttentional infliction of emotional distressegligent or intention
misrepresentation; negligent or intentional intexfeee with contract or prospective economic adygntanfair busine:
practices; defamation; libel; slander; negligemmrsonal injury; assault; battery; invasion of pay; false imprisonmet
and conversion;

(d) any and all claims for violation of any federsiate or municipal statute, including, but natited to
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the CiviRights Act of 1991, the Age Discrimination in Elmpment Act o
1967, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 199B¢e Fair Labor Standards Act, the Employee Retirgntiecom
Security Act of 1974, and The Worker Adjustment &edraining Notification Act;

(e) any and all claims for violation of the fedei@ any state, constitution;

(f) any and all claims arising out of any other $éamnd regulations relating to employment or emplexy
discrimination; and

(n) any and all claims for attorneys’ fees and €0st

Executive agrees that the release set forth instiision shall be and remain in effect in all respas a complete gene
release as to the matters released. Nothing irAtinisement waives Executivgetights to indemnification or any payme
under any fiduciary insurance policy, if any, paed by any act or agreement of the Company, stafederal law c
policy of insurance

5.  Acknowledgment of Waiver of Claims under ADEAExecutive acknowledges that he is waiving
releasing any rights he may have under the Ageribigtation in Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”and that this waiv
and release is knowing and voluntary. ExecutivethedCompany agree that this waiver and releasg waeapply to ar
rights or claims that may arise under the ADEA raftee Effective Date of this Agreement. Executivkraowledges th.
the consideration given for this waiver and reledgesement is in addition to anything of value thigh Executive we
already entitled. Executive further acknowledgex tie has been advised by this writing that (sgheaild consult with &
attorney prior to executing this Agreement; (b) lees at least twentgne (21) days within which to consider -
Agreement; (c) he has seven (7) days followingetkecution of this Agreement by the parties to revtile Agreemer
(d) this Agreement shall not be effective until tegocation period has expired; and (e) nothintis




Agreement prevents or precludes Executive fromlehging or seeking a determination in good faitthef validity of thi:
waiver under the ADEA, nor does it impose any cbodiprecedent, penalties or costs for doing steamspecificall
authorized by federal law. Any revocation shouldimbevriting and delivered to [HR Contact Name] la¢ tCompany &
close of business on the seventh day from thetbatéExecutive signs this Agreement.

6. No Pending or Future Lawsuit&xecutive represents that he has no lawsuitsns)ar actions pending in |
name, or on behalf of any other person or entigjairest the Company or any other person or entiigrmed to hereir
Executive also represents that he does not intebdrg any claims on his own behalf or on beh&kmy other person
entity against the Company or any other persomtityeeferred to herein.

7. Application for Employment Executive understands and agrees that, as atioondf this Agreement, |
shall not be entitled to any employment with therpany, its subsidiaries, or any successor, andehebii waives ar
right, or alleged right, of employment or re-emptmnt with the Company.

8. No Cooperation Executive agrees that he will not counsel orsassny attorneys or their clients in
presentation or prosecution of any disputes, diffees, grievances, claims, charges, or complantanly third part
against the Company and/or any officer, directorpleyee, agent, representative, shareholder amatfaf the Compan
unless under a subpoena or other court order smdo

9. Cooperation with CompanyExecutive agrees to cooperate, at the requesteoCompany, in the defer
and/or prosecution of any charges, claims, invatbgs (internal or external), administrative prediags and/or lawsu
relating to matters occurring during or relatingBErecutives period of employment about which Executive maye
relevant information. Executive shall further reasioly cooperate with regard to the transition oé&xive’s job dutie
and business relationships. Executive agrees fmnesto reasonable requests for information from @ompany in
timely manner.

10. No Admission of Liability. No action taken by the Company, either previowslyn connection with th
Agreement shall be deemed or construed to be (ajlamssion of the truth or falsity of any claimsdtefore made or (|
an acknowledgment or admission by the Company gffault or liability whatsoever to the Executive tar any thir

party.

11. Costs. The Parties shall each bear their own costs, rexpes, attorneysfees and other fees incurrec
connection with this Agreement.

12. Authority . Executive represents and warrants that he hasagbecity to act on his own behalf and on b
of all who might claim through him to bind themtte terms and conditions of this Agreement.

13. No RepresentationsExecutive represents that he has had the oppiyrtianconsult with an attorney, a
has carefully read and understands the scope &t ef the provisions of this Agreement. Neithartg has relied upc
any representations or statements made by the jpaingr hereto which are not specifically set fartithis Agreement.

14.  Severability. In the event that any provision hereof becomessodeclared by a court of compet
jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or voithis Agreement shall continue in full force andeetf without sai
provision.




15. Entire Agreement This Agreement, along with the Confidentiality rkgment, and Executiv&'writter
equity compensation agreements with the Comparesents the entire agreement and understandingedetth
Company and Executive concerning Executive’s s¢jparérom the Company.

16. No Oral Modification. This Agreement may only be amended in writinghsey by Executive and a di
authorized officer of the Company (other than Exee.

17. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the intesodistantive laws, but not the choict
law rules, of the State of New York.

18. Effective Date. Each Party has seven (7) days after that Pagtyssihis Agreement to revoke it. T
Agreement will become effective on the eighth (8iRay after Executive signed this Agreement, so laagt has be¢
signed by both Parties.

19. Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in counterpand,emch counterpart shall have the ¢
force and effect as an original and shall congtiaunt effective, binding agreement on the part ohed the undersigned.

20. Voluntary Execution of AgreementThis Agreement is executed voluntarily and withany duress
undue influence on the part or behalf of the Partiereto, with the full intent of releasing all inig. The Partie
acknowledge that:

(a) They have read this Agreement;

(b) They have had the opportunity of being represkm the preparation, negotiation, and execuiotis
Agreement by legal counsel of their own choicehat they have voluntarily declined to seek sucmsel

(c) They understand the terms and consequencasdkgreement and of the releases it contains;

(d) They are fully aware of the legal and bindifiget of this Agreement.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Sigmatpage follows.]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executedAlgieement on the respective dates set forth below.

[Company Name]

Dated: [MONTH], 20

By:

[Name], an individual

Dated: [MONTH], 20____
By:
[]
Exhibit B
ANGIODYNAMICS, INC.

NON-COMPETE AND NON-SOLICITATION

This Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreemé®tgreement”)is made by and between AngioDynamics, Inc.
“Company”), and (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, Executive has agreed to enter into a sel@d claims in favor of the Company upon certaiangs specifie
in the Change in Control Agreement by and betweam@@ny and Executive, as amended (the “SeveranmseAgnt”).

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual preesimade herein, the Parties hereby agree as $o

1. Terms used in this Agreement

a. AngioDynamicaneans AngioDynamics, Inc., its successors or ass@gml any of their existing and future divisions,
subsidiaries, and affiliates.

b. Confidential Informatiormeans all trade secrets, proprietary informatioovk-how, and confidential information
disclosed to Executive or known by Executive assalit of Executive’s employment by AngioDynamicst n
generally known in the trade or industry in whichgloDynamics is engaged, about AngioDynamics’ bessn
operations, customers, suppliers, products, presessachines, systems, and services, includingnese
development, manufacturing, purchasing, financtg geocessing, engineering, marketing, designs;equs, know-
how, merchandising, and selling, and corresponahfaymation about the products, processes, machamkservice
of AngioDynamics, acquired by Executive during BExe’s employment by AngioDynamics. The fact that
information is not patentable or copyrightable Ehat affect its status as Confidential Information




Conflicting Producimeans any product, process, machine, or serviaayperson or organization other than
AngioDynamics, whether now existing or hereaftaredeped: (a) which is identical to, substantialig same as, an
adequate substitute for, resembles, or competésayptoduct, process, machine, system, or seryioe ar with
which Executive worked during Executive’s term offgoyment with AngioDynamics or about which Exeuati
acquired Confidential Information; or (b) whose asenarketability could be enhanced by applicatmit of
Confidential Information to which Executive had ass during Executive’s employment with AngioDynasniar (c)
which is (or could reasonably be anticipated torbajketed or distributed in such a manner and ¢h sugeographic
area as to actually compete with such a produotgss, machine, or service of AngioDynamics.

Conflicting Organizatiormeans any person or organization, which is noweoediter engaged directly or indirectly
research on or the acquisition, development, priootucdistribution, marketing, providing, or seljiof a Conflicting
Product.

Terms not defined herein shall have the meaninglestto such terms in the Severance Agreer
Non-Competition .

For a period of: twenty four (24) months after taration of Executive’s employment with AngioDynamigursuant
to the Severance Agreement, Executive will not eerservices, directly or indirectly, to any Contfilng Organization.
However, notwithstanding the foregoing, Executimelerstands that he/she may work for a Conflictimga@ization
whose business is diversified, provided Executiveisk for the Conflicting Organization does notahve selling,
managing, overseeing, developing, creating, pramgpservicing, involvement in the financing anddocounting of,
or other responsibility for any Conflicting Produst which Executive worked or gained Confidentrdbrmation
during the last two (2) years of Executive’s emphant with AngioDynamics. Prior to accepting suclpiyment,
the Conflicting Organization and Executive mustye written assurances satisfactory to AngioDyrenihat
Executive will not render services, directly orinedtly, in connection with any Conflicting Produart which
Executive worked or gained Confidential Informataluring the last two (2) years of Executive’'s enyphent with
AngioDynamics and that necessary safeguards harefg in place to ensure that this does not hapiesa section
shall be construed in a manner to give effect éoréstrictions contained herein to the maximumrexpermitted by
applicable law.

The restrictions set forth in Section 2(a) applyhie United States and in any foreign country oeiffn territory wher
AngioDynamics produces, sells, or markets its gaubservices.

Non-Solicitation .

Business Relation:. Executive agrees that for a period of twenty f(@4) months after the termination of Executive’s
employment with AngioDynamics pursuant to the Semee Agreement, Executive will not solicit, induagempt to
induce, appropriate, direct, or assist anothepp@priate or direct, or provide any services tp eurrent customer,
supplier, licensee, or other business relationifddfas any customer, supplier, licensee, or dihsiness relation of
AngioDynamics with whom Executive had dealings andtir whom Executive performed services at anyetanring
the last two (2) years of Executive’s employmerthwingioDynamics) to cease doing business with ABgnamics
(including, without limitation, making any negatisgatements or communications concerning AngioDyosuor any
of its directors, officers, or employees).

Employees. Executive agrees that for a period of twenty f@4) months after the termination of Executive’s
employment with AngioDynamics pursuant to the Samee Agreement, Executive will not solicit, integevith,
encourage, endeavor, or engage in discussionsamtlemployee or independent contractor of AngioDyica for the
purpose of (or with a view toward) having such emgpk or independent contractor leave the employiioeg|
independent contractor assignment) of AngioDynarfadcany reason, including leaving to render savito any
Conflicting Organization.




Miscellaneous

This Agreement shall be binding upon Executive, apon Executive’s spouse, heirs, executors, assigas
administrators and shall inure to the benefit o§®Dynamics, its successors, and assigns.

Any dispute arising under or in connection wittstAigreement or related to any matter which is thgest of this
Agreement shall be subject to the exclusive jucisoin of the state and federal courts located iwNerk, and this
Agreement shall be construed under and accorditigettaws of the State of New York, without regtrdts conflict
of laws rules.

The parties acknowledge that any breach or thredtbreach of this Agreement by Executive will cause
AngioDynamics material and irreparable injury anoh@tary damages may not be an adequate remedydioirgury.
In the event of a breach or threatened breachiofifpreement, AngioDynamics may pursue any remeatiésw or
equity available to it, including injunctive relidflotwithstanding anything contained in this Agreatto the contran
in addition to any remedies available to AngioDymas{and not in exclusion of any such remedieshéevent of a
breach of this Agreement, the Executive shall lpgiired to remit to AngioDynamics any severance payspaid to
Executive by AngioDynamics pursuant to this Agreame

If any provision of this Agreement is held by amuc of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, owebdroad, invalid, or
otherwise unenforceable in duration, geographicaérage, substantive scope, or otherwise, therAtgrisement will
be deemed amended to the extent necessary to thedatherwise unenforceable provision, and theakethe
Agreement, valid and enforceable. If a court dedito amend this Agreement as provided hereirinttadidity or
unenforceability of any provision of this Agreemehall not affect the validity or enforceability tfe remaining
provisions, which shall be enforced as if the offieg provision had not been included in this Agreetr

Nothing herein shall obligate AngioDynamics to ¢ouaé to retain Executive in AngioDynam’ employment or limit
or impair AngioDynamics’ ability to terminate Exeamue’s employment at will, with or without cause fany reason.
Executive is an employee at will.

In the event of a violation of this Agreement, time limitations set forth in this Agreement sHadl extended for a
period of time equal to the period of time durinigieh such breach occurs, and, in the event Angi@Dyos is
required to seek relief from such breach beforeamyt, board, or other tribunal, then the timeitaton shall be
extended for a period of time equal to the pendaficuch proceedings, including all appeals.

For twenty four (24) months following the termiraatiof Executive’s employment with AngioDynamics guant to
the Severance Agreement, Executive agrees to dtisvdgreement to any prospective employer beforechtive
directly or indirectly owns, manages, operatesirods, becomes employed by, becomes a sharehdideea@mes a
director of, becomes an officer of, participatesciontracts with or becomes connected in any cgpacin any
manner with such person or entity during any retste period provided in this Agreement. Execut®o agrees to
inform AngioDynamics at the time Executive givesio® of separation from employment, of the identity
Executive’s new employer and Executive’s new jtlle t&ind responsibilities.

Executive ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ, EXECUTED, ANDIRCEIVED A COPY OF THIS AGREEMEN"
UNDERSTANDS HIS/HER OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMEN SIGNS IT VOLUNTARILY, INTENDS
TO BE LEGALLY BOUND BY THIS AGREEMENT, AND AGREES BHAT WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT
MATTER HEREOF IT IS EXECUTIVE’'S ENTIRE AGREEMENT WIH ANGIODYNAMICS AND
SUPERSEDES ANY PREVIOUS ORAL OR WRITTEN COMMUNICADNS, REPRESENTATIONS,
UNDERSTANDINGS, OR AGREEMENTS WITH ANGIODYNAMICS ORNY OF ITS OFFICIALS OR
REPRESENTATIVES.

Executive further acknowledges that the restridionposed by this Agreement are necessary andnaalecto protect
AngioDynamics’ business interests and will not pwde Executive from becoming




gainfully employed in a suitable capacity followitige termination of Executive’s employment with Asigynamics
given Executive’s general knowledge and experience.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Executive has hereunto affikédher signature, and thereafter AngioDynamicswigsessed
this document this day of 20

Executive

Witness as to Executive
AngioDynamics, Inc.

Signature

Print Name

Title



Exhibit 10.1.4

Total Shareholder Return Performance Unit Award Pragram (the “Program”)
Performance Period July 25, 2014 - July, 2017

I. Purpose of the Progran
The purpose of the Program is to align AngioDynaméxecutive compensation program with the intsrest
shareholders and to reinforce the concept of papédormance by comparing the relative Total Shalder Return
(“TSR”) of shares of AngioDynamics’ Common Stockdgt‘Common Stock”) to the TSR of a pre-defined pgeup (the
“Peer Group”) of companies over a three-year peoeginning on July 25, 2014.

The Program entails the grant of Performance Uniasls, and the program shall be administered uthaer
AngioDynamics 2004 Stock and Incentive Award PEsamended (the “Plan”). Terms not defined in Em@gram
document but defined in the Plan shall have theningaascribed to such term in the Plan. The Progsaestablished
under section 5.11 of the Plan and is intendedualify for the performance-based compensation ei@mepnder Section
162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (“Code”).

II.  Eligible Participants
The Program covers members of the Executive Managefream (“EMT”) on the date that awards are gihnteder the

Program as determined and in the amounts estattlishthe Board of Directors (the “Board”).

The Board may review Program eligibility criter@ Participants in the Program from time to time amy revise such
criteria at any time, even within a Program yeathwr without notice and within its sole discretio

l. Performance Share Unit:

Pursuant to the Plan and this Program, the Boakd mas sole discretion, grant Performance Unitakds to members
the EMT (the “Grant Date”). Each Performance Unitakd shall specify a target number of shares of @omStock
underlying the Performance Unit Award (the “Targetount”). Shares of Common Stock underlying thefétarance
Unit Award granted under the Program (the “PerforcgaUnit Awards”) shall be issued only upon satisfa of both the
performance vesting criteria described in this iBadil and the payment eligibility criteria dedeeid in Section VII. Thi
applicable performance criteria are based on tHe diSAngioDynamics’ Common Stock relative to theRI8f the
common stock of the companies in the Peer Group.

The TSR for AngioDynamics and all other companmethe Peer Group will be measured over a three{yedod

beginning on July 25, 2014 and ending on the dayighthe second trading day following




AngioDynamics’ annual earnings announcement fdiistsal year ended May 31, 2017 (the “Performansedd”).

The number of shares of Common Stock that vestruhdePerformance Unit Award will be in a rangeéé to 200% of
the Target Amount of shares of Common Stock pursteetine Performance Unit Award granted to theiBipent based

upon AngioDynamics’ TSR percentile ranking relativghe Peer Group as follows:

TSR Performance Performance Share Units
Percentile Rank as a Percent of Target
75th Percentile or above 200%
50th Percentile 100%
25th Percentile 50%
Below 25th Percentile 0%

If the minimum level of performance set forth abdvachieved for the Performance Period, the nurabshares of

Common Stock vesting under the Performance Unitr&wall be calculated linearly between each sedaih points.

Following the end of the Performance Period, tharBshall determine the number of shares of Com&took, based
upon the total number of shares of Common Stocledyidg the Target amount of the Performance Unviafd, that sha
become vested pursuant to AngioDynamics’ relatiR&percentile rank during the Performance Periodyant to the

table set forth above.

The Board shall issue a number of shares of Confétaeck underlying the Performance Unit Award to Baeticipant in
accordance with this Program and the applicabletgr@greement equal to the number of shares of Can8taxk, if any,

that vested in the Performance Period.

The Board’s determination regarding the Compangi$ggmance to the performance criteria with respethe

Performance Period shall be final and binding.

Shares of Common Stock will be delivered or otheeanade available to the Participant as soon atigable (and in all
events within sixty (60) days) after the end of Beeformance Period. Any shares of Common Stocklyidg a
Performance Unit Award as to which the performasrderia of this Section 11l have not been satidfas of the end of tf

Performance Period will be forfeited in their eety.




IV.  Calculation of Total Shareholder Return and Definifons

The TSR for AngioDynamics and each other compartienPeer Group shall include any cash dividendas$gharing the

Performance Period and shall be determined asafsilo

Total Shareholder Return for each Performance Cycle
(Change in Stock Price + Dividends Paid) / Begigrigtock Price

“ Beginning Stock Price” with respect to AngioDynamics means the closingeas quoted on the NASDAQ Global

Select Market of one share of the Company’s Com8togk on the beginning date of the PerformanceoBefBeginnincg
Stock Price” with respect to each other comparthénPeer Group means the daily average closing ps@uoted on the
New York Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ Global SeMetket, as applicable, of one (1) share of comstonk for the

two calendar monthgrior to the beginning of the Performance Period.

“ Change in Stock Price’ means the difference between the Beginning SRra¢e and the Ending Stock Price.

“ Dividends Paid” means the total of all cash dividends paid on @)eshare of stock during the Performance Period.

“ Ending Stock Price” with respect to AngioDynamics means the closinggas quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market of one share of the Company’s Common Stacthe ending date of the Performance Period. “Em&itock Price”
with respect to each other company in the Peer inoeans the daily average closing price as quatddeoNew York
Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ Global Select Mar&stapplicable, of one (1) share of common stockhferdast two

calendar months of the Performance Period.

Example:If the Beginning Stock Price for a company was 8@%er share, and the company paid $2.50 in didsiene|
the Performance Period, and the Ending Stock Mra=e$30.00 per share (thereby making the Changeork Price $5.C
($30.00 minus $25.00)), then the TSR for that camgpaould be thirty percent (30%). The calculatisras follows0.30
= ($5.00 + $2.50) / $25.00




V. Calculation of Percentile Performance
Following the calculation of the TSR for the Penfiance Period for AngioDynamics and each other compathe Peer

Group, AngioDynamics and the other companies irPer Group will be ranked, in order of maximunmioaimum,

according to their respective TSR for the PerforceaReriod.

After this ranking, the percentile performance ofgfoDynamics as compared to the other companitsiPeer Group

shall be determined by the following formula:

“P” represents the percentile performance which willdaended, if necessary, to the nearest whole pgledy

application of standard scientific rounding convems.

“N” represents the number of companies in the PeempGruzluding AngioDynamics.

“R” represents AngioDynamics’ ranking versus the otleenpanies in the Peer Group.

Example:If AngioDynamics ranked 1Bout of 56 companies, the performance (“P”) therefwill be in the 84"

percentile

This calculation is as follow$.837=1-(10-1)/ (56 - 1)

VI. Peer Group
The companies in the Peer Group can be found ireAgg A attached hereto.

If, during the Performance Period, two companiethaPeer Group merge, the surviving company sealhin in the Pe:

Group.




If, during the Performance Period, a company inRber Group merges with, or is acquired by, a compizat is not in
the Peer Group, and the company in the Peer Geotlgisurviving company, then the surviving compstmgil not be

included in the Peer Group.

If, during the Performance Period, a company inRbBer Group merges with, or is acquired by, a compizat is not in
the Peer Group, and the company in the Peer Geongtithe surviving company or the surviving compismo longer

publicly traded, then the surviving company shal pe included in the Peer Grot

If, during the Performance Period, a company inRber Group sells all or substantially all of gsets, such company

shall not be included in the Peer Group.

If, during the Performance Period, a company inRber Group splits-off or spins-off or consummaieg other
extraordinary reorganization transaction, and sjgth-off, split-off or reorganization comprises radhan 20% of the
assets of the company prior to such spin-off, sfior reorganization, such company shall notriguded in the Peer

Group.

If, during the Performance Period, a company inRber Group files for bankruptcy or otherwise cedsde traded or
guoted on any national exchange, such Company rgmadin in the Peer Group. If no public stock piidermation is
available for such company after it files for bamicy or otherwise ceases to be traded or quotedrational securities
exchange, the TSR for such company shall equdbaltss of equity (or -100%) during the Performaueriod for which

no stock price information is available.

The triggering event for determining whether a campshall be excluded from the Peer Group purdaethis Section V

shall be the first official announcement of an S@ortable event.

VII. Payment Eligibility Criteria
Except as set forth below with respect to a Cham@#ontrol or termination of employment due to R&tient, death, or

Disability, (i) no shares of Common Stock undertythe Performance Unit Award shall issue priomt® énd of the
Performance Period and (ii) a participant mustropleyed by the Company (as defined below) throingheind of the

Performance Period to be eligible to receive shafes




Common Stock that have vested under the PerformaniteAward pursuant to Section Il of this Program

Death. If the Participant’s employment with AngioDynamior its subsidiaries or affiliates is terminatee do death on
or after the Grant Date, but prior to the end efrerformance Period, the Performance Unit Awaadl shmain eligible
to vest following the end date of the Performanegdel according to the vesting provisions set fantBection Il of this
Program and the Participant shall receive a predrpbrtion of the Common Stock underlying the Renince Unit
Award that would otherwise vest based upon theipravs set forth in Section Il of this Programttie end date of the
Performance Period, with the pro-rata portion basethe Participan$’ whole months of service with the Company du
the Performance Period prior to the date of suchiteation; provided that a partial month of empla@mhwill be
considered a whole “month of service” for purposethis Program only if the Participant was emphbysy
AngioDynamics for at least fifteen (15) days dursugh month. Any portion of the Performance Unitakavthat remains
unvested on the end date of the Performance P@itad giving effect to such pro-ration) shall lmnsidered to have
terminated on such date. The Participant may, fiora to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiatigso may be
named contingently or successively) to whom anyebegranted to the Participant under this Prograito be paid in ca:
of his or her death before he or she receives aajl such benefit. Each such designation shatke\all prior
designations by the Participant, shall be in a fprescribed by AngioDynamics, and will be effectordy when filed by
the Participant in writing with the Secretary of tGompany during the Participant’s lifetime. In #iEsence of any such

designation, benefits remaining unpaid at the Eipetint’s death shall be paid to the Participardisite.

Retirement or Disability If the Participant's employment with AngioDynamier its subsidiaries or affiliates is

terminated due to Retirement or Disability on deathe Grant Date, but prior to the end of thed?arance Period, the
Performance Unit Award shall remain eligible totyegrsuant to Section Il of this Program on thd date of the
Performance Period and the Participant shall recaipro-rated portion of the Common Stock undeglyire Performance
Unit Award that would otherwise vest pursuant totia Il of this Program based on performance migithe
Performance Period, with the pro-rata portion basethe Participant’s whole months of service witigioDynamics
during the Performance Period prior to the dateush termination; provided that a partial montteiployment will be
considered a whole “month of service” for purposethis Agreement only if the Participant was enygld by

AngioDynamics for at least fifteen (15) days dursagh month. Any portion of the




Performance Unit Award that remains unvested oretitedate of the Performance Period (after givifeceto such pro-

ration) shall be considered to have terminateduzh slate.

Other Termination of Employment Eligibility Conditions. If the Participant’s employment with AngioDynarsiar any

and of its subsidiaries or affiliates is terminatedhe Participant separates from AngioDynamicssoaffiliates or
subsidiaries for any reason other than death, &eént or Disability, the Performance Unit Awardlsteaminate and no

shares of Common Stock shall be issued.

Change in Control of the CompaniNotwithstanding anything to the contrary in tAgreement, in the event of a Change

in Control (as defined in this Program) of Angiolynics on or after the Grant Date, but prior toghd of the
Performance Period and prior to the Participast’sitnation of employment for any reason, the Piapditt shall
immediately vest in 100% of the Target Amount cdrgls of Common Stock subject to the PerformanceAimard.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisrdgment, in the event the Particif's employment with
AngioDynamics or any of its subsidiaries or affidia terminates due to one of the reasons expresggred above (exce
as described in “Other Termination of Employmermt ®rth above) and a Change in Control of Angio@wiics occurs
subsequent to such a termination of employmentdbrihg the Performance Period), the pro-rata mggtrovided for in
such sections shall be based on the Target Amdwhtases of Common Stock subject to the PerformaimeAward.
Any shares of Common Stock subject to the Perfoomdmit Award that become vested pursuant to #usien of the
Program shall be issued to the Participant upas@oon as practicable (and in all events withityt30) days) after the
effective date of the Change in Control of Angiolymics (or, if so provided by the Board, immediaaiipr to the
Change in Control). In the event a Change in CoofrdngioDynamics occurs following the last daytbé Performance
Period, prior to the Participant’s termination affgoyment for any reason, and prior to the dateedted shares of
Common Stock underlying the Performance Unit Ananelissued pursuant to this Program, any shar€smimon Stocl
subject to the Performance Unit Award that becaasted pursuant to this paragraph of the Prograthishesued to the
Participant upon or as soon as practicable (amadl Bvents within thirty (30) days) after the etige date of the Change

Control of AngioDynamics (or, if so provided by tBeard, immediately prior to the Change in Control)

For the purposes of this Program, Change in Coshall mean shall mean that any of the followingrés has occurred:

(1) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner,ctliyreor indirectly, of securities of the Comps
representing more than 50% of the combined votmgegp of the Company's then outstanding securigrsluding
any Person who becomes such a Beneficial Ownepimexction with a transaction described in clausg di
paragraph (iii) below; or




(i)  the following individuals cease for any reason ¢ostitute a majority of the number of directorsvesy or
the Board: individuals who, at the beginning of g®eriod of two consecutive years or less (not idiclg any
period prior to the date of this Agreement), cdnggi the Board and any new director (other thairectbr whos
initial assumption of office is in connection widim actual or threatened election contest, inclututgnot limitec
to a consent solicitation, relating to the electdmirectors of the Company) whose appointmerglection by th
Board or nomination for election by the Companyiareholders was approved or recommended by a Vit
least twothirds (2/3) of the directors then still in offieého either were directors at the beginning of soehod o
whose appointment, election or nomination for eébectvas previously so approved or recommended; or

(i) there is consummated a merger or consolidationhef Gompany or any Subsidiary with any o
corporation, other than (A) a merger or consol@ativhich would result in the voting securities bé tCompan
outstanding immediately prior to such merger orsohidation continuing to represent (either by remrgg
outstanding or by being converted into voting sies of the surviving entity or any parent thejeah
combination with the ownership of any trustee dreotfiduciary holding securities under an emplolgerefit plai
of the Company or any Subsidiary, at least 60%hefdombined voting power of the securities of tlenpany o
such surviving entity or any parent thereof outdtag immediately after such merger or consolidation(B) ¢
merger or consolidation effected to implement ap#alization of the Company (or similar transaajian whict
no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, tyrex indirectly, of securities of the Company regentin:
more than 50% of the combined voting power of thenfany's then outstanding securities; or

(iv)  the shareholders of the Company approve a plammptete liquidation or dissolution of the Compan
there is consummated an agreement for the saléspogition by the Company of all or substantially the
Company's assets, other than a sale or disposigidne Company of all or substantially all of then@pany's asse
to an entity, at least 60% of the combined votiog/gr of the voting securities of which are ownedshgreholde
of the Company in substantially the same propostias their ownership of the Company immediatelgrgo sucl
sale.

VIIL. Termination, Suspension or Modification and Interpretation of the Program
The Board has sole authority over administratiosh iaterpretation of the Program and retains thitrig exercise

discretion as it sees fit, except that, the Boaall $rave no discretion to increase the numbehafes of Common Stock
in which a Participant may vest above the amoustdeed in Section Ill. The Board may terminatespgnd or modify
and if suspended, may reinstate with or without ificattion all or part of the Program at any timathwor without notice
to the Participant. The Board reserves the exatusght to determine eligibility to participate timis Program and to

interpret all applicable terms and conditions, udahg eligibility criteria.




IX. Other

This document sets forth the terms of the Prognadhi@not intended to be a contract or employmgrgement between
the Participant and AngioDynamics, its subsidiadeaffiliates. As applicable, it is understoodtthath the Participant
and AngioDynamics have the right to terminate thgiBipant's employment with the company at anyetinvith or

without cause and with or without notice, in ackiedgement of the fact that their employment refethap is “at will.”

To the extent section 409A of the Code (“SectioBAl) applies to any Performance Unit Award undes tArogram, the
Performance Unit Award shall be interpreted in aanga consistent with Section 409A. Where Sectid®d@pplies, in
the case of any payment made on termination of @npént, a termination of employment shall not bernded to have
occurred unless such termination is also a “sejoarfitom service” within the meaning of Section #408nd, for purposes
of any such provision, references to a “termingtittermination of employment,” or like terms shaflean “separation
from service.” Where Section 409A applies, in tasecof a payment made upon a Change in Contrdiaadge in Control
shall not be deemed to have occurred unless therehange in the ownership or effective contrd\mfioDynamics, or
in the ownership of a substantial portion of theeds of AngioDynamics, as defined in Section 408/Aere required by
Section 409A in the case of a specified employsaéermined under Section 409A), payments on textioin shall be

made on the first business day of the seventh nfolittwing termination.




Abaxis Inc.

Abiomed Inc.

Accuray Inc.

AlphaTec Holdings Inc.
Arthrocare Corporation
Articure, Inc.

Atrion Corporation

C.R. Bard, Inc.

Becton, Dickinson & Company
Boston Scientific Corporation
Cantel Medical Corp.

Conmed Corporation

CryolLife, Inc.

Cutera, Inc.

Cyberonics, Inc.

Cynosure, Inc.

Dexcom, Inc.

Digirad Corp

Edwards Lifesciences Corporation
Endologix, Inc.

Exactech, Inc.

Haemonetics Corporation

ICU Medical, Inc.

Insulet Corporation

Integra Lifesciences Holdings Corporation
Intricon Corporation

Intuitive Surgical, Inc.

Invacare Corporation

APPENDIX A

Lakeland Industries Inc.
Lemaitre Vascular, Inc.
Mako Surgical Corp.

Masimo Corporation

Medical Action Industries|
Merit Medical Systems, Inc.
Mine Safety Appliances Company
Natus Medical Incorporated

NuVasive, Inc.

NxStage Medical,.Inc

Resmed Inc.

Rochester Medical Corporation
RTI Surgical, Inc.
Solta Medical, Inc.

Span-America Medical Systems, Inc.

Spectranetics Corporation
St. Jude Medical, Inc.
Steris Corporation
Stryker Corporati
Symmetry Medical Inc.
Synergetics USA, Inc.
Teleflex Incorporated
Thoratec Corporation
Varian Medical Systems, Inc.
Vascdalutions, Inc.
Volcano Corporation
Wright Medical Group, Inc
Zimmer Holdings, Inc.



Exhibit 10.4.

PERFORMANCE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

This Performance Unit Award Agreement (this “Agresti), dated as of the 25th day of July, 2014 (tBean
Date”), is between AngioDynamics, Inc., a Delaweoeporation (the “Company”), and the (“Participgnin employe
of the Company or any of its affiliates or subsidia and whose name appears on the signature pagg hAll capitalize
terms not otherwise defined herein shall have teammg ascribed thereto in either the AngioDynar@i@@4 Stock ar
Incentive Award Plan, as amended (the “Plao”)n the Total Shareholder Return Performance Bwiard Program (tr
“Program”) for the period beginning July 25, 2014 and endingttte date that is the second trading day followtimg

Company’s annual earnings announcement for thelfigar ending May 31, 2017 (the “Performance FEYio

1. Grant and Acceptance of Awaréffective as of the Grant Date, the Company hegghnts to the Participan

Performance Unit Award (the “Performance Unit Awgraubject to the terms and conditions set forth is Agreemen
the Program and the Plan, with respect to [TARGETQUNT] (the “Target Amount”) shares of the Compasmigommol
stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common 3fodke grant of this Performance Unit Award shall oohfer an
right to the Participant (or any other participattt)be granted any Performance Unit Awards in tieré under tr

Program.

2. Eligibility Conditions upon Performance Unit Awda The Participant hereby acknowledges the vestirany

shares of Common Stock underlying the Performanai¢ Alvard is subject to certain eligibility, perfaance and oth
conditions set forth herein. All shares of Commaacg vested pursuant to the terms of this AgreentaetProgram ar
the Plan shall be issued to the Participant as asgoracticable (and in all events within sixty)(6@ys) after the end

the Performance Period.

3. Satisfaction of Performan@&ased Conditions Subject to the eligibility conditions describedSection 7 of th

Agreement, except as otherwise provided in Sectgiisand 8 of this Agreement, and the satisfaatiotihe performanc
conditions set forth on Appendix # this Agreement during the Performance Periodreshof Common Stock subjec
the Performance Unit Award will vest pursuant te tarms and in accordance with the conditionsas#t fn the Prograr
Except as set forth in Sections 5, 6 and 8 of Agigeement, no shares of Common Stock in settlemienested shares
Common Stock underlying the Performance Unit Awaldll be issued to the Participant prior to the efdhe

Performance Period.




4. Participar Rights in Common StockThe shares of Common Stock, if and when issueduméer, shall k

registered in the name of the Participant and exéeé in the manner as the Company may determinendthe perio
prior to the issuance of Stock (including any MegtDate according to the Vesting Schedule), thédiaant will have ni
rights of a stockholder of the Company with respiecthe Common Stock underlying the Performancet Bmiard

including no right to receive dividends or vote fmres of Common Stock underlying each PerformaimgeAward.

5. Death. In the event that the Participattmployment with the Company or its subsidiariesffiliates it
terminated due to death on or after the Grant Dateprior to the end of the Performance Period, Rerformance Ur
Award shall remain eligible to vest following the@de date of the Performance Period (subject to faatisn of the
performance conditions set forth Appendix Ato this Agreement) and the Participant shall rez@\prorated portion ¢
the Common Stock underlying the Performance Unitafdvthat would otherwise vest based on performamcehe
Vesting Date, with the pro-rata portion based an Rarticipants whole months of service with the Company durim
Performance Period prior to the date of such teatron; provided that a partial month of employmwiit be considered
whole “month of servicefor purposes of this Agreement only if the Paréeipwas employed by the Company for at |
fifteen (15) days during such month. Any portiontleé Performance Unit Award that remains unvestedhe Vestin
Date (after giving effect to such pration) shall be considered to have terminatedhen\esting Date. The Particip.
may, from time to time, name any beneficiary ordfemaries (who may be named contingently or susigesy) to whon
any benefit under this Agreement is to be paidasecof his or her death before he or she recemesmall such benef
Each such designation shall revoke all prior designs by the Participant, shall be in a form priégd by the Compan
and will be effective only when filed by the Paigi@nt in writing with the Secretary of the Compadyring the
Participant’s lifetime. In the absence of any sdebignation, benefits remaining unpaid at the €ipeint’s death shall t

paid to the Participa’s estate.

6. Retirement or Disability In the event that the Participa€mployment with the Company or its subsidiark

affiliates is terminated due to Retirement or Dibgbon or after the Grant Date, but prior to teed of the Performan
Period, the Performance Unit Award shall remaigikle to vest following the end date of the Perfante Period (subje
to satisfaction of the performance conditions eghfon_Appendix Ao this Agreement) and the Participant shall reze
prc-rated portion of the Common Stock underlying thef@?mance Unit Award that would otherwise vest lthee
performance on the Vesting Date, with the-rata portion based on the Participant’hole months of service with f
Company during the Performance Period prior to dla¢e of such termination; provided that a partiadnth o

employment




will be considered a whole “month of servidet purposes of this Agreement only if the Participwas employed by t
Company for at least fifteen (15) days during suobnth. Any portion of the Performance Unit Awardtthhemain
unvested on the Vesting Date (after giving effecsich praoation) shall be considered to have terminatechenvestin
Date.

7. Other Termination of EmploymentEligibility Conditions. If the Participans employment with the Compe

and its affiliates or subsidiaries is terminatedha Participant separates from the Company araffit&tes or subsidiarie
for any reason other than death, Retirement ortilisg the Performance Unit Award shall terminaed no shares
Common Stock shall be issued. Except as set for8ections 5, 6 and 8, eligibility to be issuedrehaf Common Stox
underlying the Performance Unit Award is conditidnen the Participard’ continuous employment with the Comp

through the last day of the Performance Period.

8. Change in Control of the Companiotwithstanding anything to the contrary in thigreement, in the event

a Change in Control (as defined in the ProgramthefCompany on or after the Grant Date, but pwothe end of tr
Performance Period and prior to the Particigarniérmination of employment for any reason, thetipant shal
immediately vest in 100% of the Target Amount oargls of Common Stock subject to the Performance Rward
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisrAgment, in the event the Particif's employment with the Compe
or any Subsidiary terminates due to one of theoremexpressly covered by Section 5 or SectiontBisfAgreement and
Change in Control of the Company occurs subseduestich a termination of employment (but during Bezformanc
Period), the praata vesting provided for in such sections shalbb&dged on the Target Amount of shares of Commock
subject to the Performance Unit Award. Any shafeS@mmmon Stock subject to the Performance Unit Alrthat becorr
vested pursuant to this Section 8 shall be issoelet Participant upon or as soon as practicaloie ifa all events withi
thirty (30) days) after the effective date of thea@ge in Control of the Company (or, if so providedthe Board ¢
Directors, immediately prior to the Change in Cohtrin the event a Change in Control of the Conypaecurs following
the last day of the Performance Period, prior &@Rharticipant termination of employment for any reason, andrgo the
date all vested shares of Common Stock underhhegPterformance Unit Award are issued pursuant thid@e2 above
any shares of Common Stock subject to the Perfacen&aimit Award that became vested pursuant to thastef thit
Agreement and the Program shall be issued to th&iPant upon or as soon as practicable (andlievants within thirt
(30) days) after the effective date of the Chamg€antrol of the Company (or, if so provided by ®empanys Board ¢

Directors, immediately prior to the Change in Cobtr




9. Consideration for StockThe shares of Common Stock underlying the Pedora Unit Award that are isst

pursuant to this Agreement and the Program wilsbeed for no cash considerati

10. Issuance of StockThe Company shall not be obligated to issue &ayes of Common Stock underlying

Performance Unit Award that become vested pursigatite terms of this Agreement and the Program (ih&@ll federa
and state laws and regulations as the Company @@y épplicable have been complied with; (ii) tharel have be:
listed or authorized for listing upon official no#i to the Nasdaq Global Select Market or have wikerbeen accord
trading privileges; and (iii) all other legal matten connection with the issuance and deliveryhef shares have be

approved by the Company’s legal department.

11. Tax Withholding. The Participant acknowledges that he or she &®aliesponsible for the payment of

taxes of any kind required by any national, statlcal law to be paid with respect to the PerfanceaUnit Award or th
shares of Common Stock to be awarded hereundelyding, without limitation, the payment of any ajggble
withholding, income, social and similar taxes otigdtions. The Participant further acknowledged tha Company (:
makes no representations or undertakings regatben¢reatment of any taelated matters in connection with any as
of this Agreement, including the grant of this Peniance Unit Award, the vesting of any shares om@won Stoc
underlying this Performance Unit Award, the isswean€ shares of Common Stock hereunder, the subseqake of an
shares of Common Stock acquired hereunder andettept of any dividends; and (2) does not commit &nunder n
obligation to structure the terms of the grant oy aspect of the Performance Unit Award to reduceliminate th
Participant’s liability for taxelated matters or achieve any particular tax teBukther, if the Participant becomes sut
to tax and/or social security contributions in mtnan one jurisdiction between the Date of Grartt Hre date of ar
relevant taxable, tax and/or social security cbation withholding event, as applicable, the Pgyéint acknowledges tt
the Company may be required to withhold or accdantax+elated matters in more than one jurisdiction. IPr@goany
relevant taxable, tax and/or social security cbotion withholding event, the Participant shall patymake adeque
arrangements satisfactory to the Company to sadiéftaxrelated matters. In this regard, the Participanh@izes th
Company, at its sole discretion, to satisfy thagattions with respect to tarelated matters by one or a combination o
following: (i) withholding from the Participarg’wages or other cash compensation paid to hinerobythe Company;
(i) withholding from the proceeds of the sale biges of Common Stock acquired hereunder, eiteugin a voluntar
sale or through a mandatory sale arranged by tmep@oy (on the Participastbehalf pursuant to this authorization)
(i) withholding in shares of Common Stock to lssued hereunder. To avoid negative accountingtierdt the Compat

will withhold or account for tax-related matters by




considering applicable minimum statutory withholglmmounts or other applicable withholding rateshd obligation fc
taxrelated matters is satisfied by withholding in gsaof Common Stock, for tax purposes, the Pariitipall be deeme
to have been issued the full number of shares ofif6on Stock subject to the vested portion of thifdPemance Un
Award, notwithstanding that a number of the shafe€ommon Stock is held back solely for the purpoSeaying th
tax-related matters due as a result of any asgeatedParticipans participation in the Program. Finally, the Paptoi
shall pay to the Company any amount of tabated matters that the Company may be requiredttdiold or account fc
as a result of Participastparticipation in the Program that cannot be Badidoy the means described in this Sectior
The Company may refuse to issue or deliver shar€ommon Stock or the proceeds of the sale of shaf€Commo
Stock to the Participant if the Participant fadscomply with Participant’s obligation in connectiavith any taxrelatec

matters.

12. Compliance with Section 409Arhis Agreement is intended to comply with theuiegments of Section 409

Accordingly, all provisions herein shall be constiuand interpreted to comply with Section 409A.sTAgreement mg
be amended at any time, without the consent of @anyy, to avoid the application of Section 409Aanparticula
circumstance or that is necessary or desirablatisfg any of the requirements under Section 4094 the Company sh.
not be under any obligation to make any such amentinNothing in the Agreement shall provide a b&sisany perso
to take action against the Company or any of itsssliaries or affiliate based on matters coveredSegtion 409/
including the tax treatment of any amount paid erfétrmance Unit Award granted under this Agreemand neither tr
Company nor any of its subsidiaries or affiliatbalsunder any circumstances have any liabilitaty participant or h
or her estate or any other party for any taxesalties or interest due on amounts paid or payablkgeu the thi
Agreement, including taxes, penalties or interegbdsed under Section 409A. Notwithstanding any ipion to the
contrary in this Agreement, if shares of Commoncktor other amounts become issuable or distribataipider thi
Agreement by reason of the Participant’s Separdtmm Service and the Participant is a “specifiatpbyee,”within the
meaning of Section 409A, at the time of such Semardrom Service, the shares of Common Stock siatllbe issued
distributed to the Participant prior to the earlér(i) the first day of the seventh (7th) monthldwing the date of tr
Participant’s Separation from Service or (ii) tregedof the Participarg’death, if such delayed commencement is othe
required in order to avoid a prohibited distribatiender Section 409A(a)(2). Upon the expiratiothef applicable Sectic
409A(a)(2) deferral period, all shares of CommoacEtunderlying the Performance Unit Award issuedspant to thi
Agreement or other amounts deferred pursuant ® Seiction 12 shall be issued or distributed inmaplisum to th

Participant. For purposes of this Agreement, “Sapam from Service”




means the Participast’ separation from service as determined in accoedawith Section 409A and the applice

standards of the Treasury Regulations issued thdezu

13. Recapitalization In the event there is any change in the Comma@gmmon Stock through the declaratio

stock dividends or through recapitalization resgjtin stock splitips or through merger, consolidation, exchangdaifes
of Common Stock, or otherwise, the number and @éaskares of Common Stock subject to this PerfogadJnit Awart
shall be equitably adjusted by the Company, in rii@nner determined in its sole discretion, to préwditution ol

enlargement of rights.

14. Investment Intent The Participant acknowledges that the acquisibbshares of Common Stock to be iss

hereunder is for investment purposes without a teedistribution thereof.

15. Limits on Transferability; Restrictions on SésirLegend on CertificateUntil the eligibility conditions of th

Performance Unit Award have been satisfied andeshar Common Stock have been issued in accordaiticghg term
of this Agreement or by action of the Companoard of Directors, this Performance Unit Awagdot transferable a
shall not be sold, transferred, assigned, pledgédted, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of aruerbered by tr
Participant. Transfers of shares of Common StockhkyParticipant are subject to the Comparipsider Trading Polic
and applicable securities laws. Shares of Commook3ssued to the Participant in certificate formtathe Participang
book entry account upon satisfaction of the vestind other conditions of this Performance Unit Advaray be restricte
from transfer or sale by the Company and evidehgestop-transfer instructions upon the Particimbtok entry accou
or restricted legend(s) affixed to certificatesttie form as the Company or its counsel may requitle respect to ar

applicable restrictions on sale or transfer.

16. Award Subject to the Plan and the Prograrhe Performance Unit Award made pursuant toAlgieement i

made subject to the Plan and the Program. The t@nehprovisions of the Plan and the Program, as ey be amend
from time to time are hereby incorporated hereirrddfgrence. In the event of a conflict between tamyn or provisio
contained in this Agreement and a term or provisibthe Plan or the Program, the applicable temtsanditions of th
Plan or Program will govern and prevail. However,amendment of the Plan or the Program after tie loereof ma
adversely alter or impair the issuance of the Com@®tmck underlying the Performance Unit Award tonieede pursua

to this Agreement.

17. No Rights to Continued EmploymeniThis Agreement shall not confer upon the Parictpany right t

continuation of employment with the Company, itesdiaries or affiliates, nor shall this Agreement




interfere in any way with the Company’s right tondnate the Participard’employment at any time with or without cau

18. Legal Notices Any legal notice necessary under this Agreembkall e addressed to the Company in ca
its General Counsel at the principal executiveceffiof the Company and to the Participant at tleesd appearing in t
personnel records of the Company for such Partitipato either party at such other address asrejharty may designe

in writing to the other. Any such notice shall ledhed effective upon receipt thereof by the addeess

19. Governing Law The interpretation, performance and enforcemétitis Agreement shall be governed by

laws of the State of New York (without regard te ttonflict of laws principles thereof) and appliafederal laws. F
purposes of litigating any dispute that arisesatliyeor indirectly from the relationship of the pias evidenced by tt
Agreement, the parties hereby submit and consetitet@xclusive jurisdiction of the State of New K@nd agree th
such litigation shall be conducted only in the &w@itNew York, or the federal courts for the Unitgtates for the Northe

District of New York, and no other courts, wherestRerformance Unit Award is made and/or to bequaréd.

20. Headings The headings contained in this Agreement aredarenience only and shall not affect the mee

or interpretation of this Agreement.

21. Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in any numbepohierparts, each of which shall be dee

to be an original and all of which together shalldeemed to be one and the same instrument.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

This Agreement is being signed as of the Grant Date

AngioDynamics, Inc.

By:

Name:

Title:
Participant

By:

Name:




APPENDIX A

Company Performance Lev

The Performance Share Units will pay out in shafégSommon Stock in a range of 0% to 200% of the Inemnof

Performance Share Units as follows:

TSR Performance
Percentile Rank

Performance Share Units
as a Percent of Target

75th Percentile or above 200%
50th Percentile 100%
25th Percentile 50%

Below 25th Percentile 0%

The Peer Group (as defined in the Program) witpeessto this Agreement is set forth bel

Abaxis Inc.

Abiomed Inc.

Accuray Inc.

AlphaTec Holdings Inc.
Arthrocare Corporation
Articure, Inc.

Atrion Corporation

C.R. Bard, Inc.

Becton, Dickinson & Company
Boston Scientific Corporation
Cantel Medical Corp.

Conmed Corporation

Cryolife, Inc.

Cutera, Inc.

Cyberonics, Inc.

Cynosure, Inc.

Dexcom, Inc.

Digirad Corp

Edwards Lifesciences Corporation
Endologix, Inc.

Exactech, Inc.

Haemonetics Corporation

ICU Medical, Inc.

Insulet Corporation

Integra Lifesciences Holdings Corporation
Intricon Corporation

Intuitive Surgical, Inc.

Invacare Corporation

Lakeland Industries Inc.
Lemaitre Vascular, Inc.
Mako Surgical Corp.
Masimo Corporation
Medical Action Industries|
Merit Medical Systems, Inc.
Mine Safety Appliances Company
Natus Medical Incorporated
NuVasive, Inc.
NxStage Medical,.Inc
Resmed Inc.
Rochester Medical Corporation
RTI Surgical, Inc.
Solta Medical, Inc.
Span-America Medical Systems, Inc.
Spectranetics Corporation
St. Jude Medical, Inc.
Steris Corporation
Stryker Corporati
Symmetry Medical Inc.
Synergetics USA, Inc.
Teleflex Incorporated
Thoratec Corporation
Varian Medical Systems, Inc.
Vascdalutions, Inc.
Volcano Corporation
Wright Medical Group, Inc
Zimmer Holdings, Inc.



Exhibit 22

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Fora8 $No. 333-190642) and on Form S-8 (No 333-
120057, No. 333-138456, No. 333-140627, No. 333561 No. 333-162844, No. 333-170619 and No. 33349pof AngioDynamics, Inc. of
our report dated August 14, 2014 relating to tharicial statements, financial statement schedudteneffectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this Form-KO

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Albany, New York
August 14, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Joseph M. DeVivo, certify that:

1.

2.

@)

(b)

(©
(d)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKngioDynamics, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact orténgtate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanogler which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsosimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisglasure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))istednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaditial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeadbepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and presenthi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and
Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportititgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,

@)
(b)

to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committethe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisagtifole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 14, 2014

/'S [ JoserPH M. D EVIVO

Joseph M. DeVivo, President,
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Mark T. Frost, certify that:

1.

2.

@)

(b)

(©
(d)

5.
@)
(b)

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKdngioDynamics, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact orténgtate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanogler which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsosimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisglasure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))istednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaditial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeadbepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and presenthi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and
Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportititgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisagtifole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 14, 2014

/'S MARK T. FROST

Mark T. Frost, Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANTOTITLE 18,
UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSWRATO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joseph M. DeVivo, President, Chief Executivei€aff and Director of ANGIODYNAMICS, Inc. (the “Corapy”), certify, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18.C. Section 1350, that, to the best of my knogéed

1. the annual report on Form 10-K of the Compamytie fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 (the “Repdttlly complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

2. the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: August 14, 2014
/sl Joseph M. DeVivo

Joseph M. DeVivo, President,
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTO TITLE 18,
UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSWRATO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark T. Frost, Executive Vice President, Chi@idncial Officer of ANGIODYNAMICS, Inc. (the “Compg”), certify, pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Sacti850, that, to the best of my knowledge:

1. the annual report on Form 10-K of the Compamytie fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 (the “Repdttlly complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

2. the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: August 14, 2014

/sl Mark T. Frost
Mark T. Frost, Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer




